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MThe measure of an artist's originality, put in
the simplest terms, is the extent to which his
gelective emphasis deviates from the conventional
norm and establishes new standards of relevance,
A1l great innovations which inaugurate a new erz,
movement or school, consist in sudden shifts of
previously neglected aspect of experience, some
blacked—out range of the existential spectrum.
The decisive turning points in the history of
every art form are discoveries which show the
characteristic features already discussed: they
uncover what has always been there; they are
'revolutionary?! that is destructive and constructive,
they compel us to revalue our values and impose a
new set of rules on the eternal game",

Arthur Koestler The Act of Creztion
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ABSTRACT

More information on Le Corbusier's early career as Charles-Edouard
Jeanneret is gradually coming to light but little is yet known of him
durin%Lis period of transition from being a minor architect in La Chaux-
de-Fonds to a major one of great theoretical and practical influence in
Paris. As one might expect he did not make this transition without
considerable personal angulsh and i1t was only because of the help afforded
him by his friends and the influence of his assoclates and mentors
that it was made at all. These relationships and influences form the
subject of this study which throws light on various unexpected sides of
Le Corbusier'!s development. The research is primarily based on his records
of the period, his personal documents including letters he sent to
colleagues, relations and friends; interviews by the writer with his
brother and contemporaries still living in Switzerland and Paris;
together with published material on his life and work, including his
own.

As Le Corbusier did not become generally known by this name until
1925 his given name of Charles-Edouard Jeanneret 1s used throughout
this thesis.

The thesis has been divided ia.o two parts; the firgt covers the
formative years of his 1life in La Chaux-de-Fonds from I900 until I9I7
when he left to live and work in Paris. The roots of many of his later
convictions, activities and abilities 1lie in this period and the thesis
traces the interconnecting links between, and the development of, his four
principsal activities namely architecture, painting, writing and business.

The second part pf the thesis covers Le Corbusier's first eight
years in Paris (I9I7-I1925) and examines the process by which he became,
by the end of this period, extablished as one of the major ianovators

of the 'Modern Movement'.



In the conclusion the writer draws together the major threads from
the thesis to demonstrate how the transition from Charles-Edouard Jeanneret
to Le Corbusier was achieved.

The events and activities covered by this study have been placed within
the context of the artistic, economic and soclal life of the period in so

far as Le Corbusier's development was affected.



PREFACE

The purpose of this study is to examine and document four significant
aspects of the educational, artistic and professional development of
Charles~Edouard Jeanneret, known later as Le Corbusier, between the
years 1900 and I925.

The choice of dates marks the limits of Jeanneret's formative years.
In I900 at the age of fourteen he left school to join an apprentice
engravers courset by I925 he had achieved international recognition
as one of the leading innovators of the Modern Movement and was widely
known by his nom—-de-plume of Le Corbusier. I925 signifies the water-
shed between his formative period, the subject of this study, and his
main career.

The sources for this historical study are existing published work
and new information drawn from original research.

The published work includes Le Corbusier's autobiographical accounts

of which the series entitled Qeuvres Complete is the most important.

(The first volume on the period I9II to 1929, appeared in 1929). Few
architects have been such good publicists about their own work and
theories as Le Corbusier, nor have their bulildings been analysed and
discussed to the extent that his have been. The constant repetition
of the same information about him in the great volume of published
material has given an appearance of truth to the image of the lonely,
gelf-taught and self-reliant pioneer that Le Corbusier constructed for
himgelf at the start of his career,

In the 1929 Qeuvreg Compléte account Le Corbusier credits Charles
L'Eplattenier, his first teacher, for introducing him to the world of
art. Le Corbusier stated that when the young Jeanneret was undertaking
the engravers course at the La Chaux-de~-Fonds Art School, his teacher's

enthusiasm and the small collection of books he kept in the classroom,



amongst which was Owen Jones Grammar of Ornsment, excited his interest

in design. In Le Corbusier's account, the period of L'Eplattenier's
influence is limitsd to I907; thereafter Le Corbusier implies he was
on his own,

When he reached the age of seventeen and a half years old, Le
Corbusier sald he received his first architectural project for a house.
The client could have been his teacher or an official from the art
school, his accounts conflict on this point. No mention is made of the
process whereby Jeanneret changed from a watch engraver to architect and
no hint is provided of how he acquired the basic knowledge to under—
take this taske. But there is a clear statement that the house was
bullt without the restrictions of architectural routine, for by this
time Jeanneret had apparently already developed a 'terror of the teacﬁing
of the architectural schools'.

On the proceeds from the house project Jeanneret undertook the first
of hig many travels around Europe, with the personal proviso to avoid
all architectural schoolse. He supported himself with practical work and
eventually finished in Paris where he was introduced by the artist Eugerme
Grasset to Auguste Perret. No mention is made in this account of working
for the Perret brothers but Le Corbusier does acknowledge the pioneer
work of Perret and says that he was introduced by him to the use of
reinforced concrete in architecture. Le Corbusier also referred to
the work of Tony Garnier, indicating that at this stage he regarded
it as the example of a new era in architecture, while acknowledging that
it was also the product of centuries of architectural evolution.

Jeanneret's friend William Ritter is described as an older man
willing to listen and support the doubts and confidences of an uncertain
young man through a troubled period in his 1life. Le Corbusier writes

of Jeanneret's abandonment of all architectural work at the start



of the First World War but provides little evidence of what this work
consisted of. In Oeuvreg Complete IQI2-1929 very few schemes from this
period are illustrated and apart from the house designed when he was
seventeen and a half, apparently only one other, the Schwob house of
I9I6 11lustrated earlier in Vers Une Architecture, was ever built.
After the war his involvement in business and industry are
mentioned but again no specific information is provided. Of the
post war architectural practice in Paris, partnership with Pierre
Jeanneret is recorded as taking place in I922 the purpose of which
was not to 'seek for lucrative commissiong! but for true architectural
research, There is little proof that much was offered in the way of
live commissions to tempt them from their path, for only four of the
projects illustrated in the book from this period ever reached the
construction stage. First, the house at Vaucresson followed by houges

for Ozenfant, La Roche and Albert Jeanneret and finally the favilion

for L'Esprit Nouveau at the I925 Paris Exhibition d'Art Decoratif.
No other evidence igs offered of how Jeanneret made a living

during these years and it is umlikely that the journal L'Egprit Nouveau

could have provided him with sufficient income, though there is no
information of his earnings from the magazine.

Le Corbusier says that L'Esprit Nouveau was responsiblé for

the introduction of Modern Architecture to the public, by publicising
a wide range of contemporary activitles and providing a forum for
discussion of innovatory ideas, many of which had originated in the
pre—war work of architects like Tessenow, Berlage, Van-de-Velde and
Behrens and whose development had been accelerated by the advent of the
ware.

The article ends with a further attack on the architectural schools
and their professors:-

"How often have I had it drummed into me that it is impossible



to achieve a career otherwise than through the teaching of

of the schools, and that it 1s equally impossible to practice
in my profession without having acquired the celebrated diploma
which so pompously crowns the close of an architect's studies
and sometimes, unfortunately, his creative activity as well."

Throughout his writings Le Corbusier showed a consistent contempt for
academic learning and formal education, and these remarks have led
people to believe, as they were probably intended to do, that his
abilities had been acquired quite independently of such systems of
training,

Little further is added to this document by Le Corbusier's
later autoblographical accounts, of which those in Le Modulor,
written at the age of forty-nine, and My Work, at the age of seventy-
one, are the most informative. They were mostly written many years
after the events and have all the certainty and assurance of hindsight.
They show no real change in Le Corbusier's attitude to this period
of his 1life and beyond these sparse comments he credits no one else's
inspiration or theories.

The other principal form givers of the early twentieth century
were no legss gullty of creating myths about their own development

period, as Jacques Paul in his I970 Doctorate thesis Modern Architecture

and the Classical Tradition points out :-

"Complementary to this formal academic process one finds that
traditions were also perpetuated and handed down within
professional families, from father to son. Thus specific Classical
themes were transmitted through the generations of such families

as the Gropius family in Berlin, the Stadler family in Zurich and
the Thiersch family in Munich, enabling their members in the
twentieth century to draw on a considerable wealth of accumulated
experience. Architectural theory transmitted both through the family
connection and through the Hochschulen provided the modern



Tform-givers! with the strands of their theories of architecture.
In dealing with this thesis, that education has had an important
influence on the Moderns, one must be aware of their frequently
repeated statements rejecting all academic influence. The present-
day view is the Romantic one that Modern architecturalhtheory
was discovered by men thinking about their problems ab initio,
and not through the survival of a tradition. Le Corbusier’s
hostility to 'the academies! has done much to win tacit
acceptance for this view and, significantly, Walter Gropius
has written :
"I have found out that neither Wright, Mies, Corbu nor
myself made exams. I personally ran away from the Technische
Hoschule in Charlottenburg and went straight into practicen.
In order to substantiate the main thesis, as stated above, it is

necegsary to challenge the anti-academlc implications of this
remark, to show that Le Corbusier and Gropius were not the
autodidacts they professed to be, but that on the contrary they

were extremely well educated in the true sense of the word".

The denial of traditional values made by Gropius, Mies van der Rohe and

Le Corbusier in their autobiographical writings is contradicted by
detailed knowledge of architectural tradition that is demonstrated in
their discugsions of architecture and in their work.

The first occasion when Le Corbusier's own account of his early
career was adopted by others was in I93I in the exhibition of modern
architecture at the Museum of Modern Art in New York. The director
Alfred Barr had asked Philip Johnson, together with Henry-Russel
Hitchcock to organise the exhibition. Johngon, a recent graduate in
classics and philosophy from Harvard, had read an article on modern
architecture by Hitchcock and become interested in the subject.

In the exhibition for Museum of Modern Art, they covered a wide
range of contemporary architecture both in the United States and in
Europe; but the work of Le Corbusier, Oud, Gropius, Mies van der Rohe

and Wright provided the most prominent exhibits.



The two organisers also prepared a book entitled The International

Style: Architecture since 1922, which was published in I932. Of Le
Corbusier, they said:

", .. the man who first made the world aware that a new style was
being born was Le Corbusier. As late as I916, well after his
technical and sociological theorizing had begun, his conceptions
of design were still strongly marked by classical symmetry of
his master Perret. His plans, however, were more open than those
of Wright. In his housing projects of the next few years he passed
rapidly beyond his master Perret and beyond Behrens and Loos,
with whom he had also come on contact. His Citr&han house model
of I921 was the thorough expression of a conception of architecture
as radical technically as Gropius! factory and as novel aesthetlcally
as Oud's village. The enormous window area and the terraces made
possible by the use of ferroconcrete, together with the asymmetry
of the composition, undoubtedly produced a design more thoroughly
infused with a new spirit, more completely freed from the
conventions of the past than any thus far projected. The influence
of Le Corbusier was the greater, the appearance of a new style
the more remarked, because of the vehement propaganda which he
contributed to the magazin®d L'Egprit Nouveau, I920-I925. Since then,
nmoreover, he has written a series of books effectively propagandizing
his technical and aesthetic theories. In this way his name has
become almost synonymous with the new architecture and. it had
been praised or condemned very largely in his person. But he was
not, as we have seen, the only innovator nor was the style as it
came generally into being after I922 peculiarly his. He crystallized;
he dramatized; but he was not alone in creating™”.

Although the importance of the role of other architects in establishing
an 'International Style' was recognised, they clearly saw Le Corbusier
as the principle instigator of a modern architectural movement, and in
doing so they largely accepted his own evaluation of his career, and in
particular the freedom he claimed from past conventions.

Over the next thirty years no further factual evidence was
produced to throw doubt on Le Corbusier's verslon of his early origins,

until Reyner Banham's appraisal of his work in Theory and Design in the

10



First Machine Age published in I960. The earlier accounts of the
development of the Modern Movement by Pevsner in I936 Pioneers of
the Modern Movement and Richards in I940 Modern Architecture had not

questioned Le Corbusler's facts and the biographical studies by
Maurice Gauthier and Peter Blake were similarly accepting of Le
Corbusier's own account of this period in his life.

Banham demonstrated for the first time that a number of Le
Corbusier's 1deas were drawn from early twentieth century theories on
art; in particular he drew attention to the influence of the Futurists
on both his writing and architecture. The similarity of the form of
some pre-war Paris studios and workshops to the early Citrohan
houses is also ldentified by Banham as evidence of Le Corbusier's
ability to recognise and exploit ideas from both the functional and
formal tradition in architecture.

The effect of Banham's obgervations was to cast doubt on Le
Corbusler'!s own accounts of his career. Jacques Paul in his research
continued the line of investigation set up by Banham and established
that there existed in Germany a body of architectural theory that
could be demonstrated to underly the education of Jeanneret and his
contemporaries making it plain that the accounts of their early
development as free from all academic traditions put dut by Gropius,
Mies van der Rohe and Le Corbusier was indeed a myth.

A study in I963 by Chavanne and Laville on Jeanneret's early houses
in La Chaux-de-Fonds had revealed that the young engraving apprentice
had recelved considerable professional help from an experienced local

architect of some repute.

In I968 Stefan Von Moos produced a critical appraisal of Le Corbusier's

wozk entitled Le Corbusier, Flemente Einer Synthese , following on
Banham's theme and incorporailing some new facts.

When'La Fondation Le Corbusier! opened in Paris in the late I960's

11



hig personal archives graduallyx became available to researchers. Work
on an exhibition entitled 'Le Corbusier et Pessac I914-I928'" was
started by Brian Taylor aend presented in 1972, revealing that Jeanneret
had been involved for some years in the development of industrial
bullding systems and added an important new dimension to his early
work.

A study of these accounts indicates that there are still
considerable gaps in our knowledge of the facts relating to Le
Corbusier's early years. The present investigation has been directed
towards discovering the facts to f111 these gaps. The Jeanneret
family's personal papers have only recently been made available for
research and are the subject of a study by Alan Brookes, as yet
unpublished.

None of these accounts apart from the last two have drawn on
the material from'BaFondation Le Corbusier'. In making use of these
documents which include Jeanneret's drawings, his practice files and
his personal correspondance it must be born in mind that Jeanneret's
writing. was sometimes difficult and unorthodox perhaps because of his
Swiss origin and because.he wasg not after all, an educated man. I have
quoted from it extensively in translation, though I believe that
the professional translator has succeeded in capturing Jeanneret's
1diosyneratic style.

Works from his personal library, comprising boocks, periodicals
and newspaper cuttings have also been consulted. References to these
sources 1s given in Endnotes to the thesls and the more significant
documents are reproduced in the appendices. I was also able to have
extensive conversations with Albert Jeanneret and some of Jeanneret's
assoclates from his formative years, among them Leon Perrin the

sculptor and Max DuBols, engineer and business man.



The four main problems of Jeanneret's development to which I eddress
myself in this thesis are the nature of his architectural education, his
financial means during the period in question, his rolé in the production
of the journal L'Esprit Nouveau and lastly how, under the name of Le Corbusier
he had succeeded by 1925 in establishing an international reputation for
himgelf ag a theorist and practioner in architecture.

I refer to Le Corbusier throughout the period of this study as
Charles+Edouard Jeanneret, his family name and the one he was known by to
his friends and associates of the time. I consider that his total adoption
of the pseudonym Le Corbusier symbolised in his mind a radical change in
attitude to his own life and ambitionsg, enabling him to later suppress
the trials and tribulations of the young and unsuccessful architect known
as Jeanneret. By 1925 the followers of L'Esprit Nouveau had, from his
writing, come to expect a somewhat larger than life architect. The succesg of

the LEsprit Nouveau Pavilion in the I925 'Artgs Decoratif! Exhibition

accelerated Jeanneret's realisation of the character he had unwittingly
prepared for himself and he took the opportunity to adopt his alternative
role completely.

This study is historical: it gets out to re-evaluate the evidence
about Jeanneret'!'s life, sifting established facts from the silt of half
truths and myth that has been deposited in the minds of architects and
students as a result of the image tha Le Corbusier had continued to
create for himgelf through his writings.

In order not to stray from this strictly biographical approach I
have refrained from involvement with aegthetic interpretation of Jeanneret's
architecture, confining myself to establishing what the evidence is about
his early career. Others will no doubt deal with any of the problems of

re-interpretation that are necessitated by the results of the study.
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The thesis 1s divided into two parts; Part One contains four chapters,
each dealing with an aspect of Jeanneret's life when he was based in his
home town of La Chaux-de-Fonds in Switzerland. This part is organised
chronologically, begining with his early teenage years as an apprentice
and ending with his departure in I9I7, at the age of thirty, to Paris.
Part Two i1s set in Paris and covers the last year of World War One and
the difficult post-war years up to I925 the end of the period of this
study. It is ordered thematically in three chapters, each dealing with a
major aspect of Jeanneret's complex activities during this time, namely
his work as a peinter, entrepreneur and architect.

Both Part One and Part Two are followed by brief summaries.

In the conclusion I draw together the major threads from the thesis

in order to answer the four questions stated in the preface.
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PART ONE

LA CBAUX-DE-FONDS:
1900 - 1917
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CHAPTER 1 Background

Jeanneret was fascinated with the genealogy of his family;
during his 1ife he collected several books on the history of the people

of the Jura and Neuchfitel districtsl

but he was never to return for any
length of time to his homeland and preferred to refer to the French side
of his heritage. In 1930, the year of his marriage, he became a
naturalised Frenchman,

La Chaux-de-Fonds, the town where Charles Edouard Jeanneret was
born is situated in the valley of the river Le Doubs in the Jura Mountains
above Neuchftel It lies on one of the
main routes between Switzerland and France, a major factor in its choice as
shelter in the past for political refugees fleeing from France,

During the nineteenth century, the watch and clock industry
thrived and La Chaux~de-Fonds and the neighbouring town of Le Locle
expanded, From 1850 to 1900 the population of La Chaux~de-Fonds tripled
from 10,000 to 30,000 inhabitants., Part of the increase ;ame from the
last major influx of refugees in 1850, made up of Russian and French Jews,
They were later given permission to settle permanently in Switzerland,
due to an abatement in a previously strong Swiss anti-Jewish movement,
Even so, they were to be regarded as second-class citizens for a number
of years and only gained equal legal and religious rights after pressure
from the French over a trade agreement in 1864.2

Though isolated in the winter by snow and ice, the railway kept
-the town in contact with the rest of Europe throughout the year and the
salesmen of the clocks and watches travelled the world establishing
contacts, The town increased in prosperity and size until 1911, when a
world-wide slump in the industry brought this to a stop.3

Resentment towards the Jewish immigrants has never been totally

dispersed in La Chauwx—de~Fonds, Their success and skill in watch and

17



clock-making, (by the end of the nineteenth century they were among the
town's major manufacturers), did not endear them to the population at
large, who preferred, as did Jeza.nnere’c,/+ to preserve the image of watch~
making as a hand craft process, a nice side-~line to mountain farming,
rather than the industrial process it had become, The largely French/
Swiss Protestant community, though they were not averse to making money
or using modern techniques to expand their own businesses, acknowledged
status in the more academic professions of lawyer, teacher, councillor,
etc,, rather than in industry.

The open acceptance and persuance by the Jews of business and
industry as a means to make money together with interests in cultural
pleasures outside of mountain walks and woodcarving created tensions and
a certain amount of liveliness in the society and politics in La Chaux-de-
Fonds, in the period before the first world war, ILiterary societies,
concerts, music groups,and art discussions thrived together with the long-

established Alpine club.’

Jeanneret's mother was involved through
her music teaching in this cultural life, The new Fine Arts course

at the La Chaux-de-ronds Art School,6 founded by Jeanneret's mentor and
teacher L'Eplattenier, provided a wider dimension to the existing
technically based art education. Skiing had one of its earliest starts
in Switzerland on the mountain slopes above the town.7

When Jeanneret's TVille Conter_vmoraine'8 was criticised in 1922

by M. Léandre Vaillat, a member of the Commission technique de la

i Aok
Renalssance des Gités94br being a German inspired design, a very damning

accusation at the time, France was undergoing a romantic period in

her architectural ideas and town planning theories; the winding lane
recelved approval, the straight road denigration, because of the straight
lines association with classical thought, which in the minds of the French
was a predominately German preference.lo Jeanneret's work had, in fact,

been strongly influenced by classical principles learnt through the ideas

of people whose work he admired and had studied in Germany before the ] 8



advent of the uar.ll But it was something that he would not acknowledge
at that time or evmn later,

The criticism arose from Jeanneret's use in his city project of
a predominately rectangular layout. Jeanneret,very displeased,said in
his reply:

"I came from the mountains of Neuchftel in Switzerland.

My father was called Jeanneret, my mother Perret, My

family had its cradle in the south of France, it was chased
out by the Albigeois crusade, In these free lands

where these refugees enjoyed the rights of 'Free Herbergeants'
there followed the people prescribed by the Edict of Nantes,
then the political refugees of Louis XV and of Louis XVI then
those of the Commune,

In those high valleys situated at 1000 metres of altitude
which belonged to the Dukes of Nemours and of Longueville

(the canton of Neuchftel joined the Swiss confederation in
1848) these colonists cleared the land in summer and in
winter, starting from the XVIIth century they constructed the
most marvellous clock movements and automatic figures of
world renown, These farms they had made and of which I had
found the prototype in Armagnac represent majestic examples

of folk lore; of great architecture, In those interiors,

in the 19th century, one read Rabelais, Rousseau and Voltaire,
In the Neuchftel mountains we have always been revolutionaries
that is to say passionate for individual independence,

For a hundred years one persisted for independence, For

a hundred years one persisted in trying to find "perpetual
motion", They were idealists, these people were not thick skinned,
They were quite a race, Today the railway has started to mix
the blood , but there it is quite specially the world centre
for horology". 12
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CHAPTER 2 The Jeanneret Family

- The two Jeannerets, Charles~Edouard Jeanneret and his elder
brother Albert appear to have had a happy childhood.1 The Jeanneret
family were well established in the Neuchatel area® and took an active
part in the life of the town, +they were closely knit and affectionate.
Their father, Edouard Jeanneret-Perret was by profession an enameller of
watchcases, His letter heading reading read:

"E, Jeanneret—-Perret Successeurde E, Jeanneret-Rauss.

Fabrication de Cadrans d'Emailt ; 3

Chronographes en tous geires soignés et ordinaires',
He was also a very active member of the Alpine Clu.b.4 The grandfather,

Edouard Jeanneret-Rauss, married Lise Rauss from Le Locle,5

and was a
descendant from the Jeanneret-Gris family thoqght to have originated in
the south of France and had been one of the leaders of the revolution to
join the Swiss Confederation in 1848, Another branch of the family came
from Prussia, that included Pierre Jeanneret, Le Corbusier's later
partner,

Albert and Charles-Edouard's mother, Marie Charlotte-Amélie
Perret, came from a Neuchitel family, which, like the Jeannerets included

7 Madame Jeanneret

doctors, lawyers,and teachers amongst their number,
was a talented musician and gave piano and singing classes; through her
music teaching she came into contact with a large number of influential
families of ILa Chaux~de-Fonds, some of whom were later to become clients
of Charles-Edouard's architectural practice.8 The extra money she
earned from her classes must have contributed to the cost of Albert's °
and Charles~Edouard!s education as they were not a wealthy family and
had only moderate means,
.The decision of the two sons not to follow in their father's

profession was a disappointment to him, According to Albert, their

father was very bourgeois in his outlook on life and believed in one

Job and one way of 1ife. When his sons both abandoned regular work,

20
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he washed his hands of ‘bhem,9 and apparently provided no further
financial support.

Albert Jeanneref was born in 1886, just over a year before his
brother, Charles-Edouard, and was a musicially gifted child, His mother
taught him the violin and by the time he was te; years old, they were
giving public recitals together, In 1901 at the age of fourteen and a

half, he was sent to the K8nigliche Hochschule fur Milsik in Berlin to

study the violin, then returned in 1907 to complete his studies at the
Geneva Conservatoire, It was to take him two years instead of the usual
one to obtain the necessary teaching certificate, due, possibly to over~
practicing at too early an age; he had found great difficulty in coping
with the physical requirements necessary in sustaining a solo violin
performance and found the time in Geneva very depressing, In 1909,

still in Geneva, he attended a series of lectures given by Jacques Dalcroze,
on a new eurythmical approach to the study and appreciation of music,

The first talk was well attended, but for the second, the only member

10 Dalcrozels ideas did not have

of the audience was Albert Jeanneret,

the approval of the professors at the academy and Dalcroze could see no

future for himself in Geneva, At the time he had already accepted an

offer from a new colony at Hellerau to start a school of music and dance

based on his methods, Hellerau, founded for the purpose of promoting

art and music, is situated near Dresden and the architect Heinrich Tessenow

had been engaged to plan the layout and main buildings, one of which would

be a building specially designed to accommodate the Dalcroze Academy;ll
Albert was fascinated with this new approach to music and

after the second meeting with Dalcroze decided to join him at Héllerau

and study eurythmics., He qualified as a teacher there and joined the

company in several successful European tours1? before 1914 when with the

imminence of war, he and other foreigners were compelled to leave Germany.

Dalcroze returned to Geneva where his system of music teaching was at

last recoghised and he was able to restart his academy there, Albert 2_]



returnéd to La Chaux~de-~Fonds to start his own school of eurythmics
in La Chaux-de~Fonds. >

As a child, the younger brother, Charles-Edouard, was not
academically or musically telented but did show artistic ability.l4
In the family it had alweys been expected that he would be the son to
follow in the steps of his falher because of Albert's talent with the
violin, and he spent the early part of his life, until joining the art
school, in the shadou of his brother's musical achievements, When he
left school at thirteen and a half to join the apprentice engravers
course at the local art school L'Eplattenier, his design course tutor,
.offered him the opportunity to match Albertt's success., Charles--Edouard
would have understood from his brother's efforts the necessity for
self-reliance and the need to practice to attain high standards ot work,
Self-discipline, independence, together with & strong moral and religious
att{itude, which had been important factors in the two sons? upbringing,15
enabled Charles-Edouard with his own considerable natural ability to take
full advantage of L'Enlattenierts enlightened teaching,

Charles~Edouard, together with friend816

made at the art school
and under the guidance of L'Eplattenier, were later to form an elite
group of young artists in La Chaux-de-Fonds in the period before the
first world war, They had travelled and had achieved by then a limited
amount of work and were somewhat idolized by the next generation, though

17

at the same time they were considered arrogant and snobbish, The

group were free with their criticisms of the town and its inhabitants,l8
and they made themselves generally unpopular but their contact with ideas
outside La Chaux-de~Fonds brought excitement in the otherwise bourgeoise
town.19
In 1917 when Charles Edouard was twenty-nine he abruptly and,
as it turned out, finally left the town to settle in Paris, He left

behind a vacuum in the lives of his close associates, The group could

not sustafn the previous air of superiority or intensity of interest in 2;2



activities without Jeanneret's abilities and driving force, Charles-

Edouard's energy, integrity of purpose, and head-on clashes with authority

20

were gorely missed, This apparent desertion and the subsequent complete

lack of communication with his friends in the group caused considerable
pain and hurt, so much so that friendship turned to resentment end gave
rise to harsh criticism of his later internationally known work., This
intense feeling is clearly ﬁortrayed in the following letter from
Charles Humbert, one of the group and a former close friend of Charles-
Edouard,

"The real evil, you must admit, is that you have changed
and that you include in this same disfavour everything

- which could remind you of La Chaux-de-Fonds, You have
even changed so much that you do not realise how strange
your way of writing to me is, I admit that it could be
your irresponsibility and it is that which hurts me the
most, It is all very well to despise sentimentality as
the base of art but you must not fall lower and lower down
the hill until you deny all sentiment, As for the irony
which you throw out, there is no cause for it and if I epoke
badly of your book it is because it was contrary to my
taste; in this I can differ from you and still be a
friend ,.s¢s. and I shall not be the only one: you know the
opinions of W, Ritter, P, Godet, Marnon, etc, on purism,
In any case you are greatly mistaken in comparing
LYEsprit Nouveau with Voix which in my opinion is a
neuspaper "maaifestation of pride". No, I have never
pretended to regenerate art by manifest Voix has
only a local or regional interest, whereas L!Esprit Nouveau ? {
In summary: whatever parisian success has gone to your head
and whatever contempt you have for us, there must be a neutral
zone whereby there might be a chance for us (poor people of
La Chaux~de-Fonds) to render you a service , do you not
feel the hatefulness of this world? }

If there should remain within you a vestige of the man that
I used to know, it is to him that I send my friendship,
Re~read my old letters if they could be counted as "gestures
over the frontiers"?

C. Humbert " 21
Though a few commissions were to arrive from La Chaux-de-~Fonds
in his Paris office for a few years after his departure, Charles~Edouard
was not to continue with any of these early friendships beyond a very
occasional letter, Even visits to his parents became rare, although he
took an active part in their welfare, particularly after his father had
retired,



CHAPTER 3 Mentors: Charles L'Eplattenier and William Ritter

8y Charles L'Eplattenier

In the spring of 1901, Jeanneret joined the engravers course
at La Chaux-de-Fonds Technical Art School, a school established to
provide designers for the watch and clock irdustry. His design tutor
was a young interior designer and mural painter from Neuchatel called
Charles L'Eplattenier, a son of a peasant, born in 187/ at Neubert near
Neuchatel,

L'Eplattenier had studied design in the Kunstgwerkeschule in

Budapest for one year, going from there to the Ecole des Arts Décoratifs

in Paris where he was a student in tke atelier of Luc Olivier Menson for
three years, On the completion of his studies he travelled in England,
Belgium, Holland and Germany, staying for a while in Munich.l There
he may well have met or become re-acquainted with William Ritter, a Swiss
art critic and wriler, Ritter's father was a councillor in the area of
Neuchatel and Ritter could well have told L'Eplattenier of the possibility
of finding a job teaching in the art school of La Chaux~de~Fonds while he
built up his interior design practice.

Though L'Eplattenier had not been a student of painting while
in Paris he had certainly absorbed the trends that were, in 1893-96,
influencing his fellow art students in the painting school, Neo-~
Impressionism and symbolism were by then clearly recognised as movements
and many articles appeared in the contemporary art magazines publicising
the theories and ideas of these closely related new movements.2 Seurat
and his followers had attracted many young painters to Paris, The effect
of their belief in the scientific anéiysis of colour and the study of
proportion provided an important stimulus o the development of impression-
ism which was, in itself, rather devoid of logical content and provided

no guide-ljines other than rather vague emotional qualities.3
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L¥Eplattenier's first paintings in La Chaux-de-Fonds were
mainly pointillist style landscapes.4 Cézanme at that time was
virtually unknown whereas Seurat's ideas had been well recorded in Paul

Signac's book D'Fugdne Delacroix au Néo-Impressionisme published in 1899,

Signac had been a painter, follower and friend of Seurat, His book
demonstrated how Seurat's principles had originated from Constable to
Delacroix, Ruskin and the Impressionists.5 LvEplattenier, when
planning his design course for the young engraving students at La Chaux~
de-Fonds must have found in the theories of Ruskin and his diseciples, the
path he wished to follow, It would have been in sympathy with the
English Arts and Crafts Movement, whose ideas were taking root amongst
design workshops and schools throughout Europe at that 'bime.6
tEplattenier!s
Ruskin's ideas were frequently discussed in class and a French

Tve,
translation of Ruskin's major worﬁ};ﬁeven Lamps of Architecture was

available in the studio.7

L'Eplattenier, new and untrained in teaching with only his art
design studies behind him, discovered good foundation material in Ruskin's
writings for his course.8

L'Eplattenier's enthusiasm, strong personality and freshness of
approach compensated for any inadequacies of experience and he made a
considerable impact on the new and, as yet, uncommitted studentsz9
Jeanneret was very fortunate to have such a teacher at the outset of his
studies, and later acknowledged this fact:

"Up to 1907 I had in my native town, the good fortune

to have a master worthy of the name, 'L'Eplatteniert,

as we called him, was a fascinating teacher, He it was

who first opened the gates of art to me, With him we

studied the master-pieces of every age and nation", 10

L'Ep%attenier‘s approach to design teaching was rewarded in
1902, when the art school submitted a display of its students work for
a craft competition, held at an International LIxhibition of Decorative

Art in Turin.11 The display was awarded first prize, Jeanneret's
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frequently illustrated watchcase was part of it and showed the very
real artistic talent that he possessed at the age of fifteen, He
regularly gained prize awards in the art school.12

The La Chaux—de;Fonds schooi board were impressed by the work
of the new design tutor and the success of his students, which promised
to be of considerable future commercial value to the town's major
industry, The following year they promoted LYEplattenier to the

13

position of director of the design course,”™ a move that could not have

been entirely popular with some of the older and long-established members
of the staff who were to make the job a difficult one for L'Eplattenier

in later years and eventually help lead to his resignation.l4

. It is not possible to know precisely which of Ruskin's principles
were expounded by L'Eplattenier, but many similar statements can h2 seen

embodied in 'Purisme! and in many of Jeanneretls later writings, Ruskin's

influence was acknowledged by him.15

There are also many other aspects in Jeanneret's development
that shows an early influence of Ruskin, For instance, the necessity for
a good palinter to practice every day @

"So many hours a day of steady practice - all your
mind and nervous energy put into it - or no good
painting", 16

This advice Jeanneret attempted to follow throughout the whole of his life,

L'Eplattenier recognised that in Jeanneret he had an exceptional

student, He f2od him the belief that he was born to be a great artistl’

and encouraged in him attitudes and ideas, again to be found in the
writings of Ruskin :

"Wherever imagination and sentiment are, they
will either show themselves without forcing,

aor if capable of artificial development, the

kind of training which such a school of art would
give them would be the best they could receive,
The infinite absurdity and failure of our present
training consists mainly in this that we do not
rank imagination and invention high enough and
suppose that they can be taught, Throughout
every sentence that I have ever written, the
reader will find the same rank attributed to these

powers ~ the rank of\purely the divine gift, not 26



to be attained, increased, or in any way modified
by teaching, only in various ways capable of
being concealed or quenched e¢esesees Should we
not educate the whole intellect into general
strength, and all the affections into warmth 18
and honesty and-look to heaven for the resti"

Jn
Rugkin in\ Blements of Drawing considered that "WE NEVER

SEE ANYTHING CLEARLY™? and further advised i

"only remember this, that there is no general

way of doing any thing; no recipe can be given
you for so much as the drawing of a cluster of
grass., The grass may be ragged and stiff, or
tender and flowing; sunburnt and sheep-bitten or
rank and languid; fresh or dry; lustrous or dull:
look at it and try to draw it as it is, and don't
think how somebody 'told you to do grass' ", 20

Jeanneret in Vers une Architecture has a chapter entitled
21

"Les yeux qui ne voient pas", In the frontispiece to this chapter

he writes:

"Architecture is stifled by custom.

The "styles" are a lie,

Style is a unity of principle animating all the
work of an epoch, the result of a state of mind
which has its own special character, Our own
epoch is determining, day by day its own style.

Our eyes, unhappily, are unable yet to discern it".22

Ruskin's opinion on style is very similar 3

"eeoeese A man who has the gift will take up any
style that is going, the style of his day, and will
work in that, and be great in that, and make everything
that he does in it look as fresh as if every thought

of it had just come down from heaven", 23

L'Eplattenier insisted on a great deal of sketching of nature, buildings
and architectural detail as Jeanneret's drawings at the time show.24

s was/ 25
Again, an Influence of Ruskin,

Ruskin also advocated the use of the camerat

"The greatest service which can at present be
rendered to architecture, is the careful
delineation of its details from the beginning

of the twelfth to the close of the fourteenth
century, by means of photography, I would
particularly desire to direct the attention of
amateur photographers to this task; earnestly
requesting them to bear in mind that while a
photograph of landscape is merely an amusing toy,
one of early-architecture is a precious historical
document; . and that \this architecture should be 27



Jeanneret became a keen amateur photographer,

taken, not merely when it presents itself under
plcturesque general forms, but stone by stone, and
sculpture by sculpture, 26

27

In Vers une Architecture his selection of photographic detail

of the Parthenon shows his awareness of light and .shade in architectures

This awareness also had roots in Ruskin, who wrote 3

M eesees and I do not believe that ever any building
was truly great, unless it had mighty masses,
vigorous and deep, of shadow mingled with its surface.
And among the first habits that a young architect
should learn is that of thinking in shadow, not
looking at a design in its miserable tiny skeleton;
but conceiving it as it will be when the dawn lights
it, and the dusk leaves it; evescosse

sevesese His paper lines and proportions are of no
value; all that he has to do must be done by

gpaces of light and darkness; and his business is

to see that the one is broad and bold enough not to
be swallowed up by twilight, and the other deep
enough not to be dried like a shallow pool by the
noon-day sun", 28

In Vers une Architecture in the chapter entitled Pure création de

l'eggrit,

Jeanneret

Jeanneret wrote the following 3

"There comes the moment when he must carve the
lineaments of the outward aspect. He has brought

the play of light and shade to the support of what

he wants to say. Profile and contour have entered in,
and they are free of all constraints; they are a pure
invention which makes the outward aspect radiant or
dulls it, It is in the contours that we can trace
the plastic artist; the engineer ig effaced and the
sculptor comes to life, Contours are the touch

stone of the architect; in dealing with them he is
forced to decide whether he will be a plastic artist
or not, Architecture is the skilful accurate and
magnificent play of columns seen in light. Contours
go beyond the practical man, the daring man, the 29
ingenious man; they call for the plastic artist”,

again echoes Ruskin:

"The fact is, there are only two fine arts possible

to the human race, sculpture and painting, What we
call architecture is only the association of these

in noble masses, or the placing of them in far places,
A1l architecture other than this is, in fact, mere
building; and though it may sometimes be graceful,

as in the groinings of an abbey roof; or sublime, as
in the battlement of a border tower; there as in such
examples of it, no more exertion of the powers of high
art, than in the gracefulness of a well-ordered chamber, 30
or the nobleness of a well-built Ship Of WATr seesccoesss
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Ruskin considered that the education of the architect and sculptor
should be united and that their studies should include literature and

31 56 14 vas

philosophy; engineers were to be educated elsewhere,
definitely not from Ruskin that Jeanneret was to acquire his belief in
the engineer as the man of the future, Nevertheless, he took the

point of the combination of'the fine arts as a necessary qualification
for an architect. It was a serious belief, nurtured by L'Eplattenier
who had decided that Charles—Edouard Jeanneret was to become an architect

and his friend Léon Perrin a sculptor.32

Many of their studies were to
be taken in common and though Jeanneret did little or no sculpture himself
at this time, his architecture developed as a work of sculpture in itself
and he was to produce some pieces of solely sculptural work in the later
years of his life, very little of which is well known yebe >

Another important influence on L'Eplattenier's teaching,
comes from Owen Jones book entitled The Grammar of Ornament published
in 1856, a copy of which was kept in his design studios.34

Owen Jones used the minimum of words to outline the premises
upon which he considered a designer should work; many of these overlap
those of Ruskin but are stated in direct and easily comprehensible terms

with a rich supply of illustrations.35

He was considerably ahead of
his time in realising that industrialisation called for a new approach
to design and that good design could be available to everyone,

Another book available in L'Eplattenierts studio was Plantes

e seg applications ornamentales by Eugéne Grasset (1896), Grasset

wag Swiss and had studied architecture at Gidegenissische Technische
Hochstule in Zurich, going from there to Paris to work as an interior
decorator and illustrator, where L'Eplattenier came to know him, His
work was based on the geometric analysis of natural form.36
The result of the influence of Owen Jones and Grasset, can be
seen 1in Jeanneret's pattern work illustrated in My Work and QOeuvres

Compldtes 1910-1929 which are based on geometricised natural forms.
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Later the emphasis placed by Jones and Seurat on proportion and
harmony was to be reinforced when Jeanneret travelled through France
and Germany meeting several groups of architects and artists who were
investigating the use of ﬁroportional systems and were designing
specifically for industry.37
Much of the content of Jeanneret's early design education with
L'Eplattenier, up to the age of eighteen, was similar to the introductory
course at the Bauhaus and today's foundation courses in art and design,
Jeanneret also spent a large part of his time in learning the very
precise skills of an engraver, not only from the school but from his

father and grandfather.38

) L'Eplattenier smoothed his early education by providing a course
of work that was not too formal or restrictive and placed importance
on intellectual and all round interests, This method, together with
plenty of encouragement and praise before they were eighteen years old,
brought out unknown talents in both Jeanneret and Léun Perrin, neither
of whom had had ambitions beyond becoming engravers when they joined the
art school, Jeanneret became accustomed to being regarded by the
intellectuals in La Chaux-de~Fonds as the star in their cultural world.39
This adulation at such an early age may have been at the root of many
of his problems, starting with his first journey away from La Chaux~de-
Fonds and particularly when he £inally left for Paris in 1917,%0

On the completion of the four year craft course in 1905 Jeannerep,
at the age of 18, not surprisingly, did not want to go into the family
business, to the bitter disappointment of his father.Al It is doubtful
if the family had sufficient funds to continue his full~time education
elsewhere as they were still supporting Albert in his music studies in
Berlin, It is also unlikely that Jeanneret had the suitable academic
qualifications for any course other than in fine art.42 However, the
resourceful L'Eplattenier had foreseen this problem and the year his

first group of engraving students completed their course, he instituted
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a completely new class in the school, which started in September 1905,
under the title Courg de Degsin Général et Supérieur , It was later
to be ratified by the school board in January, 1906 under the title

La_Nouvelle Section .43 Eighteen students were enrolled, many of them

the sons and daughters of the wealthier families in the town and amongst
them at least three students from L'Eplattenier's recently qualified
engraving class, Charles-Edouard Jeanneret, Léon Perrin and Georges Aubert,

These three L'Eplattenier had instructed as to what should be
the aims of their future studies, Perrin saids

"Ensulte de cette formation purement artisanale,
jv¥ai 1a chance d'étre recu au 'cours supérieur
que vient de fonder le Maitre Charles L'Eplattenier
qui initie ses éldves aux arts plastiques
et dirige avec clairvoyance les meilleurs d'entre
eux vers de nouvelles destinées, Pour moi, ce
gsera la sculpture en comuencant par le rude et
necessaire apprentissage du *tailleur de pierre-
marbrier-sculpteur.  Pour Georges Aubert (qui
est devenu dés son age miir professeur a
Lausanne et animateur de la jeune école de
peinture vaudoise) 11 sera dirigé vers
L'ébénisterie et la sculpture sur bois, Enfin
Charles~Edouard Jeanneret entendit L‘Eplattenier
lul dire: "Tol, tu sera architecte", La réunion
de ce trio, auquel viendraient se joindre une
vingtaine d'autres éléves, créera un milieu

~ dynamique, ardent, amical, Ce sera le premier
acte d'une aventure merveilleuse®, 44

Financing these students was a problem; Perrin in 1904, had won a
competition for a mural, which was subsequently executed, in the premises

of the promoters, a local firm of watch makers.45

The money he received
for this, together with a bursary obtained for him by L'Eplattenier,

from the school board, enabled him to study, travel around Europe and
avold Swiss military service for the next two years, a thing that would
have been impossible to do without aid as he was one of a large family

of 1limited means.46 Jeanneret was more or less apprenticed to the office
of an architect friend of LVEplattenier, René Chapallez, who had a practice
47

in the near“y town of Tavanne, and was working on the design and con—
struction of a house for L'Eplattenier on the mountainside above La

Chaux~de-fonds, This arrangement probably provided Jeanneret with
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sufficient funds to support himself and the means to embark on the
travelling stage of L'Eplattenier's educational pla.n.48

Paul Turner in his thesis on The Early Fducation of Le Corbusier,

discusses two important books.49 The first book, Les Grandes Unités.

Esquisse de 1'Historie secréte des religions , by Edouard Schuré,

50
L'Eplattenier gave Jeanneret when he was leaving on his travels in 1907.

Sciwe € vas a French drama critie, writer and Wagner enthusiast, The

second book, Art de Demain by Henry Provensal, was probably purchased a

few months earlier by Jeanneret, Both books are closely related in

content, and judging by the number of passages, marked out, he gave them

a lot of attention.51

Both Schuré and Provensal emphasize the importance of the

spirit and idealism in art, the unity of the world and the elitism and
importance of the artist, While both books contain a great deal that

is very mystical in content, there is also a large amount of clear advice,

classical in nature,

Provensal advocates that the purpose of the artist's role "is

to connect man with the absolute, by means of the divine laws through
unit, number and harmony", He emphasises that only a few men even
possess the potential for invention and are a race apart: again very
similar to Ruskin's cbservations,”’~ Jeamneret bracketed the chapter
entitled "L'Unité Humaine} which contains Provensalls advice for a
person of genius to seek out an :

Meeesesss Intellectual minority, a centre of action and

combat", then he should show himself to this elite

group by revealing his creative force which expresses

hig own inner self, then he must begin to "formulate

in every aspect of his work, a new personality to

replace his former activities", 53

Provensal also thought it the duty of such a man to share,
with mankind, the discovery of such spiritual truths as he may find

and to ensure that they were accepted and respected.54

Provensal's aegthetic theories were based on Beauté Idéale

of the mind and the spirdt rather than the physical senses, He
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considered the instinct could no longer suffice an artist and not

even the best of the contemporary masters. understood Beauté Idéale,

To correct this, Provensal advised the artist to look for basic forms,
whicﬁ should be universal and general, Architecture and music he
regarded as the most abstract of the arts and therefore closest to the
Iddale , Architecture must express this whilst having underlying
reality, He refers to the cubic form in architecture as being the most
perfect and universal form, crystaline and representing unity as the
principle of natural sciences in the form of mineral crystals.55

These ideas again reinforce many from Ruskin, Jones, Grasset and
Seurat and can be found expanded in Jeanneret's writing,.

The book by Schuré includes the principles of the Beuroner

artists,56

who connected proportion with spiritual harmony as part of a
very explicit aesthetic theory., When their work was exhibited,57 the
use of the 'Golden Section! ratios and their conviction in it, reinforced
by considerable historical evidence, had attracted the attention of a
number of artists who were looking for some type of firm aesthetic
guldance,
Schuré's hero is a poet rather than an artist, a mystical poet
who feels the nced for a spiritual revival as in Nietzche's Zarathustra ,
a book which was to come into Jeanneret!s possession a few months 1&11;er.58
But the art that was inspired by these aspirations did not meet
the ideas embodied in the Beauté Idéale. Yet in the context of con—

Jax ST
temporary art these ideas must have had a strong appeal, " Sas aware

that L!'Eplattenier saw him as a version of Schuré hero, a role that

appealed to him and which probably coloured his further education and

-

future ideas of his 1ife.>?

In 1907, Jeanneret and Perrin went round Florence with Ruskin's
60

book Mornings in Florence . They did rot even glance at Palladio's

work, according to Perrint they were completely under Ruskin's spell.

From there they travelled up through Italy to Budapest, where L'Eplattenier
had studied for a time, and then to Vienna, the two students drawing



]
annotated sketches of all that appealed to them.61 In Vienna, apart

from possibly looking at the craft worksh9ps62 for L'Eplattenier and
working for their keep, they could have also seen the work of the Vienna
secession artists and become acquaintea with the ideas of Adolf Loos,
through his newspaper and magazine articles, They stayed in Vienna

for eight months, during the winter 1907-1908; it was a logical stopping
point for the two students to stay and try to obtain work in a studio,

though they had no great success.63

Jeanneret worked on the drawings
for two more houses in La Chaux—de-Fonds.

In the Spring of 1908 they continued their travels in Germany,
first visiting Munich, where it is very likely that Jeanneret would have
had an introduction through L'Eplattenier to William Ritter,é4 who
later played an important part in Charles-Edouard's life,

After visiting Munich, they travelled to Nuremburg and
Strasbourg; at the end of April 1908, Perrin left for Paris and
Jeanneret returned to Jia Chaux-de-Fonds to continue work started in
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Vienna on the!la Chaux-de~Fonds, L'Eplattenier, at this time, was
preparing his case for the school board on a new form of art school on
the lines of Victor Prouvé's school in Nancy and the art workshops in
Vienna, Munich, Dresden, Hellerau and Stuttgart.66 Jeanneret would have
given him first hand reports on his experiences, Both he and Perrin had
been very impressed by what they had seen in Germany in the provision of
practical craft training.67

In July of 1908 Jeanneret joined Perrin and four painting

students from La Wouvelle Section in Paris, The painting students,

M, Woog, Ge Humbert, L, Schwob and Zysset, were at L'Ecole des Beaux

Arts.68

Both Jeanneret and Perrin needed officeséllwhich to work, though
/
they were not eligible as official students of a recognised school,
They took their travel sketches from Italy to Franz Jourdain, a successful

Paris architect and founder President of the Salon d*Automne and whose
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vork was in sympathy with Hoffman's 'jugendstil', He had no place
for them and advised them to try the office of Hector Guimard, a fashionable
69

architect and Art Nouveau designer; who accepted Perrin, Jeanneret
theﬂ,approached Euggne Grasset, the artist illustrator, publisher and
friend of Willlam Ritter and L'Eplattenier,'C Grasset advised him to
go to the office of Auguste and Gustave Perret, The Perret practice was

not officially recognised by L'Ecole des Beaux Arts for their students,

firstly because Auguste Perret had not completed his diploma and, secondly,
they were acting as contractors and making architectural use of concrete.71
Jeanneret was given a job by the Perrets and both he and Perrin worked

like official students of L!Ecole des Beaux Arts for the mornings only,

leaving them time for what Perrin called Ynos laborieux
loisdlrdyz It is very probable that Jeanneret and Pérrin would have
seen some of the early cubist paintings that were exhibited at the time,
The previous year, 1907, had seen a large and very popular memorial

73

exhibition for Cézanne at the Salon d'Automne. The impact of Cézanne's

almost unknoun work had been considerable on young painters, By 1908
many of them were adopting Cézannism and the young Picasso and Braque,
working independently at first, had started on their first cubist

paintings.74

Also exhibiting that year at the Salon d'Automne were Bonnard,

Vuillard and Denis together with the work of some of the neo-impressionists
under the leadership of Paul Signac.75
Auguste Perret was a close friend of the painter, writer and
critic, Maurice Denis,76 who had been & member of the Nabis, a group
of painters including Bonnard, Verkade and Vulllard, inspired by Gauguin
and directed by Paul Sérusier,
The Nabis were interested in cultural and practical life outside
painting and owed this influence to Morris and Rossetti, The group
functioned between the years 1891 and 1900, when some of 1ts members

went their own ways. Sérusier, Denis and another painter, Paul Verkade,

) 35



remained faithful to the original spirit of the group and became
interested in the work of the Beuroner Artists under the direction

of Father Desiderous Lenz, Lenz had joined the Benedictine Abbey of
Beuron in southern Germany, so that he could develop his own theories
of sacred art, and create a parallel with the work that the Benedictines
had done in restoring the Gregorian chant, Charles Chassé in his book
on the Nabls says of lenz's theories :

"The Benedictines, no doubt did not accept this
art, without some misgivings. What attracted them
was the fact that Lenz intended to place it entirely
under the control of the monastery; no freedom of
expression was to be left to the painter monks

who would work under the whole responsibility of a
single master who would be like the orchestra leader
of this new Gregorian chant, Instead of using
models, what Lenz proposed was to represent the human
figure according to a geometric Ycannon' inspired by
the Scriptures which would always have the same
proportions, Since God, at the beginning of the
world, had created man in his image, symbols of the
Trinity would appear through the idealized contours
painted on the walls of sanctuaries at the same time
as the measurements of length prescribed by Jehovah
when the Temple was built in Jerusalem", 77

Ll

Lenz believed that in Egyptian art, with the addition of
Christian ideals lay the foundation of a theory of proportion based
on regular geometric bodies, expressing a logic and order and from
these studies he devised rules from which the artist monks worked.

Sérusier published in 1905 a booklet entitled ABC de la Peinture R

with a foreword by Maurice Denis based on Lenz's theories, Verkade
had been so impressed that he jolned the order and was visited several
times at Beuron by Sérusier and Denis,

In 1905 the school of Beuron had contributed to a religions
art exhibition organised by the Secession Group in Vienna., Their
work, despite its inherent dullness, attracted considerable attention
and they were to continue to exhibit with success in Europe over the
next few years, Jeanneret was to acquire in 1913 Denis's book Théories
1890-1910 which contained the Beuroner principles as expounded by

Sérusier.78
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While Jeanneret and Perrin were in Paris, Matisse published

his Notes d'un Peintre 4in La Grande Revue in 1908,’2 and in the same

year exhibited in the Salon d‘Automne.So Then in February 1909, Marinetti
published the first Fubwrist Manifesto in Figaro,®l
The effect of such a variety of theoretical and artistie
activity on the twenty-one year old Jeanneret was devastating and threw
him into a state of mental confusion. In his efforts to rationalise
this turbulance he turned a very critical eye on his past education, and
environment and in particular on his mentor, Charles L'Eplattenier,
His letters to L'Eplattenier show this,®?
In September 1908, L'Eplattenier presented his proposals for
a new fine art school to the School Board of La Chaux~de-Fonds.® 1t
was a development from the'Nouyelle Section' and he considered that it
would require completely new accommodation designed for the purpose,
Part of his case was that the school would be very largely self-financing
when established and supported this with the fact that his gtudents
on the' Nouvelle Section had already earned 24,500 francs in fees from
design commissions and had several projects plammed for the future,
The Board was sympathetic to his proposals but postponed any decision
on the provision of a new building because of the lack of finance.84
This did not deter Jeanneret's intrepid teacher and he
eventually obtained the use of an old hospital building which was
situated alongside the art—school, There he transferred his‘Nouyellg
Section,students to studios on the ground floor and turned the top
floor into a series of workshop studios, to form the foundations
of a group to be called 'Les Ateliers des Artistes Réunis ‘.8 ©
Leon Pérrin, on his return from Paris, in the summer of 1909,
was made Chairman of the new group and, together with Georges Aubert, was
given space to work, Jeanneret, when he returned in October 1909, joined
the group and started his own office within the building, It was also

L'Eplattenier's intention that, eventually, these three ex-students of his
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should be offered posts teaching in his new art school,eé Meanwhile,
Jeanneret worked with the students on design commissions, mainly small
interior projects and the decorative work for the town's crematorium,
From. this time, L'Eplattenier's importance as principal mentor in

Jeanneret's life was to dimiiish.
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b. William Ritter -
During the winter of 1909 when Jeanneret was twenty-two,

he spent a congiderable time in the mountains at Les Brenets, a resort
on a lake above Le Locle the next town up the valley from ILa Chaux-—de-
Fonds.l It was there that he was to renew an acquaintance with an
old schoolboy friend from Locle, Max Du Bois, who was on holiday before
moving to Paris to take up a new jobe Du Bois had recently qualified
as a railway engineer and had completed the translaiion into French
of a German book on reinforced concrete.2 While at Les Brenets, the
two young men, with Perrin, Aubert and others did a great deal of ski-ing
and entered for one of the earliest and very 'ungymnastic! national ski
races.3 Also living at Les Breneta at that time was L'Eplattenier's
friend, William Ritter, and his parents, Ritter was soon to become
well acquainted with Du Bois and Jeanneret and encouraged them both to
take up water colours.4 Ritter was an excellent water colourist and

5

produced very attractive landscapes of the surrounding mountains,
Du Bols has a water /901°2§ow gcene by Jeanneret from this period,

It 1s a delightful small sketch on the lines of a Matisse painting, very
free in form and sensitive in colour,.

Ritler must have been impressed by the young Jeanneret, who
could paint with such confidence, and he was to spend a great deal of
time talking with him about life, music, art and his future.6 Ritter
thought that Jeanneret's talents would possibly lay more towards painting
or writing than architecture.7

Ritter considered that it was essential for Jeanneret to be
in a less provinclal atmosphere and encouraged him to travel and get away
from what was becoming the rather smothering influence of L'Eplattenier,8
and the environment in La Chaux-de-Fonds.

In the Spring of 1910, Jeanneret tried to get a ;ob vith a firm

of German engineers but did not succeed.9 Soon afterwards he visited
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Ritter and an art student friend, Auguste Klipstein, in Munich,1®

While there, L'Eplattenier obtained permission from the La Chaux-de-Fonds
school board for Jeanneret to undertake a project to find out about the
progiess of the art and design moveme&t in Germany and to produce a
report on the movement and its relevance to the industrial design courses
in La Chaux-de-Fonds.ll
Jeanneret accepted the task and very likely planned hls route with
the help of Ritter, who was also in the position to provide him with
introductions to leading architects, members of the Werkbund and was
probably behind an official letter of introduction that Jeanneret obtained
from the Swiss Consul in Berlin.12
Willjam Ritter wrote reviews for French and German art papers

and contributed to the La Chaux—de-Fonds Journal, Feuilles d'Avis .13

His father'!s position as Deputy Chief Town Councillor in Ne uchatel,
must have given him considerable prestige in the eyes of Jeanneret, who
was flattered at the interest Ritter was taking in him 3

"I am unable sufficiently to prove to you how much
your welcome touches me, You have allowed me to
approach you, me who is nothing but a beginner in
1life and a schoolboy in the arts", 14

Jeanneret responded willingly to the friendship and the correspondence
that was to be of vital importance to him as a means of expressing ideas,
feelings and ambitions that he found were becoming impossible to share
with his old teacher, L'Eplattenier.

"I have a great need to write to you, it is to you

alone that I write letters; L'Eplattenier is even

left out, That is I have nothing to say in a letter .

because I have too much to say", 15
Ritter helped to make him aware of the possibilities of painting and
writing as a means of expression and the potential fulfilment of his
ambition tp be a unique man of genius.16 He provided Jeanneret with a
detailed background to painting, literature and music and supported his
brother, Albert Jeanneret, in his decision to join Jacques Dalcroze in

17 From Ritter's work his own preferences in art would appear

shoves \Uncse.
tol bambimilar toﬁ%lattenier, Neo-impressionists, Symbolists, Nabis, 40

Hellerau.
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Puvis-de-Chavannes and Mauri/ce Denis,™ painters with a rather mystical

religious belief in order, harmony, and proport.:l.on.19 But unlike
20

L'Eplattenier, he did not approve of Cézanne and considered his approach

too scientific, Both L'Eplattenler and Ritter disapproved. of the

work of Picasso, whom they both thought . somefning of a f‘raud.z“l

Ritter also appreciated the emerging new trends in music and
developed Jeanneret's musical education.22

Jeanneret departed on his German tour early in June 1910,

having received the necessary confirmation and funds from La Cha.wc-de-Fonds.23

In a letter written from Berlin to Ritter, Jeanneret reported on an
exhibition at the Berlin Secession 3
1

"Secession very few canvasses,

Direct resemblancd of contemporary effortswith French impressionism
was shown by the presence of canvasses by Manet, Monet,
Van Gogh, Lieberman, Matisse had two things which
pleased me because of their beautiful colours, the
synthesis (People laught at it). One Trubeur room
which is probably not bad without really impressing me.
A very elegant Van Dongen (already admired last year
at the Salon d'Automne), Some brutal Corinth, one
Zoru room with his famous technique. One Habearman
room showing the oldest and newest works (the last one
very beautiful), Hodler who re-did 'Le Jour', which
is in Berne,in a more vigorous colour, From the same
one '"lac Leman', one ghost, one naked man, one woodcutter
not so good, In general my impression is that German
painting has short wings and is heavy in comparison with
the French school", 2/

From this letter it is quite clear that Jeanneret had a good
knowledge of new art movements in Europe at that period; his time in
Paris had been well spent.

Ritter must have been impressed by the fluency of his letters
and later arranged for him to write some reviews of Berlin concerts when
he went to work for Behrens in November 1911.25 This gave Jeanneret
some practical problems, and in his first letter to Ritter from Berlin,
he wrote :

"So this i1s the end of my explanations and complaints,

I am sure I have exasperated you and you will think I

am indecisive and lack enthusiasme On the contrary,

I am so willing that one word from you will decide ne,
The whole thing 1s too interesting for me not to try

to be worthy of the task", 26
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In the same letter he went on to talk of the pleasure he ha experienced
in Ritter's company, over the year since they first met, and how he
regarded Ritter's home as a sanctuary of art and poetry,.

Jeanneret liked what he saw of the Werkbund movement and its
followers, amongst whom was Peter Behrens, When he returned to Munich

in September 1910, he decided to try again to find work in Germany

and wrote to Behrens asking for a position in his Berlin office.27

Jeanneret had to wait for a reply from Behrens but was

8

offered a job starting on the first of November 1910.%° He had post-

poned the writing of his report for the School Board until he should
return to La Chaux-de-Fonds, The long absence from home was probably
necessary to continue the avoidance of the usually obligafory period
in the Swiss Army, as it had been in Perrin's case.29

In a letter sent to Ritter in December 1910, Jeanneret wrote
of his disillusionment with Behrens, He felt that only the assumption
that Behrens was 111 could explain the disastrous picture that he
saw and which made him reconsider his thinking, clearly showing his
absorption of LYEplattenier's Ruskins principles,

"I feel that an architect must above all be a thinker,

His art, winlch consists in abstracting propertions, has no possibilit

of describing or painting outside the symbol, his art

does not require a clever hand, That perhaps would

be fatal, But he must have rhythms, a well developed
brain and an extremely supple one,

General culture today, when no single style reigns,
seems to me to be the basis for everything seecese.e And
totally ignoring the trickeries of the trade, I
continue or rather I am thinking of going back to the
bizarre studies of my student days. And work,
that will be for a few years hence, the fight for
survival will teach me that ooooo" 30

He told Ritter that he had heard of young people experiencing a period
of depression following one of enthusiasm and asked 3

"You who have a deep understanding of life and the

artist, elucidate this for me, condemn me without pity,

or else tell me the remedy"., 31
Ritter must have given him some hope because in the next letter Jeanneret

sent, he said :
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"And it will be thanks to you, that I am greatly
comforted, What does all this kindness you give me
mean to me, The respectful admiration that I feel for
you, gratitude which penetrates me, and I should like
one happy day, to be able to return it to you by
tangible means", 32

After five months Jeanneret had had enough of Behrens office and Berlin,

but he did feel that he had acquired a new understanding from working
1ting
there, / again to Ritter 3

"My mind had these last few months opened up so much

to the understanding of the classical genius that my

dreams have stubbornly taken me there, Do you not

think that the whole of our present era looks more

than ever towards those happy lands where the

rectangulay” marbles whiten, where the vertical

columsand the entablature are parallel to the lines

of the seas, I have the opportunity, my dream will become
a reality. To finish my student life, I am preparing

a very grea'b Journey eevcovseew

esesesss My spring will scon be chining, Summer arrives
too soon, for after four years absence they want me back

in my country, I feel prepared to open myself up to
everything, Gone is the period of voluntary concentration |
Open the flood-gates § ILet everytning rush out | Let
everything in me live §

And this journey which I wish to be splendid the wise
people will find it inappropriate, my father will think
it is time to work and not to galivant, My master
L'Eplattenier will say I am not mature enough to profit
from it completely, I have simply repeated the saying
! a bird in the hand'! ... etce
seesssevses Constantinople § I might not find it any more
fairy-like than that magical painting by Signac at the
Munich Exhibition ", 33
This new interest in the classical world was partly instigated by the
advice he had received from Karl Osthaus in Hagen when Jeanneret was
on his German travels, Osthaus had impressed Jeanneret and he took
his advice seriously, later writing to thenk him for it.34
During 1911, Jeanneret's letters to Ritter became increasingly
uninhibited and he came to rely more and more on the sympathy and advice
of Ritter,” The gseparation from L'Eélattenier was not brought about
by the influence of Paris and Ritter alone, but by the involvement of
Jeanneret in a totally different approach to design that he had foumd

on hig German trip, and in Behrens office, Despite the fact that he



did not like Behrens, Jeanneret was still very impressed by his logical

and methodical approach to architecture and the assistants in the

office with whom he came into contact,\\‘ﬁ‘_*//tuho had had a thorough

architectural educetion including technology and new building types

together with the appropriate use of proportion, Up to that time he

had been almost exclusively influenced by Ruskin's gothic romanticism

so that his sympathies for classical principles had not yet been awakened,

other than in an historical sense, but living amongst people who were

intensely interested in the classical tradition, he found a great deal

to respond to. So interested didhe become that against advice from

La Chaux-de-Fonds, he extended his absence from home primarily to visit

Athens.36
Ritter was in sympathy with this first real sign of rebellion

against family and LYEplattenier, He advised Jeanneret and his friend

Auguste Klipstein as to what they should see on their trip, particularly

in Bucharest and Constantinople together with some introductions to

37

people who would help them on their journey. He also told Jeanneret
to write to him in the form of a journal of his travels, with the idea
of making it into a book when he returned, Ritter also proposed having
some of the letters published by the local La Chaux-de-Fonds newspaper,

Feuillesgs d'Avis.38 Jeanneret wrote in a letter at the start of his

travels

"According to our agreement, you will have letters from
me which will be in the form of a narrative, I hope
to be able to do it but a very extraordinary and
unfortunate phenomena has occurred to me, that is an
overwhelming amnesia of my linguistic faculties.

The most simple French vocabulary escapes me, and
sadder sti11,I remaln often incapable of spelling

the simplest French words. I am so ashamed
that I confess this to you: before my visit to

Germany I wrote faultlessly., I never had any style
but at least I used to send off my letters with a
serene soul knowing they were without spelling errors,
A1l this proves that I must leave the Germans as
quickly as possible and reintegrate myself in Latin
countries, You know I am having a fit of gothophobia.
Nuremburg bores me and the Burgs of the Rhine would be
unbearable without the scenery. In fact I am only
unrelenting for this: that modern 1ife has nothing to do 44



with this setting which has become too restrictive,
It is later times which satisfy me more', 39

He had also become a great deal more knowledgeable on art and had turned
this new awareness on to his own work, critising his drawings for lack
of skill and knox,a'].edge.l”o Some weeks later in another letter to Ritter,
written before going on to Athens, towards the end of his travels he was
much calmer 3

"I am in a great mood to write to you. You are the
only person to whom I write letters; even L'Eplattenier
is forsaken. It is because I do not know what to say
in letters, because there is so much to tell, Therefore
I summarise in inumerable postcards and it takes an
infinite time, A journey such as this one is very odd.
I don't do a thing, my note pad is clean empty and

every evening I am exhausted .e.ssse And you are the only
one to vhom I can want to tell a lot of things, because you
understand me and you forgive me my foolishness esecececes
eecssses 1 t0ld you that M., Bernette had written to me.
He wants to meet me in Madrid ! I could have gone to
Paris this winter to my Bosses, 41 I met one of them
in Constantinople where we spent some beautiful hours
together, But I also feel happy to go and join
L'Eplattenier for I owe him everything and he is my

best friend, I have felt particularly during this

great journey the meaning of true friendsiips seeescses

I feel theliwmensity of Furope on me and how a man can

be lost under it, But I feel a few stable points which
honour me, elevate me, exalt me and tells me to look
high, Thank God for that ", 42

It is clear from this letter than he was in somewhat of a
quandary, The strong hold of his family and L'Eplattenier were very
much in evidence but still without any real conflict at this stage and
he was looking forward with real affection and enthusiasm to returning
home, He missed his family and friends, but there was still Athens
and the Acropolis to be seen, From Greece, Jeanneret had decided to
return home through Italy, rather than follow plans to visit Egypt; he
was certainly homesick and had suffered badly from the usual stomach
compiints that accompany dubious food and water supplies, They had
also drunk far too much retsina as a recommended prevention against
typhoid, which was at that time threatening to become an epidemic in
Turkey, He stopped in Pisa for a few weeks to write up his journal of

travels for Ritter,43 and from there sent him a very emotional letter,
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He had been strongly affected by Classical Greece and was still
bemused by its effect,

"The scene will be beautiful tomorrow, everything in
marble adorably. yellowed, perfectly preserved and

rising from a green lawn., And the leaning tower did not
deny herself to me tonight while the decor rehearses

for tomorrow, On the contrary, I find this a famous
point of wit, and an eloquent tower, The whole thing

is in one piece and please note that I say that, I who have
geen Athens, I am completely filled with death,
Everything has crumbled in Italy, Italy to me is a
cemetery where the former dogmas, my religion, are rotting
on the ground, Is it creditable such a hecatomb?

In four years I have progressed a great deal, In the
east I gorged myself with unity and power, My gaze is
horizontal and does not see the beetles on the road,

I feel I am brutal, Italy has made me into a blasphemer,

And so I was following my destiny when I left everything

- to go there at any price, As the bric-a-brac were my
delight, now make me sick, I mumble elementary geometry
with a thirst for knowledge. In their mad race, red, blue
and yellow have become white, I am in love with the
white colour, the cube, the sphere, the cylinder and the
pyramid and the discyall that is unified and vast empty
spaces, The prisms elevate themselves, gain balance,
acquire rhythm and start marching as a great black dragen
which undulates at the horizon to tighten at the base,
There is only white sky above them, ithey pass on a polished
marble paving and are monolithic unity which no colour will
argue with, but at noon the light unfolds the cubes in one
surface; 1in the evening the rainbow loom there formse.
In the morning they are real with shadows and lights, clear
like a finished design. One can feel their tops, their
bottoms and their sides, At night it is more than ever
black and white", 44

At the beginning of November, on completion, which he iifendecl

fo puthsiv , of his journal "Le Voyage d'Orient", Jeanneret left Pisa

and returned to La Chaux~-de~Fonds, Ritter had already included an
account of Jeanneret's travels in the La Chaux-de-Fonds newspaper much
to Jeanneret!s pleasure @

"And also thank you very much for the friendly pat on the
shoulder (of which I shall be proud) which you said you have
done me in one of your chronicles, Will my daddy delgn

to smile if he sees one day the name of his son printed in
black and white § The truth is that my father is
absolutely convinced that his sons will never be any good,
Up till now it has been justified, but damn it, he is in
such a hurry I  You know, I am going to default the
modesty which befits ny tender age, by singing my own
praises, or rather that of the offshoots of my venerable
family stock, My brother missed you in Munich because

he was in a hurry and will see you at his return in Dresden,
since he has been named junior assistant in the Jacques
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Dalcro © Institute. As you will see, schoolmasters are
blossoming everywhere, Without my knowledge, L'Eplattenier,
that joker, put down 12 hours of lesson a week on me in the
new institute which will be L'Eplattenieresque. So that

my dear father who aspires for nothing better for his sons
than stable jobs, could be happy, But no, it is he himself
who told me all these wonders, remarking on my lack of
enthusiasm, lack of fire which does not surprise me and
doesn't bother me, One thing is clear: my rate of
promotion and it is not so good.

A11 this without comments ! How I sweat to put anything

down on paper § Really, I am not brilliant §| I have

no technique at all, And I must admit that for me who if

I were to paint would like a synthetic subject, there are

few such opportunities or if there is such a subject, I happen

to be on a train which only does 20 kms an hour because it
%graw kish train, 45

atever reason water colour does not work,
Jeanneret was starting on a difficult period in his life, He was not
at all clear as to what he should do and not happy with what other people
thought he should be doing. Ritter apparently warned him of the pogsible
dangers of stagnation involved in working for L'Eplattenier, As a
compromise Jeanneret planned to spend at least two months a year away
from La Chr:mx-—de—-}é‘ond8.4'6

The Journal of Le Voyage d'Orient was completed by 1914 but,

because of the start of the war, it had to be shelved and was only
published in 1965 after Le Corbusier had rediscovered it.47
During the summer of 1911 L'Eplattenier had formally proposed

the employment of three new teachers for La Nouvelle Section and had

obtained the Board's approval in principle, O0fficial approval was to come
at the end of December.48 Jeanneret, together with Perrinand Aubert

were to begin work in Janvary 1912, Jeanneret was to teach for twelve
hours a week, and to lecture on theoretical studies and geometrical elements,
(their value relative to decaration and monumentality), as well as

practical studles in architecture, furniture design and massing stu.dies.49
Léon Perrin had six hours teaching, primarily on drawing studies from
animals and nature with their use as decorative elements, and Georges

Aubert ten hours, taking practical studies in wood carving and f.aculpture,so
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L'Eplattenier's argument to the school board for engaging three

more teachers had been that he thought the building arts should be en-

51

couraged in the town. His support came from non-socialists on the

board who were in the majbrity at that time; they were mainly professionals,
upper middle-class businessmen and the immigrant Jewish industrialists,

The socialists came principally from the long established industrialists

and businessmen, who were solely concerned with the watchmaking industry

and its expansion and opposed to anything not directly concerned with
watches, L'Fplattenier was not popular with the older staff members who

did not appreciate his efforts at expansion in subjects outside their
52

experience,

Jeanneret had an accormodation problem on his return from Pisa
to La Chaux-de~-Fonds, He wrote the following in a letter to Ritter:

"First of all, no accommodation: I had recommended
a nice little place to my parents when I left in
1907, That place had no room for the son .s.. but
I am not despairing (I am not ungrateful, I shall
tell you later on). So then I resorted to the
very brotherly hospitality of L'Eplattenier, It
was for two or three nights ..... it lasted four
weeks " 53

Eventually, he joined two friends, who had rented an old coavent building
above the town and constructed himself a room in the roof; he was to stay
there until 1913 when he moved into the house he designed for his parents,
Of L'Eplattenier at this time, he urote 3

"For a month I saw L'Eplattenier, too involved in

politics (you know we have a socialist council in the

spring) and busy with big decorative paintings for the

crematorium. He painted a great deal this summer, country

scenes to sell, generally bad, Here and there he does

a piece which shows him master of his trade, I accuse

him of not bteing modern enough and not being sensitive to

the works of our era (literature, music and painting), " 54

This was a somewhat unfair comment to make on L'Eplattenier's
political activity as he must have had a hard fight to get Jeanneret
and his friends' poats ratified before the council was renewed, The

criticism of his work and attitude shows very clearly that Jeanneret's

independence from his old teacher was complete, He also found

48
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LYEplattenier's possessive attitude towards him increasingly difficult
to cope with though it was probably no more than the way he had been
treated before he left in. 1907, The change was within himself and the
fact that his allegiance to LYEplattenier as his mentor had been trans~
ferred to William Ritter., Despite the change in their relationship,
during the following years, Jeanneret carried out architectural work
that was required for L'Eplattenier's interior projects and helped him
with the problems involved in running two separate courses,

Jeanneret had a considerable amount of architectural work for
his own practice, including a house for his father, He found settling
down to a routine and the need to meet deadlines extremely hard to do
for the first few months and was still contemplating painting as his

sole way of life.55

Over the year of 1912, he was to carry out a
large number of watercolours with the intention of entering some in
the Paris Salon dTAutomne in October, 56

December 1911 and January 1912 were spent by Jeanneret in the
preparation of his report on his 1910 trip to Germany for the school
board, which was submitted to the chairman on February lst, 1912, under

the title Etude sur le Mouvement d'Art décoratif en Allemagne.57

They found 1t full of information on everything frcm the fine arts to
the smallest industrial art object, but then proceeded to ignore the
recomm.endations.58 Jeanneret and L'Eplattenier then had 400 copies of
the report produced for free distribution.59 In October he wrote to
Ritter :

"In the spring of this year I took the liberty
of sending you a copy of my 'Etude du mouvement
d'Art Décoratif en Allemangef, This study was
edited here, in a centre of clock life, and dis-
tributed free of charge, in the hope of arousing
the attention of our industrial leaders on the
aesthetic movement in commercial production,

A few copies, however, went beyond the Swiss frontiers
and to my surprise they made their mark in a small

and gradual way, I will admit (and please forgive

the immodesty of this admission) that I received
towards the end of this year numerous signs of interest
from people particularly in a position to judge art
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and its involvement in social 1life -~ from France,

Germany, Belgium., Furthermore, requests for my Efude
are now constantly being made by individuals and bookshops
of these countries, If I must find a reason for this,

I would guess that those who are interested in the
connection between industrial art and economic prosperity
and commercial expansion have found a useful and clear
synthesis from the German intentions and results.

I therefore plan a reprint of my Etude, I would like
this study written with the utter convaiction that the
latin genius ought to produce works combining aesthetic
and social pre-occupations., I would like to reprint it
in France where it would arouse most interest, In order
to approach a publisher, I feel the necessity to be
introduced by some influential persons and it is for this
reason that I turn to you. I should ask you, if you agree,
to write a few lines on why you think a new edition of my
study would be of use and suggest which publisher might
consider undertaking it.

You will find me very bold and vain to ask you this,
Please don't let it influence you, I will be greatly
appreciative, 60

This was immediately followed by ancther letter, in which Jeamneret shows
his disappointment in his friend's apparent lack of interest 3

"You never said a word to me of the Etude du
Mouvement d'Art Décoratif . You understand the
reason for my question, when reading the enclosed
leaflet, Here more than 400 copies have been
distributed: no one hag said a word about it: not
a single person I

From Paris, Berlin, Brussels a few echoes have come
back and sometimes so enthusiastic that I would have
liked to have sent them my photo (just to deflate some
of them), So I am asked for more copies and I do
not have any more, I would like to have it reprinted,
Please let me know what you think", 61

Several of his colleagues left La Chaux~de-Fonds at this time -
to work elsewhere which left Jeanneret more or less on his own,
Nevertheless, he had a very busy summer building the Jeanneret Pdre house, .
teaching, working on ideas for a book on theory and painting, with a trip
to the Dresden Building Exhibition and a visit to his brother, Albert,
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at Hellerau, In the autumn, five watercolours of his were accepted

for the Salon d'Automne, four entitled Langa ge de pierres , and one

-

interior;64 they were well hung and received a favourable notice from

Maurice Denis.65 Jeanneret was unable to obtain leave from teaching

to go to Paris at the time of the opening of the exhibition and had 50



to wait until mid-December, when he went to see his friends in Paris,
met Maurice Denis and collected the paintings.é6 He must also have
visited Max Du Bois to discuss the possibilities of work in Parils and
the éetails of the use of Du Bois' office as a sales depot for Swiss
light fittings.67

The Salon dYAutomne of 1912 contained the work of a group of

painters who called themselves the Section d'Or and who, at the same

time, had their own separate exhibition in the Galerie de la Bodtie, %8

The leader of the group, Jacques Villon, together with his brothers,
Raymond Duchamp-Villon and Marcel Duchamp and a few other painters,
introduced a new element into Cubism, evolved from theories expounded by
the last of the Nabls, Sérusier and Denis. The group's name was chosen
because of the importance attached to Section d'Or by Leonardo da
Vinei and reflected the interest they all had in the belief in human
proportions held by the Beuroner Artists.69 Duchamp-Villon's exhibit

La Maison Cubiste roused considerable interest; he was concerned to

construct his sculpture to be like architecture., Juan Gris also joined
the group with Picabia, Lhote, Metzinger and La Fresnay among others,
several of whom were later to be founder members of the Dada movement,
Gris was later to be an important influence on Ozenfant and Jeanneret
in the formulation and development of Purism,

Apollinaire wrote on the Section d!'Or at the time:

"™odern art as metaphysical, Wishing to attain the

proportions of the ideal, to be no longer limited to

the human, the young painters offer us works which are

more cerebral than sensual, They discard more and more '
the old art of optical illusion #nd local preportion, in

order to express the grandeur of metaphysical forms,.

This is why contemporary art, even if it does not directly

stem from specific religious beliefs nonetheless possesses

some of the characteristics of great, that is to say

religious art", 70

Jeanneret could not have been unaware of the work of this group; he
certainly knew of the theories that had attracted Villon and his fellow

artistss In December, he had met Maurice Denis and obtaihed his book

"Théories 1890-1910" » soon after it was published in 1913,71 51



The most important part of the book was about the properties inherent
in the ratio of the golden section, Numbers were given a symbolic
interpretation and the right angle was held up as the representation of
balance and equilibrium. ° Also included in the book was a theory of
colour to have an impact later on Jeamneret's painting.

The full significance that these ideas would eventually have
on him would not have been apparent to Jeamneret at the time, but they
enriched his basic knowledge, He was certainly aware of the theories
as he later demonstrated with Ozenfant as they evolved the theory of
Purism.72

Jeanneret had been pleased with the success of his work in the 1912

Salon d'Automne, He wrote of it to Osthaus and at the same time told

him of the proposed National Swiss Exhibition to be held at Berme in 1914
and for which he had been invited to be on the committee of Swiss artists.73
He was also constantly writing to Max Du Bois over this period with pro-
posals for projects and developments that could possibly provide work
for him in Paris.74

L'Eplattenier’s growing jealousy of Jeamneret's independence
of him and increasing reliance on William Ritter and Max Du Bois for advice
and support, still did not stop the two men continuing to work together,
Early in 1913, the school board required the new teachers to obtain the
Canton Teaching Certificate if they wished to remain in their jobs; the
board and the old school staff were continuing their campaign to close
75

I.a Nouvelle Section,

In May of 1913, the situation seemed desperate to Jeanneret,
There was no work in the town; a world wide slump in the watchmaking
industry was having its effect.76 In a letter to Ritter, at this time,
he expressed his discontent in Ia Chaux—de-ands.77

In June he obtained leave from the school board to visit a
building exhibition at Dresden’z8 On the trip he also included a visit

to the Leipzig Building Fair and the unveiling of Le Mormument 2 la
Bataille des Peuples, designed by the architect Bruno Schmidtz and the sculptor
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Frantz Metzner.!’ While away he sent two articles to the La Chawx=

de-Fonds paper Feullles d'Avis under the general heading lLettres de Voyage,.

In the first, entitled 'Le Monument & la Bataille des Peuples', he

gave a rather mocking report of the nationalistic monument, Although
he had found it impressive, the human vigour behind the unveiling had
somewhat frightened him and he had felt the power symbolised in the
momument, He much preferred the atmosphere at Hellerau, where he had
gone to visit his brother on the way to Dresden.gg

Jeanneret's last paragraph of these two articles wass

"Ce qui fait que chaque an, d'Hellerau partent des

plomniers en chaque ville toujours davantage,

Et L'Allemagne débrouillera, pour sa gloire, le

conflit de la larve, du crapaud et de ls chouette,

au profit de la culture venue des terres latines.

Le VOLKERSCHLACHTSDENKMAL contre 1'idéalisme

renaissant’, &

In the autumn LVEplattenier set up with Jeanneret, and some
other like minded artists, a committee to establish a movement in
Switzerland similar to the Werkbund in Germany.82 Jeanneret's report

Zcovant,
Etude du Mouvementihad been widely distributed and had contributed to

this idea, even though the immediate re-action had been almost un—
noticeable, It was not a suitable time for the launching of such an
ent.erprise;83 events were leading up to the First World War, A general
assembly for those interested in the standard of Swiss design was called
at the Hotel-de-Ville, Yverdon, on the 9th November 1913, and the title

LY0euvre Association Suisge~Romande de LTArt et de L'Industrie given
84

to the resulting society, with a journal to be called L'Oeuvre. The
response was not enormous, particularly from businessmen and industrialists,
The soclety was largely preaching to the converted; patronage was going
to be a very difficult problem,

The second issue of L'Oeuvre came out in Spring 191 . It
contained an article by Jeanneret entitled Le Renouveau dans 1'Architecture.

In it he advocated the use of new materials to solve structural problems

and gave comparison between the DOme des Invalides and Perret's Grande
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Selle du Théatre des Champs Flysées, and quoted the Gothic builders

as having lived up to the technology of their age, On housing he
critized the use of unnecessary ornamentation which was completely un—

related to the form and use of the bullding 3

"Is it that we have reverted to savages afier
twenty centuries of culture and that we have
taken up once more the craze of tatooing;

are we not sufficiently civilized to enjoy the
beautiful proportions of the material alone in
a shape, simply and rationally adapted to serve
its purpose',

A modern style could emerge, he wrote, but not from copying styles of
the past, although at the same time being aware that he himself was
at a loss to produce such a style,

He used Karl Moser's building for the University of Zurich
as an example of a modern undecorated style that was emerging., He

advocated 3 -

"The debate presents itself thus: bring about
changes by bringing about a union between our
present way cf living and the things we use
for this, In Architecture make facades and
buildings which are not merely masks, banish
the harlequinade from this sector, stop paying
attention for several years to the protests of
the reactionaries", &6

This was the first real statement about the contemporary architectural
scene that he had made up to this time,

In the same issue of L'Oeuvre was published the result of a
design competition open to school~-children and apprentices from all

over Switzerland, There was a large entry, but the standard of design

was not considered high by the jury.87 Jeanneret as one of the judges
Jhe entravtts,
gave short shrift tot‘critizing their lack of comstructional knowledge,

he
understanding of plan form and their copying from pattern books of their

patronTs work,

The jury which also included L'Eplattenier, recommended a new

approach to the teaching of art and design in the schools and colleges

before any real improvement could take place in thc standard.88
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At Christmas in 1913, Jeanneret visited Paris again, spending
some time in the Bibliotheque Nationale on history and town planning
studies,89 returning in the new year to an improvement in his practice

work but an increased tension over the future of ILa Nouvelle Section .

In March the newly elected school board officially closed the course.90

Jeammeret described the decision to close the course as
follows

"En Séance de Commission de direction du 12 mars
191, les conclusions du président de la
Commlssmon de L'Ecole d'Art, M. Hirschy, et du
secretaire M. Graber, malgre les protestations
du troisieme membre présent, M, Albert, visaient
4 la supression des cours institués en 1911 et
unanimemant acceptés par la Commission d'alors,
et sous prétexte:

a ) que la Nouvelle Section n'avait plus d'éléves,

b ) que le but envisagé n'était qufune utopie,

qu'une chose de lu¥e (M, Graber): La Commission

de 1'Ecole d'Art est un rouage administratif de la

comnune, qui reconnaissant qu'un organe n'est pas

utile, envisage de son devoir de le supprimer”, 91

L'Eplattenier's response to this move was to hand in his
resignation, almost immediately to be followed by those of his three

agsistant teachers, Jeanneret, Perrin and Aubert, The three young men

then made use of their unexpected free time under Jeanneret's direction,

to prepare a leaflet on the history of La Nouvelle Section and the
reagsons why it should continue, The production was a well organised
affair, carried out in a remarkably short space of time and cost 30

centimes, It was entitled Un Mouvement d'Art 2 la Chaux—de—Fonds a

propos de la Nouvelle Section de L'Ecole dl'Art . 92

Jeanneret, by then, was well aware of the value of publicity
and he obtained many letters of support from internationally famous
architects and designers that he had come to respect and know in his
student days. These included M.E. Grasset, M.K.E, Osthaus, Professor
P, Berhens and T, Fischer, These, together with a group of concerned

citizens of La Chaux-de~Fonds, had been sent a letter and a set of

photographs of students work, describing the aims of the course and a
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short history of its development., It was signed by ihe opposition
nembers and ex-members of the school board and some of the town's
citizens, 1211 mt one replied, strongly supporting the retention of
the course., The reply from “cthaus was typical :

"Apres un examen approfondi des documents
representatlfs de votre enseignement que

vous m'avez envoySs, j'al acquis 1s
persuasion que les nouveauz cours institués
par vous sont en accord intime avec ceux qui
sont aujourd'hui en valeur dans les écoles
d¥art industriel d'Allemagne. Pour autant
que je le sache, on aspire actuellement

en France, & des réformes semblables i

celles que vous avez realisees, parce qufil

a également été reconau lia-bas que les anciens
principes dtenseignement ne répondent plus
aux besoins des détenteurs de 1Tindustrie
contemporaine, Une persistance dans les
modes d‘enseignement qul faisaient foi dans
votre ancienne école signifierait, pour vos
é1éves, 1Texclusion de toutes les mellleures
places dans la vie industrlelle. Jlesgpére donc
que vous réussirez & convaincre les autorités
compétentes de l'importance de vos bases
d'enselgnment et je vous souhaite la meilleure
réussite dans cette voie", 93

The leaflet wag an energetic appeal to the town to recognise that
Ia Nouvelle Section had been the beginning of a La Chaux-~de~Fonds

modern art movement, In the conclusion Jeanneret and his friends put
the blame on the school board, The publicity aroused a considerable
amount of discussion and after investigation L'Eplattenier was offered
back his post but the course was not reinstated, The three young
teachers were given a chance to withdraw their resignations.94
Perrin was the only one to return to the school to take over
the running of the new combined design class at the end of April,
LtEplattenier, Jeanneret and Aubert turned down the Board's offer and
left in May., Jeanneret confirming his resignation,wrote to the board
that he no longer had eny interest in teaching engravers or jewellers.95
Nevertheless, despite the start of World War One in August 1914,
Jeanneret was to be kept very busy in his practice for the rest of the year,

principally working on a large housing scheme design in the town and the

development drawings, with Du Bois, for the Domino project, He had 56
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abandoned, for the time being, Ritter's assessment of the artist in him,
made in a book inscription at the start of the year

"A Charles-Edouard Jeanneret 1l'aquarelliste,

le dessinateur et 1l'écrivain si decides et

sommaires 1lYarchitecte si n'avant en tous

dommaines 1'artiste tres sincdre qu'estimenttant

ses vieux amis de Munich,

William Ritter
27 janvier 191, " 96

The next two years saw an increase in his journalism, the start
of two books and a certain amount of architectural work but almost no
development in painting, apart from some sketches when travelling or
staying with Ritter, He had very little time to spare for his other
activities,

In November 1915, Jeanneret complained to Max Du Bois that
another writer had stolen some of his ideas from the article he had
published the previous year in L'Oeyz;e.97 This may have been the case,
but the ideas were fairly common and several people in different countries
were starting to write on the same theme., Because of the pre-~war spread
of ideas by the large number of art magazines and the allocation of
considerable column space to art in newspapers, it had become increasingly
difficult to attribute them to any one source, Jeanneret had certainly
obtained many of his ideas this way, He was a keen reader of journals
on art and architecture and they had provided him with a necessary
contact with Paris which he and many others considered at that time still
to be the centre for new ideas.98 It was his understanding of these
elements of change that was important at this stage rather than
originality.

The winter of 1915-16 was a very frustrating period.

Jeanneret felt cut off in La Chaux-de-Fonds and it seemed that, for him,
the Doming project had lost its momentum,

He carried on working on his town planning book in the spring
of 1916 and considered that it was nearly ready for pu.blication,99

but was unable to complete it that year;lcx)travelling between La Chaux~



de Fonds and Paris to organise his new practice and the Scala Cinema
and Schwob house project kept him fully ogccupied,

William Ritter, like L'Eplattenier, was awere that Jeanneret's
inte;'est and enthusiasm was turning towards working in Paris, Jeanneret's
long serial letter to Ritter, written from 23 November 1916 to 27th Jamuary
1918, a period which included the difficult first year in Paris, shows his
increasing maturity and independence, When Jeanneret wrote of his
meeting with Ozenfant in January 1918 it brought the letter to an end,
Ritter must have realised that his mentor-like relationship would never
again be the same and he was to suffer the same feelings of neglect as
many others in La Chaux-de-Fonds, but without so much resentment,l 01

the correspondence was to continue between them for a mumber of

years but not to the same intensity.102
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CHAPTER / Architectural Practice and Max Du Boils

-
~

Up till the age of seventeen, Jeanneret had been brought up
to Sblieve he would enter the family éusiness of watch engraving and his
education had been geared to this end, His formal academic training
had stopped when he left school at thirteen and a half years of age to
Join the engravers course at the La Chaux-~-de-Fonds Industrial Art school.
He had had no early ambition to become an architect and had not con-
templated such a radical change in profession until 1904 when L'Eplattenier
suggested it to him when he was seventeen and near the end of his
engravers apprenticeship.1

LYEplattenier was in no doubt that Jeanneret had the necessary
design ability and intelligence to become an architect. The boy himself
was under the spell of L'Eplattenier and was mot very enthusiastic to
agsume the role his father had prepared for him.2 To become an architect
meant Jeanneret would have to continue studying and drawing, and stay on
at art school in the new Course Supérieur, The problem was tb obtain
his father's consent and to find some means of financial support: his
mnother was behind the change to architecture, She was ambitious for
both Albert and Charles-Edouard and possibly persuaded her husband to
accept the fact that there would be no-one in the family to take over
his business, His disappointment in both his sons was to last for a
number of years.3

As LlEplattenier's architectural experience was limited to
designing interior schemes, he persuaded an architect friend, René
Chapellez, to let Jeanneret observe the work of the assistants in his
office and to carry out some drawing under their supervision of the
house Chapellez was designing for L"Eplattenier,4 It is very unlikely,
as Le Corbusier was later to claim, that he had anything serious to do
with the design or construction other than the exterior wall murals,

‘ hnouses
The design is in the style of Chapellez' vernacular mountain chalet)and

at that time Jeanneret had no experience in architectwrs or building,
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He would have learned a great deal by observing and doing the simpler
tasks in the office and on the site and thereby contributing towards
or even earning his keep,

In 1906, the Course SuperPur received a commission for a house

including the interior design and furniture from M.L. Fallet, a member
of the school board,” The site was situated in the same area of
La Chaux-de-Fonds as L'Eplattenier?s house, Though this scheme was also
carried out in Chapellez! office, Jeanneret was capable of contributing
more to the design work,6 but still striétly in line with the same style,
Students from the course helped to decorate the walls and paid frequent
visits to the site when the house was under construction, Jeanneret
would have learnt a great deal in Chapellez' office about timber frame
construction, a system ideally suited to the very cold snowy winter
climate of La Chaux-de-Fonds.

In 1907, two similar houses were commissioned by two cousins,
M, Stobzer and M, Jacquemet, for another neighbouring site.7 The sites

of the two houses were adjoining the rue de Pouillerau on the same side

of the road as L'Eplattenier's house, The area must have been completely

undeveloped in 1908, a very pleasant, pine-wooded site, perched on the
mountain side above the town.8 This time Jeanneret knew enough to carry
out the working drawings without close supervision and the work was
vwhile he stayed in Vienna with Léon Perrin during the winter of 1907-08.'9

For style, both the Stoltzer and Jacquemet houses are deeply
indebted to Chapellez, In detail, they are different from the earlier
schemes, and show an improved understanding of three dimensional form
in the treatment of the balconies and windows, which may well have been
a genuine Jeanneret contribution,

None of Jeanneret'!s later schemes in La Chaux-de-Fonds and Le
Locle bear &ny resemblance to these three houses, ag - Le Corbusier

was to place no significance on these first projects, never even ack-

nowledging them in any of his numerous writings on his own work,
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Chapellez, towards the end of his life, strongly resented Le Corbusier's
lack of acknowledgement of the part these houses had played in his very
early training as an architect.lo )

- The time spent travelling and working during 1907 and 1908 in
Italy, Austria and Germany was a revelation to Jeanneret and his friend

Léon Perrin, When he finally arrived in Paris in July 1908, he fully

realised the importance of broadening his knowledge, and was grateful for

the chance to work in the Perret brothers! practice while having time

free for personal studies.ll

Ag Jeanneret had few architectural preconceptions at this time,

it is probable that the Perrets! use of concrete frame-work and infill
panels would have seemed to him a logical and acceptable method of
architectural design and he probably found the antagonism to its use

amongst architects at L'Ecole des Beaux Arts 1ncomprehensib1e.12

With money from his first month's pay packet from Perret's
office, Jeanneret purchased a second-hand copy of Violet-le-Duc's
Dictionnaire raisonné de 1'architecture frangaise du X1e au XVle

sidcle, 185/,
He inscribed the following on the fly-leaf of book one 3

"Jtachdte cet ouvrage le 1 aofit 1908 avec 1'argent

de ma premiere paye de M, Perret, Je ltai achetg

pour apprendre car sachant, je pourrai alom creer',
The choice of book was probably on the recommendation of Auguste Perret,
whom Jeanneret during the time in his office came to know and admire
as a person and architect, Violet-le-Duc's advocation of the
development of a modern style which, like gothie, would take advantage
of contemporary technology was important to Perret, and later was to be
an important principle of Corbusier's theories.13

*When Jeanneret returned t6 La Chaux-de-Fonds in October 1909,

L'Eplattenier gave him the problem to design a building for 'La Nouvelle

Section' that he had been trying to start in association with the art

school.14 L'Eplattenier considered that it was necessary to have a
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building specifically designed to facilitate the workshop principle

on which he had based his course, The brief for the school required
that a number of practical workshops should be arranged around a large
central studio, the individual form depending on the specialist require-
ments of the different crafts, encouraging an understanding of specialist
skills between the designers, apprentices and craftsmen to their mutual
benefit.15

The first studios to be bﬁilt were to be for sculpture in wood
and stone, furniture, casting, welding aﬁd pottery; later more studios
would be added for enamelling, mosaic, stained glass, decorative painting,
plastic (bakelite), embroidery and blacksmithing, An architectural
studio was not in LVEplattenier's original brief but was nonetheless
included in Jeanneret's scheme, Each individual studio would be in the
charge of a particular studio leader, a master craftsman, who, in turn,
was responsible to the Art School board, the craftsman being paid by the
sale of his own work and apprenticeship fees,

L'Eplattenier had drawn attention, in his earlier (1908) report
to the school commission, to the fact that his students, though still
studying, had earned 24,500 francs in fees from work already undertaken,
and in the near future the possibility of several large projects.
L'Eplattenier felt that they could look forward with confidence but that
the need for accommodation was urgent.16

The School Commission was favourably inclined towards the idea
but wanted time to think about it. The project was not spoken of again
until a meeting in October of 1908 when L¥Eplattenier was told that the
School Commission was unable to meet the expense at the time, He made
a plea for the decision to be reconsidered. Several of his students
were awalting the Commission's approval for the project, otherwise
they would Lave to look for work outside the town., The plea was

17

unsuccessful. Jeanneret and Perrin would possibly have returned to

La Chaux-de~Fonds earlier had the course been approved and a new building 62

permitted.



L'Eplattenier had based his plans for his course on that run

18

by the Ecole de Nancy, founded in 1901 for craftsmen, artists,

industrialists, apprentices and teachers under the direction of Victor
Prouve'.19

Jeanneret's art school scheme was produced by Jamuary 1910,
and contains a logical planning solution with the workshops arranged
symetrically around a central studio. The roof form and layout have
a girong resemblance to Bernhard Pankok's stark studio building of
1905-1906 in Stuttgart, based on similaf~craft workshop intentions.zo
Later Jeanneret was to say that the design had been inspired by the form
of a Carthusian monastery at Emma near Florence.21

The actual graphic presentation of the scheme is naive and
resembles the work of a second year student on his first complex i
architectural scheme, which was around the level of Jeanneret's design
experience at the time, It was a single line drawing done with little
comprehension of structure or detailed functional requirement., Roof
terraces appear for the first time in Jeanneret's work,

It wvas during the winter of 1909-1910, that Jeanneret had had
the good fortune to become re-acquainted with Max Du Bois.22 The
Jeanneret and Du Bois families were friends and when very young, the
two boys, Charles-Edouard and Max, knew one another, The Du Bois family
lived in nearby Le Locle and the Jeannerets in the neighbouring town of
La Chaux-de-Fonds. Du Bois was born in 1884, three years before
Jeanneret, and can recall when he went to the Gymnase de Neuchftel in
1901 he stayed in La Chaux-de-Fonds with the Jeanneret family for part
of his holidays, where they went ski-ing and climbing together, Then
in 1903 Du Bois left Neuchfitel to study civil engineering at Ziirich
Polytechnic (E.T.H.) 23 \

While at Ziirich, Du Bois took a course in reinforced concrete
design under Professor E, M8rsch who was also a director of the firm

of Wayss and Freytag of Neustadt in Germany, pioneers in the use of
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concrete and steel.24 Though Du Bois was most impressed by the wide
possibilities that this relatively new construction technlique offered,
his main field of study lay in railway engineering, Upon qualifying
in 1907 he obtained & post with the French firm of civil engineers

Geros et Loucheur, in Paris, and from there he was sent to work on a

new barrage scheme in the Auvergne.
In his free time Du Bois undertook the translation into French
of a book by M8rsch, the first of its kind, on the theory and practice
of reinforced concrete structures, It was published in German under
the title EisenbetoﬂbBau in 1906, The Du Bois translation was published

by Bérangers in 1909 as Le Béton Armé.25

-

In the book M8rsh discussed the theory and practice of several
reinfaorced concrete frame systems for factory construction then ir use
in Germany., He emphasised the advantages of these systems, namely,
the achievement of lightness of structure, small columns, unobstructed
interior spaces, the free facade and high resistance to fire, M8rsch
employed the word monolythe to describe the integral nature of reinforced
concrete,

Some time in the winter of 1909 Du Bois finding Jeanneret was
already aware of the possibilities of reinforced concrete, gave him a
copy of Mbrsch's book.26 Jeanneret was so impressed by the ideas it
expressed that he evidently sought work with M8rsch's office in Neustadt.
In a letter to Du Bois of early 1910 Jeanneret writes that he has been
unsuccessful in obtaining a job in M8rsch's firm and expressed regret
at not accepting a position in either of Considere's or Hennebique's
offices ~ both of which were French structural engineering firms working
in reinforced concrete.27 In the spring of 1910 he visited London,
possibly still in search of a suitable office to increase his experience,
but did not enjoy his stay.28

In the summer of the same year, L'Eplattenier obtained permission

from the school board to examine decorative art education in Germany,

64



and he asked Jeanneret to carry out the study.29 It was on this tour
that Jeanneret came into contact with an Impressive number of prominent

30

German architects, Dr, Jacques Paul in his thesis, has demonstrated

that these contacts were to provide him with his first introduction to
a relevant architectural design theory.31
During the nineteenth century the individual states that
constituted what is now called Germany were governed by ambitious
families keen to establish their individual regimes and aware of the
importance of an educated elite in both the arts and sciences, They
established architectural and engineering schools to train men to build
gsolid symbols of their power and increasingly the specialised constructions
of what was rapidly becoming an industrial society. The mystical and
purist, classical attitude that had been absorbed by architects from
painters like the Nazarenes at the start of the nineteenth century in
Europe, had provided the basis of a theory of design that proved applicable
to resolving the design problems in the new building types. Karl Schinkel
in particular, had demonstrated in both his drawings and architecture
the spirit of this new classicism in the first half of the 19th century.
Through the schools, ideas on planning, structure and proportion
were developed and a continuity of classical principles maintained
alongside technical expertise, Courses were developed under professors
who were also practicing architects and handbooks produced by them
provided detailed information on all aspects of architectural design.
The interest and backing from the states and the expertise available .
resulted in a widespread high level of design in all types of building,
particularly noticeable in industry and education, areas which did not
carry a great deal of prestige in France and England during the 19th
century, fhis approach continued into the united Germany of 1871,32
The architects Jeanneret met had been brought up in this

tradition, and while sometimes abandoning the clearly recognisable classical

detailing, they embodied the elements of classicism in their design
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approach and form, together with expertise in the knowledge of structures
and construction, He was impressed by them and their architecture.33
Jeanneret asked many questions of the men he met, ove olihom wakt
Karl E, Osthaus in Hagén, whose ambitions for the construction of
an ideal community were on a much grander scale than L'Eplattenier's
Utopian34 dream for the Pouillerau hillside above La Chaux-de-Fonds.
Though aware of the use of proportion through his prior
knowledge of the work and theories of the 'Beuroner'! artists, Jeanneret
was not yet, in 1910, sympathetic or knowledgeable of its practical use
in architectural design.
In Hagen Jeanneret had seen a house for Lauwericks designed
by the 'Beuron! inspired staired glags artist Jan Thornprikker, It had
attracted Jeanneret by the evident use made of a proportional system in

its design.35

The Munich architect, Theodor Fischer, demonstrated
to Jeanneret the proportional design method used in his own office
when he met him later on in his tour, Jeanneret was impressed by
Figcher and his architecture.36
The reason for the trip was the study of the decorative art
movement in CGermany, and this aspect was well covered by Jeanneret,
The predominance of notable architects he visited was not entirely due
to his own personal preference or from outside advice, The architects
had played a very important part in the realisation that it was
necessary to look at society as a whole in order to study the means to
improve the standard of design and thereby the quality of life, It
was largely through their activities and some enlightened manufacturers
that the Werkbund movement had been founded in 190837 and had effected
a demonstrable improvement in some fields of design for mass production,
Jeanneret organised the report on his study tour presented

in February 1912 to the School Commission in La Chaux-de-Fonds, under

two main headings, the first, L'Art au Service du Commerce, covering

aspects of manufacturing, marketing and typograpby, he had been
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particularly impressed by Peter Behrens' designs for the A.E.,Gs Compamy;

the second, L'Art au Service de la spéculation, Les "Citds — Jerdins"

was to prove the most illuminating for his future route through

architecture.38

He had found the Berlin housing projects under con~
struction in the suburbs interesting in all their aspects, including
the promotion and method of financing., While in Berlin, he had sent

Ritter a long letter about the Stadtebau -~ Ausstellung Exposition which

was on at that time, He sent the following account of the town planning
section showing that he had a very thorough knowledge of the subject

"I come immediately to the facts; Exhibition
Stadtbau, very tiring but very interesting.
Art brought into the street, and therefore

: into daily life, Germany especially gives a lot
then Austria and Fngland with its garden
cities (Hampstead, Bournville and Port
Sunlight), Holland, Sweden, Belgium, Zurich
and American cities which persist in their
geometric outlines,

Vienna show the results of the contest for
Karlsplatz, av, La Schwarzenbergplatz.

Vienna developed in concentric circles,
Berlin adopts the best design, radiating,
allowing entire forests to penetrate up to the
heart of the city, This is what was shown
in the exhibition of the projecte of Grosse~
Berlin, the practical project of Jansen and
the more utopic character of Bruno Schmitz

who hag as a motto 'where there is a will,
there is a way', but with architectural
solutions tendinz towards the grandiose.

Worth noting the exhibition of the contest
for the city of Gothenburg (Sweden), the
arranging of the Hamburg park (by Schumacher
of Dresden), the arranging of the cemeteries.
Various Fischer propositions, City of Hellerau
(Riemschild), Darmstadt, Stuttgert, etec. 39

While there he attended some of the talks and discussions and
was impressed by the important role of the developer in housing and town
planning, He was also interested by the Germans' use of the English
garden city idea, and the construction of large letable estates for
the lower middle classes on train routes in the suburbs of Berlin,

At a Werkbund Conference Meeting he had listened to a talk

on the future use of asbestos cement products that until then had been
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restricted in type to tile and sheet form, With the ending of
old patent rights in 1909 the material vas available to6 anyone to
exploitAO but to do this would require a completely new approach to
construction design. This must have been Jeanneret's first introduction
to a product he was applying to several of his early designs, In a
report on another speaker at the same conference, Jeanneret wrote 3

MAungstellung Ton-Kalk-Cement-~Industrie

Ce fut la grande prise de contact des industriels
du bAtinent avec les architectes ot les ingénieurs.
La lecon fut décisive; il n'est pas un architecte
qui né solt revenu de cette visite réveur ou
enthousiasme, une telle transformation dans les
éléments de la bdtisse étant faite pour bouleverser
cewx qui ont appris & croire en telles 11gnes parce

. que les matériaux employés depuisdes s iécles les
avalent établies comme immunables et pour donner
aux reveurs de nouvelles conceptions, aux hommes
partis & la recherche de la ligne moderne, des
grands champs en friche, Un air de liberte avatl
soufflé 1i.

Des conferences y étaitent données 3 tout instant,
JTentendis soulever devant les membres réunis du
Werkbund la question du Heimatschutz a 1lVoccasion de
la lutte entre les fabricants de tuiles et cewx
d'éternit: L'orateur demande Que le Heimatschutz
proclame, afin d'éclairer le public, que la seule
protection des vieilles oeuvres dans leur valeur
integrale, clest justement de discréditer la méthode
dite archéologique et de marcher de 1l'avant,

Un industriel parla de la crise créée par les fabriques
de ciment qui inondent le marché de produits nouveaux
déroutant 1'architecte dans ses applications et le
public dans ses gouts. I1 conclut, citant Fridjoff
Nansen: il n'y a qu'un chemin, Vorwﬂits b

Un autre orateur posa cette question: LTart est il

une fantaisie qui guide le materlau, ou est~ce le
matériau qui dicte la forme de 1'fart Il Jdisserta et
conclut que 1tarchitecte ne doit pas creer des formes
et les donner a 1'ingénieur, mais il doit lui~méme
connaitre les ressources intimes des materiaux et savoir
leur domnner la forme et 1'emploi adéquats, Il avait
montre le béton armé chassant le fer et la coincidence
de la création de nouveaux matérisux, La visite a
L'Exposition qui suivit ce discours, etait bien faite
pour dissiper les doutes sur la trandbrmation radicale
des formes d'architecture que vont decreter les
matériaux ,jpouveaux plus pratiques, plus economlques,
plus hyglenlqueu, incombustibles, et peut—etre bien,
tout aussi beaux en une application rationnelle,
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Si j'ar defini avec quelques details ces dewx

expositions de Berlin c'est pour bien caractériser

leurs tendances d'avant-garde, Je vais, sous forme

d'énumération signaler d'autres entreprises similaires," 41

He considered that England and France had lost interest in
the importance of quality design as expressed by the Arts and Crafts
Movement, despite the efforts of people like Ruskin and Grasset.,

Whereas Germany showed they appreciated these principles in the efforts
of the Biedermier and the Werkbund movements, with architects like
Peter Behrens, Bruno Pancock and Bruno Paul given work of the right
contemporary spirit to do. In the conclusion, Jeanneret said :

"Une étude telle que me 17a fecilitée la Commission de

1'Ecole d'Art, devrait &tre poursuivie par d'autres

encore: la merveilleuse Allemagne de 1fArt industriel

demande & &tre connue. A 1l'heure de la concurrence

internationale, 1'information aussi doit aller franchir

les frontidres, L'Allemagne est un livre dYactuaslite,

Si, Paris est le foyer dal‘art, 1'A11emagne demeure le

grand chantier de production, Les expériences ont été

faites la, les luttes y sont devenues effectives:

la bAtisse est €levée et les salles, avec leurs murs

historles, racontent le triemphe de 1l'ordre et de la

tehacité,

La Chaux~de-Fonds, Janvier 1912 LR

By 1913 his attitude towards the Werkbund was to be consider-
ably more critical but he never lost his appreciation of their early
approach to design for industry. The start of his later 1life consuming
interest in mass housing lies in this confrontation with the activities
of some of these early 20th century Germany architects, the products of
the previous centwry's classical tradition in architectural education,

On returning, at the end of the summer of 1910 to Munich, his
study tour completed, and with William Ritter's encouragement, Jeamneret
decided to obtain a job in Peter Behren's office rather than return to
La Cheux~de-Fonds,*> .

Behrens was away from Berlin and Jeanneret did not hear from
him until late in October when he was at last offered a job; he started
work in Berlin on November 1st, 1910.%4 Behrens! work for the A.E.Ge
firm hed impressed Jeanneret, as had the man himself when he had met him

on his sumer towr,45 but this initial opinion was to change during his
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five months in the Berlin office, Jeammeret's German was not at all
fluent and he had not studied the language, apparently on the advice
of William Ritter, which he was later to regret,46 so his relationships
with the other thirteen assistants was not an easy one, He certainly
envied them their confidence and technical ability and found their way
of 1ife totally alien, for no one appeared to him to be interested in
the problems of architecture or in painting or muSiC.47
Jeanneret was disappointéd with Behrens; he appeared to him
to be cold and too self-satisfied about his work, Jeanneret excused
Behrens' attitude by assuming he must be ill.48
In December 1910 in Berlin, Jeanneret heard Jacques Dalcroze
give a talk on his system of eur ythmics.4? His brother Albert had
Joined Dalcroze the previous year and was now a teacher at the Dalcroze
Institute at Hellerau, Jeanneret was impressed by Dalcroze's ideas,
in particular, the importance of thinking and learning about the meaning
of symbols, something that Jeanneret also thought was an important point
for architects to follow.5O That Christmas, he visited Albert at
Hellerau and was attracted by the architecture Heinrich Tessenow was
51

doing there, He had met him previously when compiling the La Chaux-

de~Fonds report and had been struck by his capacity for hard work, his
honesty and modesty in his own architecture.52
Early in 1911, Behrens office in the depths of winter seemed
intolerable and Jeanneret wrote to Tessenow to ask if he had a place
for a designer, but all Tessenow could offer him was another draughtsman's
Job and advised that it would not be worth his while to move so soon after
Joining Behrens.53
Though he did not enjoy his time in Berlin, Jeanneret, never-
theless, learnt a great deal, absorbing Behrens' method of architectural

detailing,his use of propor't;ions54

and methodical approach together
with the use of models during the design stage.55 The presence of

Mies van der Rohe in the same office towards the end of Jeanneret's
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period there, apparently ﬁent unrecorded by both of them, Walter Gropins
had also been a senlior assistant with Behrens but had leftq—k%Oh?oggzﬁier.
Jeanneret had made no friends in Berlin and was keen to get away,
Jeanneret's voyage to the Orient, with Athens as the principal
objective, had its inspiéation in a suggestion by Osthaus reinforced by

the period spent in Berlin.56

Greece, at that time was an 'Ideall, a
place to be visited by any German with cultural aspirations.

The Parthenon certainly had an effect on Jeamneret, he found
it an emotionally moving experience in the sense of Provensal'ls "Qgggﬁé
Idéal€ and spent many days on the Acropolis analysing why this should
be s0.°! He had approached it with a certain amount of trepidation and
had deferred his first visit for a day before climbing the Acropolis
on his own,

When he finally returned to La Chaux-de-Fonds in November 1911,
it was with very different eyes that he looked at his life and old ideals,

Jeanneret's teaching job, and those of Perrin and Aubert, were
ratified by the school commission at the end of December,58 In

January 1912, Jeanneret had opened his office in the Ateliers des Artistes

Réunis on the first floor of the old Convent building at No. 54 me Numa
Dros.59 He found it extremely difficult to settle down despite his
pleasure in his new office and the two commissions for houses he had
obtained,éo one for his father on a site on the ruePouillerau,the other
at Le Locle for Georges Favre~Jacot, the owner and founder of one of
the largest watch companies in Le Locle, manufacturing Zenith watches.6l
M. Favre-Jacot liked Jeanneret's scheme, which was a complete change
from the chalet type design of the earlier houses and showed the
influence of his time with Behrens in the rather formal simplified
classical style, The Jeanneret Pdre house was started soon after and
in a similar form, There were to be many problems throughout the
construction of both houses, It was his first experience of being in
gole control of a project and everything appeared to be difficult,

By the end of the summer 1912, when both houses were nearly complete,
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he was very critical of his own work and wrote the following in a letter
to Ritter :

"The modern moment I It is by having felt it

very deeply, more and more, that I have felt

myself set free, Under a vivacious flower,

there is always a corpse of last year, In

order to erect a tower, one must first dig a

hole, On the houses I have built this year

I have committed some anachronisms. I was

old, out of date, I allowed myself to

listen with one ear to what people say. I

was scandalously improper", 62

By November he was no longer so severe with himself and felt
that some of his intentions had been clearly expressed, particularly where
the cubic volume of the white stuccoed building read clearly against the

dark beech trees in the design of his father's house.63

He had also
regained the respect of his father and the pleasure of the rest of his
family by the care he had taken over the design and construction of the
house.64 His mother, during the influenza epidemic of 1918-19, was
convinced that it was the sunny aspect and hygienic design of the house
that had kept them free from infection.65
Both house structures were largely in reinforced concrete and
for some of the door panels,66 Jeanneret used for the first time 'Eternit?
abestos sheet, the material he had learnt about while in Berlin in 1910.67
To investigate the material further, he visited the Swiss factory at
Garis, near Basle.68 He was to make use of this material in many
schemes for the rest of his 1life, but at this time it was almost unknown,
Jeanneret also made several sketch projects during the year,
none of which came to realisation. One of these was for a house for his
Munich friend, August Klipstein, in a style very similar to that of the
Favre~Jacot house. Another was for the conversion of the Maison du Diable,
an old Jeanneret family house where his parents were then living.69
This must have been carried out before his father made the decision to

build a new house,.

When Jeanneret and Max Du Bois had met again over the 1911

Christmas vacation and started corresponding in 1912,70 py Boig had
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mentioned that he might have the opportunity to construct a factory in
Le Locle, This aroused Jeanneret's interest and in February he sent

the following advice to Du Bois in Paris :

"In fact you would do well to submit the framework

of your factory to me, I have acquired the habit of
making models from Peter Behrens, architect for the
A.E.G, at Berlin and practising properly in reinforced
concretes I could do you a verylikeable carcass,
sober and suitable, something fairly modern and perhaps
not too bade I am only speaking, it is understood of
putting into architectural proportions your work as an
engineer,

Try it, it might be a good thing for you. If it
is not, you can send me packing without any scruples", 71

Du Bois was too busy to feply immediately but Jeanneret persisted with
gentle hints that he should be made the architect for this factory and
possibly also for the house that Du Bois's grandfather wanted to build
in Le Locle, In July, Jeanneret again wrote to him s

Meesse I will not let go of your factory it must
be built with a super foundation of reinforced
concrete,

Good God I pledge myself to you body and

guts. We will make the factory a model one;

one which smiles at the workers. The rsfuge

of the proletariat these are words and

thoughts very suitable for these times eevose n 72

Jeanneret's interest in the factory was still there in December;

Meeeeohnd your factory in very beautiful concrete

will give grandeur to the site and will not

depricia?te ite

It is understood Master Du Bois God of Gods

I would 'accolerai' ...... if ever you did me such pleasure,

A problem of this kind is an attempt at architecture.

The grouping of large geometric prisms. Only the

rhythm requires it, only the relationship is concerned,

It is real architect work with new materials and the

introduction of new creations, You can see that you

must save the piece for me sesee’ 73

Despite all his pleading, the factory project was never to
materialise. That autumn he had submitted a scheme in a design
competition for a new Town Hall in Le Locle .ess in a letter to Du Bois,

he wrote 3

73



"I had attempted a 1little plece of art in your

mother town, a Town Hall which had been put up

for competition, they black balled me on all

counts, An "O0ld Swiss" type design was adopted

and I had done everything in reinforced concrete", 74

The judges may well have been right, it was not a distinguished
scheme that Jeanneret had submitted. Another competition project at
this time was held for a new art gallery in La Chaux-de~Fonds which was
won by L'Eplattenier and Chapellez; whether Jeanneret put in a design
is not yet known. (The construction did not take place until 1920).75

For Jeanneret, 1912 had been a year in which he had little
direction; 1913 was to show very little improvement. He was uncertain
as to what he should be doing in architecture and the separation that
had occurred between himself and L'Eplattenier had left him without a
mentor and supporter for his work, William Ritter had assumed part
of this role, but he considered Jeanneret as a painter rather than
architect and though that role had a strong appeal, it did not fulfil
the idealistic image that architecture held for him, He felt that he
was meant to carry out important tasks in society, an image that did

not accord with that of a water-colour artist, To Du Bois he said:

"I feel strong enough to become somebody one day,. X
You may well laugh, but ones needs must crouch

until one can joyfully spring up and act, I am

haunted by the notion of the great, useful and

noble building; that would be architecture", 76 S

The letters sent to Max Du Bois during 1913 indicate that
Jeanneret wanted him to fill the gap left by L'Eplattenier, Du Bois
was not such an idealist or dreamer as Jeanneret, but he was an ambitious
and resourceful young man, willing to give his friend some help, He
corresponded with him if somewhat intermittently, In Jeanneret's
eyes Du Bois had achieved a great deal; a flat and a position in Paris,
contact with new building developments and detailed knowledge of
reinforced concrete and its uses.77

In 1912, Max Du Bois joined a company called the Société

d'Application Industrielle as its secretary, and became far more

interested in business » than the practice of railway eng‘ineering.78 74



Later in the same year as a sideline he registered his own company under

the title Sociéte d'Application de Béton Anmé (SABA), Du Bois had

founded it jointly with two engineers, to exploit a patent they had
obtalned for a precast concrete lamp-post system and to promote the
construction of water towers, dams, hydraulic plants and other industrial

79 This rather basic type of enterprise,

works 1in reinforced concrete,
combining new techniques for relatively simple everyday objects, was
to appeal to Jeanneret for the next few years and he was to become

80 La Chaux~

involved in his own right on several similar projects,
de~-Fonds did not seem to be the right place to start such ventures and
he was to press Du Bois from this time on to find him some work in Paris
or provide him with the opportunity to start his own business there.81
At some stage in their discussions, Du Bois had suggested to
Jeanneret that M8rsch's 'monol he'82 principle for factory construction
wag suitable for housing. This idea could have been inspired by an

American book, publisked in 1912, entitled The Concrete House and its
83

Construction, by Maurice Sloan, ~ a book in Le Corbusier's library in

which Sloan wrote

"in bulldings which are designed on clagsic lines,
having square parapets and flat roofs, there is
probably no better construction than a reinforced
roof slab", 84

Jeanneret was keen to try out this new idea and, in a letter
to Du Bols early in 1913, he proposed that they should exploit M8rsch's
monolythe system reinforced concrete framing for housing @

"I'm on the way up. In a week's time I shall have

a comfortably established agency; even a reception

hall with a certain panache, an exceptional and

efficient (though demandings employee, a clerk, etc,

But La Chaux-de~Fonds does neither give nor render,

Thanks to the Socialists and the war, barely 10 houses

‘have been built, as opposed to 80 in good years,

And it looks as though it will get worse still,

So that I really must get out of here and I want to
look for work elsewhere,
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I therefore revert to my "Monolythic! proposal, and
rather than wait to be entrusted with the factory
concerned — for which everyone is fighting and
Jostling now — I should like to be tested either
with or without that particular factory (anyway,

I shall know about it in 8 or 10 days' time), but

at least with a worthy problem to solve, Here again
is what I suggest @

Engineers have no sense of proportion, this being

part of architecture, It is a matter over and above
mere building, And I feel absolutely ready for thats
your monolythic house | perfectly well-
designed factories, accurately equipped, costing the
right price, Not just a good-looking factory, —

but to build monolythic-type houses. To do otherwise
would be simply acquiring a very rewarding specialization
for one's client and an extremely useful one for pub-
licity purposes,

And since man can only survive in this filthy society

by useful contacts (and not by his intrinsic value, alas),

do be my sponsor on this occasion and I shall be prepared

to do the same for you with loyal good humour and the

best will in the world, TPlease see to it; I won't

sugar my request with vulgar compliments, but thank you

in advance,

Ch,-Ed, Jeanneret"
Le Chaux—~de-Fonds
January 17th 1913, 85

This idea was not taken up at the time but was never to be far
from Jeanneret's thoughts.

A year and a half later Jeanneret asked Du Bois if he knew of
any one who might be interested in purchasing a cement product factory
that was available in Neuchitel due to the death of the owner,S?
Though nothing came out of this particular proposal the two young men
continued to develop their interest in prefabricated concrete buildings,
sheds, factories, etce Jeanneret continually pressing Du Bois to
establish some sort of contact or business in this field that would
enable Jeanneret to come to Paris,

When the newly-elected Art School board closed the La Nouvelle
Section in March 1914, thereby bringing Jeanneret's teaching post to an
abrupt end, he could not have been too disappointed, though it made him

short of a steady income,



At about the same time, he had received an interesting new
project, the interior design for the new Automobile Club in La Chaux-—
de-Fonds.87 As Du Bois was already a member of such a club in Paris,
he was sent a questionnaire by Jeammeret on what the function of such
a club was and its environmental requirements, Jeanneret was keen to
produce a good scheme as the members of the new club would all be
potential clients; the ownershilzszg :: g_oégz ﬁ?j; jgig (implied a certain
wealth and carried considerable prestige,|. He described it to Du Bois
as ¢

"Explication nécessaire: Le Nouveau Cercle = Auto Club

de Chaux~de-Fonds le Pane du Temple, Quoi ] avec

tous lgs vendeurs, y compris les HautesFinances julv e

et chrétienne des montagnes", 88

In June 191/, Jeanneret worked on the development of a large
site for housing on the south side of la Ghaux—de—Fonds.89 The land
had been acquired by M, Arnold Beck, a builder's merchant, estate agent
and land developer living in the town, Under the terms of Jeanneret!s
draft agreement with M, Beck, Jeanneret was to receive a percentage of
the total profit made from the sale of individual ground plots regardless
of whether it was himself or Beck who effected the actual sale, The
two men were to be in partnership with regard to the development,
Jeanneret was also to have the sole rights to the design of the overall
estate layout, together with any architectural work required by plot
purchasers,go

In the two years since his return to Switzerland, Jeanneret had -
become very concerned at the indiscriminate development of the countryside.
He felt that new buildings had been constructed with no congsideration for
the character of the surrounding environment.91 M. Beck's site enabled
him to consider the problems in practical terms., For inspiration he
turned to the Hampstead arden § gburb scheme, copying many of the
sketches and tracing a layout plan eventually producing for Beck's site

a sketch layout very similar in form and housing type.92 There could

have been little hope of realisation of this project and no fees were
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involved as it was still only a speculative idea, It, nevertheless,

gave the first opportunity for Jeanneret to put into practice his

interest in the total problem of planning for the individual and

soclety, inspired by the Berlin projects first seen by him in 1910.93
Apart from minor alterations, Beck was agreeable to Jeanneret's

proposals but was never to follow them u{p.9zP It was not a good time

for developers in 1914, The coming of the war in the summer was

almost a welcome event to Jeanneret, He wrote several times to Du Bois

heavily emphasising the importance of the engineer at such a time and

repeating his long held wish to be in Paris 3

"I still hope for a pied—é—terre in Paris,

I'm suffocating here, The Perrets are very kind and
Auguste is most friendly. As you know, circumstances
will shape a man., I shall be ready on the day that
much is asked of ME seseses’ 12,6,1914%

MeossoWell, yes, so what? When I become Mr, Jeanneret,
Architect, possibly the proud owner of a car since

that seems to be the pinnacle of glory — then I

shall be loste I shall belong to the radical party,

to the Freemasons, and who knows what else, This

war, which will give victorious France a fantastic
nomentum, excites me and forces me to make plans

for the near future,

We are at a turning point in the history of architecture,

The Engineers have done it all (the only respectable
people so far) but the impetus has begun in 1914

and modern Paris will blossom and be born anew,

That is where I yearn to be: a mason in the

team, I already have my materials to hand and my
whole devotion is to the thought of France., And to
the hundreds who will be the heroes of this new dawn.

In a pre-war paper, Auguste Perret was mentioned as
becoming the undisputed head to whom should be entrusted
the erection of the Grand Palais of the Arts on the
former ramparts, an international exhibition hall for
the beauties of art and the achievement of industry,.

Paris has it made; +this time she will leap over

the past obstacles, Why should I not be there at this

time 2"  15.9.1914. 9%

In the autumn of 1914, Jeanneret managed to leave La Chaux-de-
Fonds for a visit to Paris, to investigate the prospects of working

there and to carry out some historical research for his book at the

Bibliothéque Nationale, but he had to return home after a few weeks
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as the war intensified, o Soon after, Max Du Bois, on
his own initiative, organised the evacuation by train of the Swiss
comnunity in Paris and returned to live for a short while at Les Brenets
near La Chaux-de-Fonds, ~ He returned to Paris at the end of the year
at the behest of the Swiss legation to co~ordinate the wartime trans~
portation by rail of food supplies arriving at European ports destined
for Switzerland.98

The German army's advance into Belgium left behind it large
areas of devasation, The great number of houses destroyed and the need
to replace them as rapidly as possible aroused immediate concern in the
Belgian and French governments and because it was the general European
“view that the war would not last more than a few months, it was thought
that immediate plans for reconstruction should be prepared, The problem
received a great deal of publicity at the time.99

Although industrialised systems for housing on a mass scale
did not then exist, Jeanneret realised that the use of the monolythe
structural system for housing was a possible solution to the problem.
While Du Bois was in Switzerland (November/December 1914) they
worked together on such a system using the monolythe principles of

100 This event was the start of the Domino idea,

Professor M8rsch,
later publicised by Le Corbusier, and so called because of the similarity
between both its basic structural diagram and assembly method, to the
appearance and Juxtaposition of the pieces in the game of Domin.oes.101
Du Bois' responsibilities lay with finding the necessary:
factual information and later with the structure, patenting procedure
and the need to find a financial backer.102 Jeanneret was to design
several house types on the Domino principle together with alternative
estate layouts, In January 1915, Du Bois, soon after his return to

Paris, received the following letter from Jeanneret s
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"I have two important projects in sight, but I want
to keep myself totally free until Spring, by which
time our study should be complete in its organisation
and smallest details, and sponsored by the people to
whom we are looking for supporte.

Which is why, &s the days and the months go by, 1
become panic-stricken lest we get caught up and
lose all the advantages of our discovery which is to
establish whole villages,

May I remind you of the information I expect from
you on the room plans, their suitability for everyday
life, the size of the rooms. Pleasc look up in
libraries information on modern Belgian architecture
and have it ready for me when I arrive,

I would also need street plans of villages showing
their organisation in those regions, with their customs,
I shall have an assistant for my office (and already
have one here who is helpful) ecocsoeces

- saessossse I think of all this and climbing up to the
top of my tower (as it were) I look out afar for news
of you, Hope to hear from you soon 1" 103

Jeanneret's air of indecision had gone., There was a purpose-~
fulness and certainty about his whole attitude to his work that he was
never to completely lose in the years ahead,

It was clear to those concerned governments that new techniques,
materials and forms of organisation would have to be developed to attempt
large scale rehousing, In this, Jeamneret could see the opportunity to
make a real contribution to the quality of life of a large number of
people, which, he must have felt, gave meaning to his earlier training
and was to become a major concern for the rest of his life,

For the details of the house types, Jeanneret referred to the

work of Alfred de Foville, statistician and founder of 'L'Institut Francais

do Statistique.1%% Foville had produced in 189/ a study of working-

class housing in various reglons of France, recording social details,
family nmumbers, income, type of work and lifestyle, together with the
accommodation provision, For Jeanneret this was an invaluable source
of information.

Before the Spring of 1915, he had ready the elements of a gystenm
suitable for mass production that allowed for variation in plan types

and cladding materials, The structure, a reinforced concrete frame
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based on M8rsch's principles, was the same for all units, allowing

for the repetitive use of formwork, Infill walls made use of locally
available material, In the Belgian case this would be rubble from
the destroyed buildings with a skin of rendering to protect it from
the weather, Window designs would be standardised and much of the
essential room furniture built in.105

The perspective view of the reinforced structure, illustrated

in Qeuvres Compldtes1910-1928 is given considerable prominence and

demonstrates dramatically the freedom from the discipline of the
structural wall. This drawing almost certainly is not from this period,
but from 1921 when it first appears as a very small sketch in Né?. /13
of L'Esprit Nouveau in the article "MaisonsEn Serieg". In 1914
Jeanneret's designs show little understanding of its full potential,
Jeanneret was still concerned totally with the mass production and
flexibility problems of different housing typess The columns were still
wmeh cemd egualivy welly -
buried inFﬁi;qﬁﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬂ%iﬁﬁggg4%raditional load bearing construction, All
the types had flat roofs, though only used in one version as roof garden,
The flat roof was advocated in Sloans book and wac already a commonplace
occurrence in reinforced concrete industrial structures. Some

influence may have come from Garnier's Cité Industrielle which Jeamneret
6

knew of; Carnier he had met briefly in 1907,1°
Jeanneret and Du Bois had planned to open an office in Lille,107

to promote their project, but to no avail., Hostilities did not come

to an end as rapidly as had been expected and Europe set about preparing

for a long war, The main emphasis was changing to the need for

munitions factories, power plants and military barracks, Jeanneret,

far away from the war in La Chaux-de-Fonds, found Du Bois' lack of

response to the housing project incomprehensible but Du Bois realised

that new housing was no longer an immediate priority.108 Jeanneret

wrote again to Du Bois in March 1915 :
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"Wouldn't you like to reconsider our houses of
reinforced concrete? Let me know as soon as you feel
the time has come, not to build yet, but to get ready

I remember your chap with the hotel and offices,

Are you keeping him simmering? Find a site and we'll
be off with the first plans. Paris will become the
rallypoint for years not only for the triple, but for
the multiple entente of nations, People from
Ingland, Italy, all over will have to come to

Paris for talks, A building will be needed for

them — a superb edifice of reinforced concrete, Vhat? I

It will be enough to reach a seventh heaven of culture
and sink Boche progress }

Lay the foundations, Du Bois, seize the opportunity
please, I need say no more”, 109

For the next year Jeanneret continued to urge Du Bois to action
on the Domino project, but his letters became less pressing and he
evidently began to recognise the logic of investigating other building
types : | -

"T went to see Auguste Perret in the south of

France, I subnitted my plans of reconstruction to

him and he found them very good. He made no objections

other than to say that our moulding process could

also be used for the factory, the school, the public

buildings, etc.". 110

None of the Monolythe housing work was earning Jeanneret any
money, nor were his services greatly in demand, His reputation of being
an gvant pgerde designer and somewhat dictatorial in attitude towards his
clients, did not encourage those with money for new houses to come to

his door, The Auto Club commission had produced no more clients, though,
oddly enough, and possibly because of his stand in 1914 against the
socialists on the School Commission, he was asked to do the interior
design for a new house for two brothers, Ernest Albert and Herman
Ditischeim.111 They were well established watch manufacturers, with

a large factory in La Chaux-de-Fonds producing Vulcain watches, A

girl from.the family was attending Mme, Jeanneret'!s piano classes,112

a connectlon which may have been another contributory factor as her

parents would have become familiar with the villa Jeanneret Pére built

in 1912, Jeanneret certainly took a great deal of trouble over the
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interior designs but was to find the Ditlischeim brothers difficult and

exagperating clients, Wartime problems and the antagonism between

himself, the buildersl13 and the architect of the house did not help.

In January 1915, Jeanneret, together with Max Du Bois and

Juste Schneider, a Swiss engineer working with SABA, submitted a scheme

for a competition for the design of the Butin Bridge in Geneva, 1A prolitsiton
on the use of reinforced concrete meant that any design

had to be of very heavy stone construction, a condition they did not

agree with but nevertheless complied, Their submission, & multi-arch

stone structural solution, had no success, Later it was found that

the winning design would be almost impossible to construct and the
!

bridge that was eventually built made good use of the forbidden material.ll5

Du Bois was still mindful of his friend's long felt and earnest
wish to join him in Paris and he now provided him with this opportumnity

by offering him in July of 1915 the post of consultant architect with

SABA working together with Schneider.116 Far from expressing delight,

Jeanneret replied critically on 28th July 1915 :

"Your letter reached me safely, I await Schneider's
visit; I imagine he has enough information to come and
talk to me, I'1l answer you after seeing him,

In principle I think we should find someone to organize
this business even though I might then describe myself
as Advisory-Architect for all architectural matters,

The suggestion that I should move to Paris for 250
francs per month is hardly possible, as you can well
imagine,

I am working here on a Variety Theatre with 1200

seats, to be built within 3% months; furthermore a very
eccentric villa in reinforced concrete, Also two large
blocks of flats are being considered, Finally a seaside
villa in the Maure Hills, In other words, a hell of a
lot of work, hardly a second in which to relax,

But business in Paris will have priority. All the
same, the thing must be worked out with a modicum of
dignity. We'll be in touch again soon, after Schneider's
visit.

Ch., Ed, Jeanneret

See things on a large scale: there will be deals other
than our houses; factories, residential streets in large

cities",
17 - 83



However in the August of 1915 Jeanneret travelled to Paris
to discuss the possibility of his consultancy work for SABA and pressed
Du Bois for better condi.tions.118 He also wanted\him to reactiviate the
Domino pfoject as a golng business propositiog and find a publisher for

119

a completed book on "Construction des Villes", Jeanneret's plan, set

out in his 1915 sketch-~book called for Du Bois to obtain the necessary
patents for the structure of Domino, for which the applications were to be
submitted by September, He himself was to be responsible for the pro-
duction of an iliustrated brochure, ready for the printers by December 1915.
The headquarters for Domino were to be established in Paris by January 1916,
The expectation is clear

"Si ¢a marche, Jeanneret s'installe définitivement
4 Paris". 120

These words, indicating Jeamneret's intention cof settling in Paris, place
considerable doubt on the apocryphal stories of hi; agony of indeclsion
in the Frankfurt railway station,

By September 1915, Jeanneret had writien the copy brochures

called Constructions Feconomiques Extensibles en Béton Armé and Maisons en

Béton Armé-Systems, stressing the self-build aspect once the framework
121

was in place, A cost and a profit analysis was appended. Du Bois had

already obtained a patent, No. 81490, for the system.122
In the 1915 August trip Jeanneret also contimued his research,

at the Bibliothégue Nationale, On this visit he must also have talked

over very seriously with Du Bois the possibility of working permanently in
Paris but on terms more to Jeamneret's liking., Du Bois was still sympathetic
and they made provisional plans for Jeanneret to come in January 1916 to work
with SABA on the expectation that the situation would have improved for the
Domino projects But a deterioration in the war for the allies and the lack

of interest from investors, meant that there was no work for Jeanneret and

he had to remain all that winter in La Chaux-de—Fonds.123
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In the winter, a few weeks after his return to La Chaux-de-~Fonds,
Jeanneret sent Du Bols the followlng :

"By conferring together we have found last year the
path to follow, I have since found the solution

and offer you the work I am presently doing (see below)
so that you should benefit from it just as I do.

You are the string-puller — admittedly a less taxing
job than mine, but nonetheless essential, Our
collaboration gives you this role, Play it I
play mine, that is to say that since my return I have
£8 weeks prepared the illusirations,

I have gone into the matter at some length and found
certain solutions which I claim to be staggering,

Thus, last week I have designed a large villa using
our process, a really grand villa costing per unit
(of cubic metres) exactly the same as a middle-class
house or a worker's cottage, Isn't that amazing?

I have examined again the garden-cities I had studied
earlier and have found many unchanging symptoms of
concordance with the most ingenious inventions.

I have studied the question of 'standard! windows,
doors, bannisters, balconies, fences, cornices,

One can produce, using this method (i,e, building at
the lowest price imaginable) interior dwellings such
as I should like to have for myself,

Order, rhythm, and unity reign in our invention,

These are qualities that it would take others a mighty
long time to find. Well Du Bois, all this 1s made

to be used I A word to the wise is enough 1"

Le Chaux-de~Fonds
Winter 1915 124

In January 1916 Jeanneret was still in La Chaux-de-Fonds.125
He and Du Bois had decided to postpone their main promotion for a year
though the Donino patent drawings were complete and a patent obtained,
there were still some details in the proposed SABA company agreement
that Jeanneret felt needed resolv:lng.l'?6 Du Boils was slow to reply
to Jeanneret's letters which caused him some concern in case the scheme
should be pirated and its principles exploited by others, for they had
spoken freely to many people during the scheme's development period,
Jeanneret was frustrated at being so far from the events at the centre

127

of his interests, Something, he felt should be happening, In

March he wrote a long letter to Du Bois, chiding him for not getting 8 5



something done in the way of promotion or capital which he saw as his

responsibility.128
Jeanneret had very little practice work to do, apart from

writing to anyone wharhe ;hought might conceivably sponsor Dcmino,

He did write enthusiastically to Du Bois about an exhibition to be held

in Paris at the 'Jeu-de-Paume' some time in the summer of 1916, which

was to be entitled Lz Cité Reconstruite, He proposed that SABA

should erect a Domino house to demonstrate the variety of room arrange-
ments possible within the system, for a building cost of between 3,000
and 4,000 francs.l29

A few weeks later Jeamneret was to change his mind about the
;alue of exhibiting Domino., He had heard that Perret would have nothing
to do with the exhibition, objecting to the fact that it was being

promoted by Jourdain & Co., & leading Paris construction firme, Perret

believed that one unified building company should be formed to carry

out post-war development with a fixed price contract system, Architects,
in his view, ought not to have to peddle their wares for whatever fee they
could obtain, but receive an agreed fee for a particular commission,
Jeanneret was now in agreement with Du Bois who all along had'felt that

it would not be worthwhile for SABA to take part merely to exhibit its
ideas to all comers.13O

In the summer of 1916 Jeanneret visited Du Boils to see La Cité

Reconstruite exhibition staying in the small flat that Du Bois had

, 131 .
rented in the Avenue du Trocadero, Though the Job with SABA did not seem
to offer enough financial inducement to Jeanneret and no promoter had

appeared for Domino, he was still very keen to settle in Paris, The

menager of SABA, a bullder called E.L. Bowand, was willing, with Du Bois,
132

to back him in forming a Paris practice; in consequence

a partnership agreement was drawn up between Jeanneret, Du Bols, and

Bornand.133
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The purpose of the agreement was to set Jeanneret up in a
new practice in Paris to undertake research, civil engineering
projects, factories, housing and town planning schemes, The conditions
reqpired each partner to contribute 10,000 francs as capital when called
upon to do so, Jeanneret was to have sole control of the practice and
management of the business presenting an annual account to his fellow
partners, Profit was to be equally shared and Jeanneret, who would

receive a salary of 500 francs a month from the partnership account,

could keep his practice in La Chaux-de~Fonds completely separa,te,n4

In Paris he would have a small office at the headquarters of SABA, in
the Rue Belzunce, a narrow street near the Gare Du Nord, available from

October 1st 1916.135 Returning from Paris, Jeanneret found several

136

commissions waiting for him in the La Chaux~de~Fonds office, so that,

although he had hoped to return to Paris and to settle there by mid-September,
he wag unable to do so until February 1917. He was to defer his

departure several times because of the pressure of work in his office,

The next letter, sent in September 1916, was one of a number received

by Du Bois during the next few weeks :

"My dear Du Bois

Your last letter of 29th August has reached me safely,
I have read it but not studied it in depth yet.

I have ready for you a whole series of files concerning
the Domino houses; these were prepared for the
prospectus we shall have to issue some time; I will
send them to you on Monday.

I am delighted to hear that you are able to set the
foundations for the use of our ideas, Thank you,

I am so overflowed by work at the moment that I must
ask you to let me have a longer period ofgrace than '
until 15th September before I come to Paris, I need
Just a 1ittle time to send off indispensable plans
for a villa which we are starting to lay down on
Monday and the framework of which must be erected
within a month, My Cinema 1s progressing snappily;
the idea was to establish over the medocre terrain
involved an wrbrella under which all could work,

This has been done and all labourers are getting on
with their work under shelter,

So I shan't answer your suggestions today, but shall
examine them at leisure in five days'! time and write
to you then,
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I should be able t4 come to Paris for a final agreement
in 15 or 20 days' time. There are four of us at the
moment in my office,

A1l the best, on this 8th day of September 1916,

Ch, Ed, Jeanneret

La Chaux-de-Fonds
September 8th 1916 137

The origins of the Scala Cinéma project are still somewhat
Chapelle%} office,
obscure, It would appear to have been a job originated in 1915 from

138

as the plan drawings carry his signature. On July 3rd 1916, in the

Feuilles d'Avis, there appeared a notice for a competition for the design

of the facade of the cinema, open to pupils past and present of the art
school, with a handing in date of July 15th. One of the three judges

wag René Chapellez, The developer behind the scheme was M, Alfred Riva.139
It would appear that Jeanneret won this competition and took over the
project from Chapellez., Jeanneret was described, in the report on

the cinema's opening four months later, as the architect. The structure
wag entirely in reinforced concrete and great attention was paid to

its incombustibility, and to the fact that the roof was built first and
acted as an umbrella for work on a difficult site.140

The facade design is probably indebted to the influence of
Theodor Fischer,141 but the interior could be any cinema of the period.
The important factor was the clear span and short building time possible
through the use of concrete, something which Jeanneret may well have
persuaded Chapellez to use and which eventually allowed him to take
over the scheme,

Unfortunately, soon after opening, after ihe first winter
falls of snow, problems occurred with the roof drainage, due, according
to Jeanneret, to changes in plan by Riva and the contractor ignoring his
detailing and not observing the regulations.lAz Whatever the cause,
Riva refused to pay Jeanneret's fees and a long wrangle began that was

to last for several years,l43 with no satisfactory conclusion,
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The concrete structure for the cinema had been erected very
quickly; 1ts speed of construction had impressed the owner of the Cyma
Watch Company, Anatole Schwob, uncle of Lucien Schwob a friend and
fellow student of Jeanneret.144 Schwob, like the Ditischeim brothers,
came from La Chaux-de~Fonds' Jewish community, He was one of the more
recent arrivals and, according to Léon Perrin, was very keen to make an
impression in the town. He must have considered that a house con-
structed on the same method and by the same architect as the Scala Cinema
would meke a similar iﬁpact. Jeanneret was commissioned early in
September 1916 to build him a house on a site in the rue MNuma Droz to
be completed by the end of February 1917.74° During the design stage,
both men were carried away by their own enthusiasms and 1little attention
vas paid to analysing the cost of any items or variations. When the
time came to present the construction costs, the total amount was almost
three times the original estimate of 100,000 francs, Schwob was
furious and in a confrontation with Jeanneret, accused him of taking
a percentage of the builder's fees.l46 In Switzerland, as in France,
the architect was in the position of general contractor and did not,
as in England, act as a disinterested party to settle disputes between
the client and builder, Jeanneret was extremely indignant that such
an accusation should even have been thoughtof and stormed away from
the meeting, He continued right out of the town taking the first train
he could catch to Paris, only stopping long enough to collect his
clothes, say zoodbye to his family and give Léon Perrin the job of
supervising the completion of the last details of the house.147

This dispute, together with the argument over the cinema, meant
that Jeanneret received only part of his fees, and Perrin possibly
no payment at all and no commission for providing relief sculpture for

many of the blank panels in the house.148

149

Neither the Scala nor Schwob project fees were ever to be

satisfactorily settled and the supporters of the different sides were
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to continue the arguments for several years, Jeanneret, from that
time on , only returned to the town for short visits to his family,
vho eventually in 1921 moved away after his father had retired from
work.l5o )

The Schwob house made use of the Domino concrete framework,
brick only being used as a cladding material, The plan was similar
in form to his father's house but the facade designs are the first
indication of his own design ideas using a proportional system. It
was a big house, well built and probably worth the money., The family
liked the house and some years later, Jeanneret received an enquiry from
the brother of Anatole Schwob, to design a home for him on an adjoining
éite.15l The house today is well cared for and still has a connection
with the Schwob family.

Jeanneret thought of this scheme as his first real architectural
statement and it was the only project from this period to be acknowledged
by him in L'Esprit Nouveau, and Vers une Architecturc,

The house design itself 1s wuncoordinated and lacks three—

dimensional understanding; there is still no real evidence of any use of
the design potential inherent in the Domino structure principle, The
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Golden Section angle system of proportion wag used to place elements

of the facade, but like the Domino system, it was still just a technique,
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PART 2
PARIS 1917 - 1925
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CHAPTER 5 Artist - Amédéde Ozenfant and Purisme

Jeanneret made the train journey that was to take him finally
to Paris on February 9th 1917.1 He had already been on one of his
flying visits there in January but possibly had had to delay his final
departure from La Chaux-~de-Fonds until he could secure sufficient of his
outstanding fees to complete his part of the Paris practice partnership
with Du Bois and Bernand, Unfortunately, the disputes over the con~
struction costs with both Schwob and Riva had delayed the settlement
and Jeanneret had had to borrow money on account from a bank in la
phaux—de-Fonds.2 His final meeting with Schwob must have been very
frustrating, Not only were his feelings hurt but his future prospects
in Paris were very much in the balance.

Du Bois put him up in his flat3 until Jeanneret could take
over the lease of a small epartment in 20 rue Jacob, belonging to a
Professor Levy who was moving to Strasburg.A He was lucky to find a place
of his own, accommodation was becoming desperately short,

Jeanneret knew few people in Paris, His painter friends from
La Chaux-de~Fonds had returned home at the start of the war, so that Max
Du Bois's introductions to people like RaouJ.La.Roche? a Swiss banker working
in Paris with an interest in contemporary art, were very important to him.

Perret also helped him to make contacts, He invited Jeanneret
to some of the thursday luncheon meetings of artists, writers, musicians
and actors that he organised,6 despite the grim conditions under wﬁich
Paris was existing at the time. The German artillery was bombarding
Paris and the German Army was within striking distance., Morale in the
Allied Army was at a very low ebb, The winter was a particularly hard
one, no fuel and very little food, Jeanneret found the first few months
very cold and lonely., To help, he painted a sunlit palm tree lsndscape

on the wall of his room at No, 20 rue Jacob, to give some illusion of

warmth.7 He missed La Chaux-de~Fonds and his family and friends8 but
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his pride kept him away from home for the next two and a half years
with only a few letters to his family; it was a complete severance and
was to result in many hurt feelings amongst his friends.9
During the day &eanneret worked hard at the newftask of
‘businessman and developer plus what little architectural work that was
to come his waye In the evenings and weekends he drew and painted,
sometimes taking trips out of Paris on his own or with Du Bois' Swiss
Sunday grou.p,lo He had time to think and became increasingly dis-
satisfied over the year with his paintings. Water-colour no longer

11 He

provided any satisfaction, but any alternative was difficult,

had no quarrel with William Ritter and kept in regular correspondence

with him during 1917, He was sti1ll dependent on him as the only person

to whom he could communicate his emotional feelings and ambitions¢ Due to
Jeanneret!s

the war letters from Ritter were infrequent. He also possibly resente§?7

independence of action despite his earlier encouragement before the

war, Moewes Ritter was not interested in cubism and did not consider

12 It was this attitude that was to

the movement had any real value,
separate him from Jeanneret who, through his friendship with Perret,
wag coming into regular contact with a reviving artists' community in
Paris, War-wounded French painters and foreign artists were returning
to the city and taking up their work, New movements were springing
out of the roots of pre-war cubism,

In May 1917, Jeanneret went to the first performance of
Eric Satie's ‘Parade'.13 He heard Apollinaire calm the shocked and
annoyed audience who were shouting 'Sales Boches! and threatening to
destroy the interior of the Theatre du Chitelet. Apollinaire used the
phrase 'L'Esprit Nouveau'! as he had uéed it in the programme introduction
to draw people's attention to the possibilities of a new way of life that
1Parade' represented; at the end of his impromptu performance the

14

audience departed peacefully., YParade' was designed to shock, There

was no calm intellectual content, it was an occasion when art became
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involved with political life; its total irrelevance to the war situation



had apparently aroused a crowd of war-tired people to unite and they
vented some of their frustration on the seemingly frivolous performance.15

Ozenfant, who had been friendly with Perret for a number of
years}6 recalls meeting Jeanneret for the first time in May 1917 at
Perret’s studio, possibly to discuss the performance of 'Paradef,
Perret had been suggesting, for a considerable time, that Ozenfant
should meet this young Swiss architect,

Another friend Jeanneret made at this time, possibly through
Perret's luncheon group, was Charles Vildrac, a poet and owner of an
art gallery, Galerie Vildrac, and a man of some standing in Parisien
cultural life, Jeanneret became a friend of the family and later
“carried out some architectural work for them.17

In June 1917, the first issue of the journal of the De Stijl
group in Holland was produced by Piet Mondlan, Theo van Doesburg,
Vantongerloo, Vanthoff and Oud. Their emphasis was on the imporiance
of architecture and the need for the Engineer Archiilect to construct
logical rectangular forms using a proportional system.l8 These ideas
were available directly in Paris through an essay in two parts in

Mercure de France by Gino Severini, a member of the group.19 It is

possible that Jeanneret had read of their work by December 1917, when
he designed a large abattoir scheme for a competition, using the
Domino-Monolythic system.20 There are certainly many De Stijl principles
inherent in his project which bears no resemblance to earlier work and
definitely acknowledges the inter-relationship of engineer and architect
in the final form,

Jeanneret was well pleased with his scheme and considered it
his first real piece of architectural design.zl With his new eyes
there was 1little hope for the water-colour landscapes, On January 24th,
1918? he had lunch with Ozenfant and listened to what he had to say
with growing interest and enthusiasm. The same evening he wrote to

Ritter :
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"Lunch yesterday with Amédée Ozenfant, doors are
opening in Paris on all types of future, At last
a contemporary of my own age; whom I value greatly,
His painting is that of a mystic in the sumptuous
fashion of the most beautiful paste supple and

as if burnished.

Cubism bears its fruits; absolute plasticism,
truly beautiful; an impeccable technique and a
formal plasticism that supports all noble ideas,
What strange lessons one learns in Paris, What
progress in achievement eecececesees the positive
force today; modern painters have a touching
sincerity, of an ideal, of a spirituality which
leads towards a better expression, a genuine light
after so much brou haha, Science with which we
live always finds its own expression in art, it has
a noble desire ... " 22

He was never again to need Ritter's support; that period
of his life was over; he dett he naohad. an cbjective. ,  The main
problem was achieving what he knew he must do and having sufficient
financial backing to do it, His activities in business and industry,
vhile not being greatly successful, were to sﬁ%ply a considerable amocunt
of the necessary finance to develop his ideas and provide a means for
publicising his work over the next five years, ;

Amédée Ozenfant was born on April 15th, 1886 at S.t. Quentin,
His father was a building contractor with his own firm principally

23 and had worked with the

employed on large industrial schemes
structural engineer Frangois Hennebique on & large abattoir at St,
Quentin, He was also a friend of the Perret family, Ozenfant was
expected to join his father's firm and in 1905 was sent to study

architecture in the Paris atelier of Guichard et Lesage, At the same

time he studied painting and very soon abandoned architecture completely.

He went to the studio known as La Pa{lette in the rue du Val-de-Grace,

There he was taught by Jacques Emile Blanche, born in 1861, the son of

a fashionable psychiatrist, Esprit Blanche, who lived in a so-called

English co%tage in Paris. Blanche énd Ozenfant became good friends?4
The garden of this English cottage was later sold for

development and the La Roche and Albert Jeanneret houses were built

on one of the plots.
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Ozenfant also met the Russian girl, who was to become his
wife, at La Pa lette, Zina Klingberg, a friend of Sonia Terk (later
to marry Delauney), as well as two other painter friends, Segonzac
and.La Fresnay, both of whom were to influence his work. He studied
for two years at La Pa.lette and produced an exhibition in 1908,
before travelling to Russia to be married, Refove the first world war
he was to go on three trips to stay with his wifel's family, the last was for
three years, they returmed just bef:?: ;§r¢ He liked Russia very much
and was impressed by the treatment he received there: hig father-in-law
was a Judge in a province that had formerly been in Slovakia, Through
his wife, Ozenfant got to know the Russian community in Paris, His
other interest, which he shared with his younger brother, was machinery

and engines, and a passion for cars. They submitted a design for the

bodywork of a Hispamo Suiza in the 1912 Salon d'Automne., In the summer
of 1914 he had been particularly impressed by the efficiency of the
German Mercedes racing team, who surprised everyone by completely
defeating France in the Grand-Prix held at Lyon, Ozenfant commented:

"This lesson of planning and of good execution

struck me enormously and I promised myself

to follow this example with my paintings". 25

Because of frequent bouts of meumonia and bronchitis, he
was not called up and spent the first part of the war in Paris and
Antibes where he met and became friendly with the painter Signac.26
By the summer of 1915 he had a studio at 34 de la rue des Vignes 3 Ja
Muette in Paris, and attended Perret's Thursday luncheon meetings with
Picasso, Lipchitz, Matisse and other artists at a nearby cafe, Towards
the end of 1915, Ozenfant had become dissatisfied with the decorative
trends in Cubism and, in an attempt to make his point of view known,
he produced a folding sheet of articles and comments on art under the
name of L'Flan, in which he advocated the heauty of the machine and
geometric forms quoting Plato in 'Philebus', Ozenfant's own personal

outburst, called for a more rigorous approach to cubism and art; others

of 1like feeling also contributed, inspired by the classical and 9b



intellectual approach to cubism that Gris and Severini were developing.27
It was practically the only paper of its kind to be produced in Paris
during the war and showed considerable enterprise and organisational
ability. Ozenfant managed to produce about 15 editions finally stopping
at the end of 1916, VWhen he got to know Jeanneret he presented him
with a whole set of_LlElgn.zs Ozenfant was one of the few painters
with the finance, time and energy to keep in contact with the art life
that there was in Paris and was a visitor at most gatherings of any note,
This situation was to change dramatically in the autumn of 1917 when his
father died very suddenly, leaving Ozenfant and his mother to carry on
the management of the firm which at that time was involved in the con-
struction of a large munitions factory extension at Toulouse, Through
his mother's mismanagement, Ozenfant could see ;11 the family investment
being lost and was forced to take over the supérvision of the factory
project, He encamped right in the centre of the site in a small hut
vhere he worked on his new theory of purism at the end of the day,
This amezed the workmen, who could not understand anyone staying
longer than necessary alongside a large amount of high explosives,
Despite his efforts, the company failed and he was to find himself
without any capital by the end of the summer of 1918, Relationships
with Zina had not been happy for some time, possibly due to conflicting
opinions on the 1917 revolution, and they were divorced in July 1918.29
Ozenfant moved to a new studio in Ia rue Godot-de-Mauroy, so
that when he met Jeanneret he was going through a traumatic period in
his life, Jeanneret impressed him, the two men found they had a great
deal in common, even an unfashionable knowledge and appreciation of
Puvis de Chavannes.,’® Both were at the start of a perfod of change
in their lives, and though they were'occupied with the problems of
survival in Paris, they found time to meet regularly to discuss what
art and cubism meant to them. The single-mindedness of Jeanneret, his

lack of preconceptions, his questioning attitude, together with no
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previous cubist painting experience, must have been a useful asset
to Ozenfant in helping him to disentangle what he was trying to say.
Here, much of Jeanneret's very early education was to come to his
agsistance, Cubism contéined the means of carrying out some of the
ideals expounded by Owen Jones, Ruskin, Seurat, Denis and the
Beuroner Artists.

By June 1918, Jeanneret was completely obsessed with the ideas
of his new friend, He wrote to Ozenfant to say that he had order in
his business but none in his head and that Ozenfant was the reason.31

In September, Jeamneret went away for a few days into the
countryside at Andernos to stay with Ozenfant, On this visit Ozenfent
éave Jeanneret his notes on his new theory of purism and suggested
that they develop them together in the form of a book and an exhibition.

In the book Ozenfant's name was to come before Jeanneret's on the title

page since he was the initial promoter and already a well known figure in the
Paris art scene, Jeanneret was still an unknown Swiss immigrant,

worried in case his job as an architect should be prejudiced by him

becoming known as a painter.32

Ozenfant offered to teach Jeanneret to paint in oils, something
he had never attempted before, That autumn all Jeanneret's spare time
was spent in Ozenfant's studio, his first drawings copied those of
Ozenfant,33 though he is likely to have made more of a contribution in

the writing of their script which was entitled Apres le Cubisme .

Apart from the architectural comments, there is clear evidence of a

similar logical organisation to that shown in Etude du Mouvement d'Art

3 La Chaux~de~Fonds ,  Ozenfant, apart from producing L'Elan, was not

a writer and had little journalistic experience, He was more at ease
in the design of the typography and layout, so that it seems that it
was undoubtedly a joint effort even though the initial inspiration had
been Ozenfant!'s, Many of the principles embodied in the movement

originated in the earlier writings’* of Ozenfant though, possibly
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because he lacked the creative ability to exploit them so well as
Jeanneret, the latter was apt to assume them all as his own and unaided
inventions.

This fault is n;t as deliberate as it might appear, Purism
contains the essence of many theoretical ideas to which Jeanneret had
been first introduced, when still a teenager, by L'Eplattenier, and
later by William Ritter and contact with German and French artists
and architects, Other, no less important, influences had come from
his family, the musical ability of his mother and brother was of a high
academic level and the necessity in good music for an underlying rhythm
and mathematical pattern would have been obvious to him,

Jeanneret had not carried on since leaving La Chaux-de-Fonds

with any writing or journalism until the production of Apres Le Gubisme

with Ozenfant the autumn of 1918, , The lapse was not entirely due to
the pressure of his new life in Paris, but because of the restructuring
of the theoretical basis that he felt was so essential for his work.
The confrontation with other interpretations of the same ideals that he
and his mentors had felt were important, threw him into confusion.
Many of the principles were the same, arising in many cases from very
similar backgrounds, but the urgency of a fairly widespread search for
a contemporary form of expression, in writing and art to echo the
technological development brought about by the war, forced Jeanneret to
reappraise his ideas and to loock for some sort of order, The effort
made him very dissatisfied with anything he produced, though he had
left La Chaux-de~-Fonds to get away from the static situation that made
any further development on his part impossible, he was not a solitary
artist, he very much needed guidance, inspiration, confirmation and
encouragement from life and his contemporaries, and sorely missed this
part of his old life.

Ozenfant had chosen the term Purism because it represented

strength and purity, qualities they both considered essential for the
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new art movement, to represent the modern spirit that was coming.35

Both were interested in the recent new developments in industry
and the rapidly developing means of transport, speed and engines were
still a particular passion with Ozenfant, Auguste Perret had also
contributed to Ozenfant¥s theory, he was in gympathy with the principles
and frequently discussed them with him and later Jeanneret.36

Helping Ozenfant to organise and express his ideas of Purism
for the book had provided Jeanneret with the necessary knowledge to
resolve his own ideas, the reassurance tﬁét they had sufficient form

and content to be taken seriously. The chapter, LYEsprit Moderne,

is an introduction to the later confident writings of Le Corbusier and
is certainly a contribution by Jeanneret to the original Ozenfant

theme; factories and reinforced concrete are given as the new ideal,
For the chapter on laws, Jeanneret and Ozenfant had much in common, {ov-
as with many young artists of that period, the theories of Ruskin,
Seurat, Ingres, Cézanne and Beuroner artists had all been embodied in
their backgrounds, Several more such as Loos, Denis, Verkade,
Séq;usier and Apollinaire, were more recent joint influences. Because
of the abundance of well circulated journals on art, publishing work
on or by these artists, they provided a common vocabulary, a very
important factor in the progress of any theory, For some reason the
general public was prepared to read and pay for enormous journalistic
coverage of the world of art. Daily newspapers gave over many feet of
column space to the arts,

During that autumn Ozenfant reorganised his affairs, simplified
his apartment and studio, selling any unessential items, and painted the
walls white, He said he felt he was entering a new and more rigorous
way of 1life uncluttered, with nothing but what was absolutely essential
and in sympathy with his reduced financial circumstances, a fact with

which Jeanneret had lived for most of his 1ife.37
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Apres le Cubisme was published on the 9th November 1918,

a little late for the start of the Salon d'Automne as intended and,

sadly, on the same day as ' Apollinaires death, and two days before the Armistic

wag declared, Ozenfant sald he felt they were really at the start

of a new epoch.38
Inside each copy of Apres le Cubisme was an invitation to

an exhibition of the work of Ozenfant and Jeanneret, to be held in a

local fashion-house, Maison Jove, converted into a gallery for a time

39

over Christmas and re-christened Gallery Thomas, The owner of
Maison Jove was Madame Germaine Bongard—Poiret,Ao the wife of Paul Poiret,
a well known Paris fashion designer and a friend of Perret and Ozenfant,

Poiret was a member of a committee set up by Perret and Jeanneret in

October for a new society to be called Art et Liberté . Their head-

quarters was Perret's apartment in 25b rue Franklin, Perret was the
chairman with Fernand Divoire and Gino Severini as the other two
committee members, A letter was issued introducing the aims of the
new society in January, 1919, Menmbers of the society were to defend
and support modern works of Art and Literature by giving moral and
material support and organising collective artistic manifestations.41
It was the intention of Ozenfant and Jeanneret to collect
a group of supporters and practitioners of purism and to start a style
or movement similar in form to that of the Dadaists who were, at that
time, in the process of transferring the centre of their activities

from Zurich to Paris, Their publicity indicates that Apres le Cubisme
42

was to be the first of a series of documents to be published by them.
Unfortunately, the paintings for the exhibition in the Gallery
Thomas were a long way from the ideals of their authors., They had
been somewhat premature in displaying the, as yet, inconclusive results
that they hed so far obtained, The essence was there, but Jeanneret's
work was so clearly a version of that of Ozenfant that it carried little

weight, especially as Ozenfant's work was by no means representative
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yet of their main intention. They were to receive some rather harsh

criticism, particularly from the art critic, Leon Vauxcelles, who was

constantly, from that time on , to attack their ideas and work.43

Jeanneret commenting on his first efforts at painting, said
that his second, third and fourth efforts were all copies of the first
in an attempt to find some order, He considered the fourth showed
some improvement and was almost good, so he was only too well aware of
his own inadequacies at the time but, nevertheless, felt himself to be
vorking in a worthwhile and acceptable d_:lrection.44

Purism advocated a need for digsecipline and in line with the
general feeling of that time for the use of geometry as a basis, citing
the machine and industrial constructions as examples of vhat can be done
when there is an underlying formal framework producing an object with a
beauty of its own, Purism also stated that it was nol just science
and logical thought, proportions with particular reference to those of
the human body must be studied and revived as a guide, The smallest
part of any picture or designed object must relate to the whole and the
vhole should not work if such a part was removed; they were to be
totally independent they wrote 3

"The highest delection of the human mind is the
perception of order, and the greatest human satisfaction
is the feeling of collaboration or participation in

this order, The work of art is an artificial object
which lets the spectator be placed in the state desired
by the creator, The sensation of order is of a
mathematical quality. The creation of a work of art
should utilize means for specified results, Here is
how we have tried to create a language possessing

these means:

Primary forms and colours have standard properties
(universal properties which permit the creation of a
transmittable plastic language). But the utilization
of primary forms does not suffice to place the spectator
in the sought—for state of mathematical order, For that
one must bring to bear the associations of natural or
artificial forms and the criterion for their choice is
the degree of selection at which certain elements have
arrived (natural selection and mechanical selcction),
The Purist elenent issued from the purification of
standard forms is not a copy, but a creation whose end
is to materialize the object in all its gencrality and
its invariability, Purist elements are thus comparable
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to words of carefully defined meaning; Purist syntax is
the application of constructive and modular means; it
is the application of the laws which control pictorial
space, A painting is a whole entity; a painting is an
artificial formation which, by appropriate means, should
lead to the objectification of an entire "world". One
could make an art of allusions, an art of fashion, based
uwpon surprise and the conventions of the initiated.
Purism strives for an art free of conventions which will
utilize plastic constants and address itself above all
to the universal properties of the senses and the mind"., 45
Ozenfant and Jeanneret followed very closely the classical
cubist theories that Gris had been developing since 1915, He believed
that the objects would emerge from an artist's construction of the
picture.46 Purism did not leave these objects to chance, Ozenfant
and Jeanneret stated that the objects an artist should use in his work
must come from the ordinary manufactured things in use every day in life,
vhose principal forms embodied the basic geometric shapes.47
The subjects for their first paintings for the new theory
were based on a book, wine glass and pipe, objects that were to
constantly reappear in later work; their style was precise and crisp.
The pencil drawings were very similar to those of the painter, Fernand
Léger, a friend of Ozenfant and Gris. Léger had been wounded and invalided
out of the army in 1917, and had acquired a considerable commitment
towards politics during his time as a soldier, and an interest in machinery
and its form, He was in sympathy with Gris! synthetic form of cubism
and evolved his own ideas on the cylindrical forms of gun barrels,
He joined in the discussions with Ozenfant, Gris and Jeanneret on their
work, He was also, at the same time, attracted to Mondrian and the
work of the De Stijl group, particularly when Mondrian settled in Paris
in 1919, even though he was not in sympathy with the abstract forms
used by him.48
Both he and Gris provided the necessary guide upon which
Jeanneret developed his painting, Ozenfant gave him the framework,

impetus and encouragement but the other two painters showed him how

he was to achieve these aims, The development in his work from 1919
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to 1925 vas phenomenal, from the first stilted oll painting through
experimenting with the forms and colours used by Gris and Leger to
the end of this period when he was producing work quite clearly his
own and of a very high qpélity, but within the spirit of the purist
movenent,

Hitchcock in Painting towards Architecture comments that

Le Corbusier'g early architectural work showed a close resemblance to
his early paintings

"Neither in plan nor elevation were his architectural
compositions allowed to ramble, rather they are
compactly ordered inside rectangles, as if within the
frame of a picture". 49

He goes on to say :

"In relation to modern architecture, the central
meaning and basic value of abstract art, whether
painting or sculpture, is that it makes available

the results of a kind of plastic research that can
hardly be undertaken at full architectural scale.

The visual forms of a new architecture, founded on
new methods of structure and dedicated to the fullest
service of human needs, were implicit in a certain
characteristic of directness of structural snd
functional approach in the work of various precursors
before abstract art btegan. But these forms remained
generally invisible (except in the work of Wright)
unrealized and merely imminent until catalytic contact
with the experiments of the advanced artists of a
quarter of a century ago brought them to crystalisation®, 50

Ozenfant and Jeanneret wrote a great deal about the benefits of the

ordered system of the machine in Apres le Cubisme and included the

possibilities of new methods of construction :

"The suburbs of towns are in a chaos through which
one must know how to be selective, show us some
factories vhere the purity of the principles which
governed their construction realises a certain
harmony which seems to us to be approaching beauty.
Reinforced concrete the newest form of technical
construction allows, for the first time, the

strict achieverent of mathematical calculations;
the Number which is the basis of all beauty can
find from now on its expression", 51

They were certainly not thinking of the use of reinforced
concrete just as a means of utility, but in the sense that Ruskin had
meant, of the combination of architect, sculptor creating architecture

and Provensal in his sense of 'Beauté Iddalef!, In ithese new methods~lc)4



and materials they felt that there was a way to make this available

to everyone in their daily life,

¢
nevete ,

(ot co

Jeanneret had the detailed knowledge of the shengint but had
been lost as to what form it Shouldl talkce wilh ‘

15 provicda,

an intellectual content ot sutticient cegh—~<a satisfactory
basis for a new architecture to develop vhile satisfying the essential
ideals of human enjoyment and appreciation, In painting he could
apply the theory to forms that had a strong connection with those he
admired in industry and classical architecture together with the use
of the proportional theory of the human body to give scale and sympathy.
His development in the terms of a building was not to be long in coming.
Other architects had already produced cubical forms stripped of any
noticeable previous architectural symbology, but their results were,
on the whole, unappealing for any length of time and too easy to copy,
so that they had hardly made any lasting impact. Certainly, there had
been no further developments and today are purely of historical interest
having little real architectural value,

Mondrian, when he settled in Paris in 1919, produced a statement
of his theories of neo-plasticism which had attracted a number of the
young painters, including Léger, 1In it he said :

"A tangible reality is in no way prevented from

being an abstract reality, A painting too is

tangible in a sense, Neo Plasticism is achieving

today in painting what later on we shall see around

us in sculpture and in architecture ,eeeseeces

ssssessee it 18 becoming possible to create buildings

that are pure expressions of what is unchangeable,

of what remains identical for each generation }

Construct buildings of such a kind that very many

generations could utilise them", 52
This had a close affinity with Purism, Ozenfant and Jeanneret certainly
knew of De Stijl theories and Mordrials particular form of Neo~Plasticism,
if not directly, certainly through reading and their friendship with
Léger, who wos particularly fascinated by Mondrian, even though he
shared with his two friends their dislike of completely abstract art,53

a feeling Jeanneret wag to overcome in his architectural work where he



probably felt it was logical to use pure form, as had the
Greeks.

Late in 1919 Jeanneret had some success with his business deals in
war stock a.nd54 had suffiéient finance to go ahead with Ozenfant on

the founding of L!Esprit Nouveau , the magazine of the Purist movement,

the first copy of which appeared in October 1920 at the same time as

the Salon d'Automne, where Jeanneret had exhibited one of his first

designs that show evidence of his new~found ability in the use of basic
forms in design, combined with the essence of the Domino structural
system, The scheme was called 'La Maison Citrohan',55 another name
pun. moucakmay the intention of the machine aesthetic,
lnother house from this period, a sketch design, for a seaside house
for Paul Poiret56 indicated the effect that his painting ideas were
having on his architecture with a flexible plan that at last showed
the architectural possibilities of the Domino structure, From then
on, they were to very closely inter-relate with one another so that
within the next three years it was to become difficult to work out
precisely whether a form originated in painting or from a building.

In June, Daniel Henry Kahnweiler asked Jeanneret if he could

£ind him an apartment;”’

whether he found one 1s not known, but he
certainly must have helped to arrange for Kahnweiler to restart his
gallery on the ground floor of the building where his newly acquired office at
29,bis rue d'Astorg was situated, in a space opening off the interior
courtyard, Kahnweiler restarted his business there with twelve paintings
he had been able to repurclrsed and called his gallery, Simon, after his
Jewish associate, His sister-in-law also helped by sitting and keeping
it open., Gris, Leger and Braque again becgme solely attached to his
gallery, but there was a general financial depression and cubism suffered,
there were very few buyers and the situation was made worse by the
auctions held in May 1921 of Kahnweiler's confiscated pre-war collection

58

of cubist work,. Kahnweiler was almost the sole means of support for
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his artists during this period, though later they were to have to move,

With the publication of L'Esprit Nouveau , Jeanneret was no

longer an unknown Swiss architect working in Paris even though he was
8till a little bothered by the combination of his business and artistic
life and was in agreement with Ozenfant on the use of psvudonyms for
some of their joint articles on engineering and architecture in

LYEsprit Nouveau , using their real names for painting and general

aesthetics, According to Ozenfant, he provided most of the material
for their earlier joint articles but Jeanneret drafted them, The

interest in engines and cars certainly came from Ozenfant, Jeanneretfs

mechanical interests lay more in factories and civil eng:l.neering.59

Their joint name of Le Corbusier-Saugnier was devised by the
use of Ozenfant's mother's maiden name, Saugnier, and the name of a
cousin of Jeanneret, called Le Corbézier. He did not want to use his
mother!s name of Perret because of the confusion it would cause with
that of Auguste Perret, Ozenfant was delighted, he said for the following
reasgons 3

"In the churches in the middle ages, together with
the priest, the sexton and the bell-ringer, there
was a CORBUSIER who, fired a crossbow, like your
William Tell, &% the crows who settled on the
cross of the belfry and made messes below; your
role is exactly the same to demolish architecture
ans since you have the head of a crow, this name
will fit you like a glove”, 60

Le Corbusier did not remember this tale and attributed his name to an
earlier ancestor of more prestigious repu‘be.61

An article on Seurat and the first colour reproduction of one

of his paintings, 'La Poudreusse was in the first edition of L'Esprit

Nouveau together with one of Picasso's works, They considered that
Seurat was almost unknown at that period and that his ideas had a great
deal to contribute to Purism and that he should be credited with the
ideas he had developed that had led to their theory, Apart from
Signacts book62 and the popularity he had attracted in the last decade

of the 19th century, Ozenfant found that no more than a dozen articles
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had been published about the painter and that his works were then
available at a very low price.63 : :
Both Jeanneret and Ozenfant .carried on painting, working for
a second exhibition, which was held in January 1921, at the Galerie
Druet, a well-established exhibition place for Matisse, Bonnard,
Marquet and their friends, It was then run by the widow of the man
who had started it and she was persuaded to agree to the exhibition of
Jeanneret and Ozenfant's work even though she had not seen it. When
it was hung she took a brief look and retired to her office staying
there for the duration of the show.64
Their work, this time was much more impressive and nearer their
ldeals, Jeanneret still acknowledged the contribution Ozenfant made
to his work but65 there was also very clear evidence of the influence
of Léger and Gris. The show attracted a reaéonable amount of attention
this time and much criticism, However, they did please the eye of
Maurice Raynal a well-established critic of cubism and friend of Picasso,.

He wrote in an essay that they were to publish in L'Esprit Nouveau ,

No, 7 3

"As opposed to fashion, art should give birth to

constant manifestations on which time has no

bearing eeeeee it appears cseee... that the work

of Ozenfant and Jeanneret may be considered a

recall to the respect and the absolute cult of

the vital and primordial elements of the

plastic ¢eeesee It is a recall to the pure and

simple order of human nature ceeeee”

Raoul La Roche bought some of their paintings from the
exhibition and,67 later that year, asked Jeanneret and Ozenfant to
purchase on his behalf some of the work on sale in the auctions of
Kahnweiler's pre-war collection that had been expropvicled, by the
government.68 These works were to -form the start of La Roche's now

famous painting collection, Ozenfant also purchased a number of

paintings on behalf of shareholders of L'Esprit Nouvesu .69

During the next four years, an increasing amount of Jeanneret!s

time and energy were spent on architecture, principally arising out oi :)8



his work for L'Esprit Nouveau and architectural exhibitions in the

Salon dtAutomne , Most of his first clients were painters attracted

to him by his obvious increasing ability as a painter in his own right
ag well as being in the %orefront of architectural ideas, These
projects were helpful in enabling him to work with sympathetic clients
but to a great extent they alienated him from the more down to earth
circles of officials who were responsible for government housing
contracts and developers of industry, fields at which his architectural
theories were aimed,

- “The men who distributed the
finance for these affairs were certainly very rarely sympathetic to
anything strange, even if it was a development using materials familiar
to them but in a different context., Jeanneret was finding, in his
development work, it very difficult to raise any money, the combination
of architect, artist and entrepreneur, contractor and engineer in one
package deal just did not attract funds, and chcl WSt help n whot
was alveady o very cuffeutt penod- +0v developwents
and, Bubmess of any Sovi.

In L'Esprit Nouveau Jeanneret included several articles

on proportion and its use in painting and architecture, gradually

building up his own knowledge and ideas that were later to lead to

the Modular and had their roots back in his very earliest design education,
Ozenfant and Jeanneret's work together, with that of Gris,

Picasso and other cubists, continued to attract very malevolent criticism

from the critic Louis Varcelles., Ozenfant remarked in his Mémoires

that art journalists of that period were given a great deal of column

space compared with the post-second world war allowence of a few millimetres,

if at all, Vauxcelles frequently wrote articles in the (Carnet de la

Semaine condemning artists who were working in the new movements.7o

Ozenfant and Jeanneret were upset and annoyed by such attacks and

71

fought back, ~ but the opinions of Vauxcelles and later others like
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Camille Mauclair did contribute to influencing popular taste. The
modern movement ideas in painting and architecture were a long way from
being generally accepted by the ordinary'FrePch public,

In 1922, Ozenfant received some money, at last, from his
father'!s estate, and commissioned Jeanneret to design a studio for him,
the first of his artist studio houses designed under the name of
Le Corbusier, the site adjoined a house recently built for the painter
Georges Braque by Auguste Perret. Juan Gris had also enquired about
the cost of a studio house on the line of the Citrohan design.

Ozenfant felt that Purism had started on a natural decline
during 1923. Following a third Purist exhibition in Paul Rosenberg's

72 73

he went on a trip to Spain with La Roche,’” returaning to

gallery,

find L'Esprit louveau In severe financial situation, they had been

unable to produce a regular edition since No. ié had appeared in September
1922, Dzenfant was Aware of the situation before going on his
travels and he was certainly not very enthusiastic to carry on after his
return, despite a reasonable new contract with a good publisher in 1923,

and the reappearance of L!'Esprit Nouveau in October.74 Later,

during 1924, he was very disturbed by Jeanneret's almost total commitment

to producing a pavilion for the 1925 Exhibition des Arts Décoratifg not
helped by an increasing disillusionment with his friend as an architect,
due to various problems over his house construction.75 Their relation-
ship showed signs of breaking down, painting was no longer the main-spring
of their meetings., Jeanneret was now independent of Ozenfant's opinion
and advice on his pictures, he was self reliant and confident of his own
ability in architecture, painting and writing, He was totally absorbed
in the certainty of what he was doiné'and had very little need for the
personal reassurance he had always pfeviously sought from the friend who
was his mentor for that time, This attitude was extremely hurtful to
Ozenfant and small differences were to be blamed for76 the apparent

rejection by Jeamneret of Ozenfant now that there was nothing further
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that their relationship could contribute to his relentless and

ambitious genius, Ozenfant was proud of their work together, he

was also fully aware, as many others were, of the contribution he had

made to Jeanneret's success, and found the brutal and somewhat impersonal

rejection painful but was remarkably unvindictive towards Jeanneret in

his "Mémoires', Shortly after their separation he left France and

gstarted a new 1life in America.77
A book they had both worked on before their separation was

published early in 1926, It was called Ta Peinture Modernd and

contained much that appeared earlier in 'L'Esprit Nouveau'!, but also

showed clearly how they had not altered from their original premises
but had become more certain and informed of the philosophy behind Purism
and its wider relationships. Though Ozenfant was to develop very little
further along the route indicated by this book; and it seems reasonable
to assume that the impetus and belief in the theories lay, at this time,
principaly with Jeanncret, or Le Corbusier as he was becoming known,
the adoption of his pseudonym having been completed by this time in
his mind, Le Corbusier was to continue to develop the principles of
purism in his future work, particularly architecture,

and shows the extent of his commitment to the theories

first laid down in Aprés le Cubisme and the belief that they were, the

essence of good art, timeless and transmittable to a wide range of people
and situations in any country.

In La Peinture Moderne , great emphasis was placed on the

importance of the right angle and its human quality and relationship to

contemporary life, The chapter entitled Formation de 1'optique moderne,

put the case for geometry in modern life as 3

"Painting can only reach our mind by way of our eyes,
our eyes are singularly attracted to the intense
spectacle of modern life,

Geometry by develovment of mechanisms installed
everyvhere, our senses are accustomed now to
spectacles which are governed by geometry, our

mind itself satisfied to find geometry, its own

l



creation; everywhere has rebelled against thoce
agpects in painting which are often inconasistent with
gecnetry and particularly to the incoherence

of impressionism,

The real spectacle is essentially geometric, Our
senses and our minds are impregnated with it, man is
a geometric animal enimatcd with a geometric mind,
his artistic needs havc been modified., Art today
should take cognisance of the cxistence of these
fresh needs, already an enormous amount of work has
been done during the last fifty years,

From Ingres to Cubism many certainties have bcen
acquired”, 78

¢ ’, \ ,
In the chapter entitled Idees persomellss on Ta Beautd®

the emphasis is on tiie existence of the confusion between the word

beauty and pleasure, Beauty is regarded in the way Provensal stated in

Beauté Ideak , as a very strong emotion that stcps us and moves us,

not necessarily giving pleasure, TPleasure is en individuel emotion

but beauty is a quality that can be appreciated universally.
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CHAPTER 6 Entrepreneur: a, Trade
—_— be Publishing
¢, Development

a., Trade

Though Jeanneret had until 1914 no professional experience
outside of architecture or teaching, many of his chilchood and college
friends were the children of successful businessmen and industrialists.l
Status in La Chaux-de-Fonds was acquired by achievement in the manu-
facturing and selling of timepleces. Business and industry would
have been a logical career for Jeanneret .f he had wished to follow
the recognised path to success in his home town,

Another reason for Jeanneret to direct his interest towards
business affairs had been the tour he made in 1911 for the Art School
Board to study art and design in Ge1uany.2 He had been sent on the
tour at the instigation of LfEplattenier to see if there vere any
developments in Germany that could bhe incorporated in the La Chaux-de-
Fonds art school courses.3

Jeanneret had been impressed by the extent of industrialisation
in Germany’ the 'Cite Jardin' speculative developments, andithe fact that
the majority of the industrial designs produced by the followers of the
Werkbund movement were not trying to imitate traditional hand-made
objects but were based on the function of the article and the requirements
of mass production.4

Jeanneret was an ambitious young man, with a very strong urge
to be successful. In his chosen career as a painter/archilect he was
very far from achieving feme, ovfiviancic.l sUuccesS ancl he had to
explore other opportunit-(ﬁ/he thought wnghl Saﬂ&((ﬂ these. needs.

In 1912 Jeanneret expressed in & letter to Du Bois an interest
in business and added that sinece his‘trip to the Middle East he had
learnt that the ability to lie seemed to Le an essential part of modern

5

business, He was later to say that he regarded his business

personality as apart from himself.6



As living asay from La Chaux-de-Fonds became more and more of an
vho was vorking in Paris 7.

atiraction to Jeanneret, he grew veiry envious of Du Beis/ In the
autumn of 1912, Du Bois and Jeanneret had formed an association to deal
in glags crystal for light fittings.8 The suppliers were in Paris
go that Du Bois's office was used as the headquarters for these
negotiations and Jeanneret was the sales outlet in Switzerland; he was
under the impression trat he would receive 10% of any deals but was
soon to find out that not all dealers kept to thelr initial statements,
The business was not large but kept going for the following three years,
in association with a cousin, Herman Jeanneret, a designer and craftsman
in wrought iron work.9

I;N1914 tke Domino project was started by Jeanneret and Max
Du Bois, It was intended to be a comaercial veniure and planned &s
such but due to circumstances, such as Jeanneret's isolation in Le Chaux—
de-Fonds and iack of experience in business affairs, the financial
organisation initiall; was Du Bois's respousibility. The contlnvation
of the war brought any further development on these lires to an end and

though Du Bois eventually arranged for Jeanneret to work in Paris in his

company Sociéte d'Application de Béton Armé and set him wp in practice,

their next serious attempt at {he construction business was not until
December 1917, when through one of Du Bois's acquaintances, Jeanneret
was eligible to submit an entry in a limited competition for a new
abattoir and refrigeration plant at Bordeaux., Though Jeanneret's scheme
was not selected, his design incorporated the Domino structural
principles, but it was a very important step in his architectural career,
as the project was by far the largest and most complex planning prcblem
that he hed attempted, They had both hoped that the scheme, even if
not succegsful, would provide them with an introduction to a new area

of jndustry and business. To cope with this possible contingency,

they had started on the forration of a subsidiary cowpany ﬁo be known as

Cle Industriellc Le Froid for the investigation of the preservation of
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foodstuffs by refrigeration.lo

Early in 1918 Jeanneret arranged to

purchase C.I.F, shares from S.A.B.A.;ll Du Bois was lavolved in the

same deal,12 they each agreed to purchase 5,000 France worth of shares

over the next year in four instalments.l3
At the end of 1919, S.A.B.A. was under the direction of

M, Cartier, who was also the managing director of anothsr Du Bois inspired

firms called Cie Francais de Constructions Industrielles.l4 The

headquarters of S.A.B.A. had moved from the rue Belzunce via 29 bis
rue d'Astorg, to Cartier's office.15 ’

Jeanneret had raised the money for the C.I.F. shares by using
his S.A.B.A, shares:® as security with the bank.l! Presumsbly selling
these to Cartier (a deal he was to try to carry out with another company
in 1919) S.A.B.A, eventually went into liquidation in March 1924,
following the loss of an appeal in 1923 against an award made to Jeanneret

and Du Bois over their C.I.r. shares.18

Whether they actually received
any money is not very clear; Du Bols suffered the worst financial loss
ag part of Jeanneret's award was to have gone to him as partial settlement
for the sum invested in the Jeanneret practice.l9 Du Bois considered
Jeanneret had behaved dishonourably over their partnership agreement
by working with Pierre Jeanneret and neglecting the original agreement?o
Ee made one attempt some years later to obtain some financial compensation
for the money he had invested in the practice, but though he won the case,
there was no money available as Le Corbusier was bankrupt at the time.21
The reinforced concrete advisory comsortium (S.A.B.A.) had
been a starting point for Jeanneret!s business interests, providing nim
with office space and contact with experienced businessmen.22 He had
arrived in Paris with as much money as he could raise, a sum of about
20,000 Francs,z3 made up of money borrowed on account from the bank for
fees owing to him, and some investment capital from three La Chsux~de-Fonds

24

businessmen, There may well have been others apart from Du Bois and

Bornand willing to back Jeanneret, some with investment sums, as at that
1io



time Switzerland offered little in the way of investment prospects,
particularly in the areas of the declining watch industry., In 1917,
1918 and early 1919 there were very real advantages to be gained by
the Swiss in investing outside their own country, in an area with a
relatively stable, high value currency.25
The French Franc had a high exchange vslue during the last
two years of the war, it had been kept stable by financizl support from
26

the United States of America and Great Britain, In the winter of
1918, the aftermath of a thriving wertime industry, post-war deals
in surplus stock and a supply of goods from the U.S.A. kept the value
of the Franc artificially high until March 1919, when Anerica withdrew
her support and the financial depression, that already existed in the rest
of Europe, took effect in France.27

In wartime, any investment was an uncertain prospect.,
Jeanneret with Du Bois's help had given considerable thought to the
problem before deciding to invest his capital in the construction of a
factory to manufacture concrete blocks., This was a relatively new
product in the construction market, only requiring cheap materials,
simple machinery and a small unskilled labour force to produce. For
a number of years a considerable amount of information on the manu-
facturing and use of these blocks had been published in engineering and
congtruction magazines.28 The concrete block was principally used in
civil engineering projects, though its potential for more modest con-
struction had not gone unnoticed, In July 1914 the English magazine
Concrete, aware of European developments, held a competition for the
design of a workers cottage, the cost not to exceed £125, the construction
to be in concrete29 in the hope of popularising its use,

Towards the end of the war the quantity of domestic building,

making use of concrete, had increased.30

The shortage of traditional
materials and the newly acquired familiarity, with techniques required

in the construction of factories, made this possible, Building and

engineering magazines carried numerous advertisements for a varietly of tiu



blockmaking machines and articles on the use of different types of
concrete block were published.31

All this information did nol go unnoticed by eiiher Du Bois
or Jeanneret as it complPdented thcir already considerable knowledge of
the subject, Jeanneret sent for the machine catalogues and designed
a number of related concrete block units suitable for use in several

32

types of building constructions. He had been a kezn visitor at
international building fairs and exhibitions making a particular point
of investigating the latest construction techniques, Block manu-
facturing equipment, cement mixers and rendoring machines were to

33

receive his close attention for the next few years,
) In the spring of 1917 Jeanneret rented a site for his factory
from the company Du Bois worked for, It was situated in an area, to the
south~east of Paris, known as Alfortville, then a rapidly expanding
industrial district, The site was part of a power plant known as
Ste, Lumiere at 15 rue des Peupliers, Quail Blanqui, oz the banks of the
Seine near its junction with the river Marne, well placed for removal
of the finished product by boat.34 The ash aggregate came from the
furnaces of the Sté,Luniere pover station,

Today the area is very heavily industrialised, the rue des
Peupliers no longer exists and a new road layout has been constructed,
but the factory site can still be established from a sketch made by
Jeanneret, at the time of the factory consiruction, to explain the view
from the river frontage to William Ritter.35

When the site had been acquired, Jeanneret ordered the
machinery and moulds for the block manufacturing process. Men were
employed to construct the necessary sheds and storage bays.36

Work continued on the factory throughout the summer,
Jeanneret enjoyed visiting the site and instructing the workmen;

he frequently spent an evening in the local bar with them after work

/
and grew to like the people of the area37 (which is today a strong-hold
of the French Communist Party), This must have been his first real 11,



confrontation with an industrial working-class cormunity. The contact

established with ihis group of workmen was the start of mamy such

friendships that he was to make throughout his architectural career,

Jeanneret appeared to be able to conduct a much happier relationship

with the constructors of his buildings, than with the actual clients,
The products of this factory, modular concrete blocks were

to be marketed under the trade-name 219338 through a new company founded

by Jeanneret with backing from Du Bois, called Société d'Fntreprises

Industrielles et d'Etudes; 1t was a subsidiary of S.A.B.A.39

In expectation of increased work due to the formation of
S¢EsI.E, and the production of Plot, Jeanneret leased a new office for
ﬁimself, larger and more in keeping with his new image, The office
was situated at 29 bis, rue d'Astorg in the eighth arrondissment, a
considerably more affluent area than that of the rue Belzunce.40

During the next four years this orfice was to be the head-
quarters for several Jeanneret inspired enterprises,4l the second

editorial office for L1Isprit Nouveau and42 the office of Jcanneret

Architecte.43

The letter heading for Jeanneret's practice at that timse
states that the firm would undertake the design and construction of
factories, bridges and workers cities.44 A letter was sent to all
his businegs acquaintances informing them of the new address together
with the information that the La Chaux—de-Fonds office was now no
longer in existence.45

The office was occupied by Jeanneret at the end of October
Just before the factory at Alfortville went into production.‘["6 He
found the interior design of his new office very difficult to come to
any conclusion over; he was very bothered by the emptiness of T

wxwws‘¢7 and whether he would have enough work to meke use of twhewn,

In a letter to Ritter, Jeanneret wrote :

lic



" I must have had fantasies, This time with

150 sq. netres of space, 3,500 francs rent it is

necessary to have building sites and factories,

we shall get them".

Apart from a pypject in May for a scheme to provide housing
for the workers of a watch manufacturing firm in Normandy,/'9 there had
been little to distract his attention away from the construction of the
blockworks during the summer, Of the Normandy housing scheme which
was originally for thirty units, only two were ever built, but the
scheme did provide Jeanneret with the opportunity to make further
contact with the manufactwrers of the block making machines.50 The
factory owners, Duverdy and Bloquel, were keen to keep costs as low
.as possible and were interested in a self build type of construc’c.'Lon.E1

The firm had a sales branch for their watches in La Chaux—
de~Fonds (amongst several others in various parts of the world);52
this would explain the selection of Jeanneret for the work, tocether
with his interest in the type of community housing.

May 1917 possibly saw Jeanneretls first meeting with Ozeni‘an’c..53
Through this new friend, whose father wos a well-established builder
of factories, Jeanneret may well have received an enquiry concerning
the design for an arsenal at Toulouse, for which he produced a sketch,54
though there is no evidence that this project developed any further,

M, Ozenfant senior had been undertaking a considerable amount of work
in this area55 and it is unlikely that Ozenfant's background would have
gone unnoticed by Jeanneret at this time, though he was not to become
more closely involved with Ozenfant until January 1918.56

When the Alfortville factory was complete and production ready
to start in November 191757 the expected orders were slow to appesr,
Jeanneret was very worried58 as he had hoped for a ps,ompt return of
his capital, particularly as the time had arrived to pay back the Swiss
bank loan, His clients, Schwob and Riva, had not as yet completed the

payment of their outstanding fee accounts and as matters stood in
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La Chaux-de~Fonds it did not appear very likely that they would be
inclined to do so for some time if at all, Jesnneret had put the
matter of collecting the fee into the hands of a solicitor in La Chaux-

59

de~Fonds, Tel Perrin, This dispute was to spread over a2 number of
years but no satisfaction was obtained.

Paris was undergoing bombardment from 'Big Bertha', The
war sitvation at that itime was extremely depressing for the French.
There appeared to be little hope of rapidly reaching a favourable
conclusion for the French and their Allies,

Jeanneret, on completing his accounts for 1917, wrote the
following complaint to Ritter

"I have drawn up a balance sheet for this year,

I can just about pay everyone. As to my fortune

which perhaps was almost lwenty thousand francs -

evaporated; these figures are full of mysteries", 60
The lagt of his funds were spent on the then obligatory New Year gifts
of money which he delivered himself to his business associates.61

Bankruptcy continued to threaten the Alfortville factory :

"Alfortville all kirds of ghastly coldness. Nothing

goes well for me, above all a blockworks where one

sirks one's poor little money", 62
Jeanneret was only too aware of the responsibilities involved in
managing such a concerny in December he had confided to Ritter that

he now felt he had the ability to take on such a burden.63

He might
not have said this if he knew all the problems that were to be in store
for him in connection with the blockworks.

Very few records are available so far for this period and it
is almost certain that Jeanneret had very little commercial work to do
that winter apart from the sale promotion of Plot,

In July 1918, Jeanneret regeived a letter from his mother who
was very worried as there had been no news from Paris for some months.64
She had been wondering if her letters had been delivered and no doubt
about the effect of the very virulent form of 'flu that had attacked

people in Europe and was rapidly reaching epidemic proportions emongst ] Iy



populations in no physical condition to resist the virus, coming as
it did after a long, cold winter and ingufficient nourishment, liany
people did not recover, the death toll was very high, In La Chaux-de-
Fonds there had already been sever«l deaths from 'flu,

Jeanneret replied to his mother's letter in August. He
reassured her about his health and gave her his latest piece of good
news: the blockworks had obtaincd a substenticl order from the

65 Bankruptcy had been averted for a while and Jeanneret's

government,
future in industry looked somevhat brighter, Though he was not too
pleased with the conditions of the government contract which left little

margin for profit.66

) Jeanneret’s reticence in communicating with his fanily end
colleagues in his home town, must have been due to his lack of any sort
of success, as much as resentment of his treatment by Schuob. The poor
communication system provided a very convenient excuse,

When Madame Jeanneret finally received her son's good news,
she wasted no time in telling his friends and visitors to the house,
one of whom, Charles Picard, a watch manufacturer and friend of Max
Du Bois, was impressed by Jeanneret's success and urote to congratulate

him, &7

A.M. Tribaudeau, another watch manufacturer, also wrote, he
was seeking advice on investing in a brickworks in the Auvergne.68
Tribaudeau had no wish to sell any of his Swiss shares at such an
unprofitable time, but wanted financlial security by investing in a
stable concern outside Switzerland,

Jeanneret advised him to choose an area which had suffered
considerable damage in the war, as there would be no shortsge of demand
for bricks when the war ended and rebuilding commenced, This advice
was acknowledged but not followed, M, Tribaudeau preferred to stay
with the brickworks he had already found,®? -
In the autumn of 1918, Jeanneret spent morc time with

Ozenfant,5o learning to paint and assisting in the preparation of

12



their manifesto on Pvrisme,71 which was published in November, in time
for a joint exhibition of their work at Christmas.72

The menifesto was entitled Anrds le Cubisme and was printed

by a ;olleague of Jeanneret's from Neuchfitel, Dan Niestlé, the son of

the owner of a large educational publishers and printers in Neuchﬁte1.73
Dan Niestlé, like Jesnneret, left his home town to live in

Paris and founded a smell publishing and printing house of his own

under the title Les Fditions de L'Averir Fominin, 4

Jeanneret introduced him to Ozenfant with the idea that the
three of them might start a publishing company together at some future
date.75 Ozenfant at this time was having to find work to support
himsclf, the family business having finally failed.76 Niestlé was
interested but had no spare capital for such a venture as he was fully
cormitted at that time to his own firm, He wds impressed though by

the quality of Ozenfant's typography and layout for Aprés Le Cubisme

but said that his own firm had no work to justify such expertise and

could not offer him any work.77

Vhen L'Esprit Nouveau, the journal founded by Jeanneret,

Ozenfant and Paul Dermée in December 1919, underwent some early manage-
ment problems,78 Jeanneret asked Niestlé to become a member of the
management board, He remaired with the magazine until its closure in
1925 and playeda very important role in the five years of the journal's
79

existence,

Aprds Le Cubisme was published a few days before ithe Armistice

was declared.so

Jeanneret must have felt reasonably pleased with him-
self, though the end of hostilities did not bring any irmediate prospects
of relief to his financial problems, The European currency situation
wag very unstable and was to remain so for some months to come.81

Jeanneretfs competition entry for the abattoirs had not met
with any success but it had revived his interest in the Domino

structural system, During 1918 he worked on the development of a
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system of permanent shuttering using preformed asbestolux sections
for the columns and cladding.82 This system overcame one of the
previous problems, the necessity to seﬁ up timber shuttering, which
wa.s in extremely short supply.

Patents were applied for but no mention was made of Du Bois
though he must have had some interest in the gsystem. The patents
were awarded in the spring of 1919, for two systems making use of the

83 The first was for a

permanent asbestos~-cement sheet shuttering,
direct development of the Domino column and slab principle for use
in industrial buildings.

The second system was for a domestic unit and was constructed
from a series of asbestos-cement preformed panels bolted together to
make a double skinned wall into which was poured concrete (the roofs were
semi—arched).84 The house types were both single and doutle storey,
and included the first appearance of the now famous semi~-circular water

85

closets, The systcm was registered under the name of Monol, the
plan types formed the basis of several later schemes and showed a
considerably increased understanding of the complex problem of combining
the plan form and structure.86

Jeanneret had known of asbestos—~cement sheet through a

Werkbund Conference he had attended in 1911, Soon after he visited

the Sté Suisse des Usines Eternit at Nideruren in the Canton of Glaris,

Sw:i.tzerlands'7 and thereafter had used Eternit asbestos-cement sheet
material on the garden doors of the Favre-Jacol house at Le Locle,
constructed in 1912 and his parents' house front door.88 He had very
likely also come across the existence of asbestos-cement and its
properties while working for the Perret brothers in 1908-1909, At this
time, following a high court case in England in 1907, the manufacturing
patents for asbestos~cement had been released for wider use by the

89

Austrians and Germans {'or general production. These two countries

had held sole rights for the production of asbestos-cement sheet ard
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tiles under what vere known as the Hatscek patents, which had
severely restricted the development and use of the material,

A great deal of information on the uses of asbestos-cement
sheet and tiles had been publiched in technical journals since 1908,
bubt it was not until the demands of a war-time construction situation
and associated shortages and temporary requirements, forced themselves
on the materials market that the potential of asbestos and cement

Unhis was

was to be realised to the full, 7 very similar to the expansion in the
use of the concrete block as a building ﬁaterial during the 191/-18
war.go

Asbeglos—-cement sheet proved to be an ideal cheap light
material for the rapid construction of army hospitals, barracks, stores
and factories, It lent itself to prefabrication and provided standards
of enclosure very near to those achieved by more permanent and tradiiional
materials and i1t had the additional advantage of being fire-~resistant,

On the 6th May 1919, Jeanneret in his position as consultant
to S.F.I.E. wrote a letter to the directors of S.E.I.E. (presumebly to
himgelf as the letter was sent from 29 bis rue d'Astorg to the same
address).91 The subject was the interest that a Belgian businessman,
M. Hobe,92 had shown in the asbestos pateants that Jeanncret had obtained
for his two projects., He informed Hobe of the conditions under which
manufacture could be urdertaken, this included a licence fee directly
payable to the Swiss Eternit company and any design work had to go
through the Jeanneret officej any supervision of construction work also
cape under Jeanneret's direction.93

M. Hobe would have appeared to be somewhat deterred by all
these conditions because he was very slow to reply, despite several
letters from Jeanneret informing him of the urgency of the need to reach
a decision before Jeanneret visited the factory in Switzerland in

August 1919.94 A1l to no avail, no contract, apart from a few fces
’ ’

in 1920 for the use by Hobe of some of the patents.95
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In September 1919, when Jeanneret came back from his first return
home to Switzerland since February 1917, there was very little time

left for the persistent following up of enquiries.”®

He was kep?
very busy negotiating the formation of a French Eternit Company,
on gimilar lines to the proposals he had made to Hobe.97 Jeanneret
had obviously hoped to enter into discussions with the Swiss firm on
the basis of starting two companies, one in Brussels, the other in Paris.
In these negotiations Jeanneret showed considerably business
acumen in promoting the basic asbestos~cement material, his own
patents and the rights to any associated design and construction work,
He ensured that the details of organisation were clear and that his
“interests were stated in the same meticulous mamner that he used for
98

his architectural contracts,

The French Company was to be known as Sté Francaise do

L'Everite, to market products basel on Jeanneret's patented
shuttering system for industrialised buildings and lionol, the pre~
fabricated house structure, Both made use of the Swiss Eterpit
manufacturing process for the asbestos-cement parts, Ordinary sheet

and tile products were also to be produced under patent from the Swiss

company.99

The company directors were Jeannere%, M, W, Bale and M. Keller,
two Swiss businessmen, based in Geneva, Keller travelled extensively,
he was principally concerned with organising the financial backing for

the new company.100

Jeanneret became increasingly worried over the
part Keller was playing,lo1 capital appeared to be very difficult fo
find, Keller's absence from important meetings led to Jeanneret taking
over the complete organisation in an attempt to improve on Keller's
efforts to raise the necessary finance,lo2 a subject with which Jeanneret
was by now very familiar, if not successful,.

In November 1919, Jeanneret approached the new director of

SeA.B.A., M, Cartier, to see if he would be interested in putting capital
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into the Everite scheme.lo3

Cartier was only interested in purchasing

shareg 1f his company could acquire sufficient numbers to give it the

controlling interest, If the deal did take place, Jeannerei was to

receive an introduction fée and further fees for the use of his patents.104
At the same time as these negotialions, alternative means of

financing were proposed by the other directors of Everite, Bale and

Keller, These had to be investigated and it took some time to find

out that all the new backers would require from Jeanneret was nothing

more than the work of a technician, This was unacceptable to him.105

Unfortunately, by the time Jeanneret had found out the relevant

information, Cartier was no longer in a position to carry through his

merger proposals.

Jeanneret continued to resist the alternative bid for ths
company,lo6 subsequently losing his initial enthusiasmj a holding
company was set up by the other directors to ensure that there was
107

some return on the investment already made.

During the next few months nothing further developed with
the French Everite concern until September 1920 when Jeanneret once
more took an interest, This time he had taken out patents for asbestog-

108 He had discussed his

cenment underground conduit, pipes and tubes,
proposals with M, de Pury, the chief engineer responsible for cable

communication in the Swiss Post and Telegraph Service%o9 De Pury

had expressed considerable interest in the conduit and had asked for
some samples for testing purposes.110 If they had been suitable the
saving in production and laying costs would have been consliderable due
to the light weight and cheapness of the baslc material compared with
the traditional but well proven cast iron product.

On the strength of de Pury's expressed interest, Jeanneret
asked the Swiss faclory to make up samples of conduit to his design and

he started to renegotiate the founding of the Everite company.111
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This time Jeanneret visited the office of M, Plain,

director of Cie de Matériaux Industriels, to put forward a case for

a factory to manufacture Eternit in France to exploit his conduit
patents.112 Jeanneret s;id that he could provide the liaison with
the Swiss firm, production information and the services of an experienced
factory manager, trained in the Everite process, To carry out the
proposals would have required an additional 2,000,000 francs added
to the exlsting companies capital of 1,500,000 francs. >
Unfortunately, tpe first sample pipes were not strong enough
for the test requirements, de Pury would not accept them and was not
interested in trying out any re-designed conduit.114 There is no
evidence that Jeanneret persisted any further with thesc projeccts apart
from the use he made, as Le Corbusier, of Eternit asbestos-cement
cladding panels on many of his buildings.l15
Part of Jeanneret's efforts to set uwp an ashestos~cement
factory in France included the necessity to find sources of raw material
for the supply of cement and asbestos fibre, In June 1921, Jeanneret
was involved in the investigation of a site for a cement factory in

the Dordogne as a source of one of the basic materials.116

A Berlin
firm ynder the direction of M, Greuber was interested in this enterprise.
Greuber had already asked S.E.I.E. to act as his firm's representative
in Paris, as the situation in France was still not sympathetic to direct

contact with German interests,il’

Greuber, however, did not consider
the scheme feasible any more than two other firms who had been invited
to look at the projec‘b.ll8
Once again a scheme had come to nothing and the factories
Jeanneret hoped to build as his part of the contract never reached
the design stage. The lack of success was certainly not due to a
shortage of ideas on his part or enthusiastlc effort, but as stoted eavslicv

Fuwas e St (3-A Senotn EConormna dRpressSIion and e Pistects boeve Po:s.bw)
too enterprising for the still very cautious French business world,

Following the war-time experience gained in industry, France had made
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large strides in improving her productivity in business and manufacturing
procegses but there were stlill many changes to be made.119 The
combination of architect, entrepreneur and industrialist must have

been an wnusual experience, package deals are a common occurrence today
but were not in 1920 France. The ideas for Jeanneret's projects had
their source in schemes by German idealists such as Karl Osthaus, who

120 These

did concern themselves with all the aspects of industry,
people Jeanneret had admired and they provided him with standards for
the work he undertook in the post-first world war period of his life.121
During 1919, Jeanneret corresponded with Tony Garnier (he had
fivet contacted him in 1907), writing at the time of the appearance in

122

Paris bookshops of La Cité Industrielle by Garnier, Jeanneret

complimented him on the ideas in the project and expressed regret that

123

they were offered to such an unappreciative public, In the same

letter, Jeanreret explains what he had been working at since he last
met Garnier in 1915, He wrote :

"Since my last trip to Lyon , I have had the

opportumity to weed out and clarify more and more

of my ideas, my feelings, and my work methods.

I wanage Ste d'Entreprises Industrielles et d'Etudes
because I reckon that an archatect should accept

both financial and technical responsibility for work
that he has originated, I have built a factory

using materials that I am developing and I have set

up a section in my company to make calculations for
reinforced concrete which will be of great usefulness
to contractors and in which I can bring more use for
reinforced concrete than is generally done by

Hewebique and others like him.

I have also set up a section Industries de 1'Alimentation
vhere thanks to the collaboration of one of the greatest
gpecialists in refrigeration in France we will study
the complete organisation of the provision trades by the
bullding of production factories, selling points and
warehousing using artificial refrigeration,

I am the promoter with my friend M, Reeh, who is an
engineer of a company with a capital of 5 million francs
which will carry out the commercial exploitation of
"buildings that we have designed and built", 124

Through the abattoir scheme, Je2nneret had become acquainted
with a new type of mono-rail system (for moving heavy goods) that was

manufactured in England., He had ordered one for the pjgckwork at
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Alfortville to reduce the labour needed to do the job as costs were

getting very tight,125

Later in the letter to Garnier, Jeanneret
explains the mono-rail system, and recommends its use in the abattoir
that Gernier was designing for Lyon.126 He offers to introduce Garnier
to the salesmen concernedy from the effort Jeanneret puts into effecting
this introduction, it appears that he would have been eligible for a
reagonable fee if a sale took place. In another letter on November 21st
1919, Jeanneret tried to interest Garnier in a new type of concrete
mixer.127 Both these sales efforts are part of another side of his
business career that involved the buying and selling of goods and
machinery of all sorts.

Jeanneret's blockwork factory, at Alfortville, had considerable
difficulty in meeting the tough govermment contract which made little
allowance for rising costs due to the depression. Though the factory
was kept in production during 1919 it did not prove economical to
continue any longer. It was brought to a halt, to be eventually
liquidated in 1922,1%8 |

Du Bols considered that Jeanneret spread s interests too
wldely during this period and did not pay sufficient attention to getting
his projects established, most of which he thought should have had
a good chance of surviving the depression and becoming successful.129

Agbestos—cement factories and industrialised buillding systems
were certainly not Jeanneret's only business interests during this post~
war period. In May 1919 he wrote another advisory letter to the board
of S¢FoI.Es, This time he advised that S.E.I,E, should undertake a study
of the use of tractors for ordinary agricultural use together with that

of wine growing.lBo

The objective was a possible deal in American
tractors and the eventual construction of a factory for their manufacture
in France. This idea was shortly to be followed by another letter
suggesting that a study should be made of a watering place at 'Source

le Boulon' near Perpignan with a view to the development prospects.131
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According to Jeanneret, in his role of consultant to his firm, for
which he charged fees, the site was an ideal place for a new hotel
and casino, together with the possibility of setting up a mineral
water bottling plant, Hé wag in contact with the owner of the land,
necessary for such a scheme, bul apparertly with no capital, Neither
scheme was acted upon,

In April 1919, Dan Niestlé asked Jeanneret to try to obtain
a particular type of paper, known as ‘Jésus}fzfor hin, The paper
had to contain a watermark of a certain pattern to meet a client's
requirements, Jeanneret went into the matter with considerable care
and found it was a difficult order to meet, but with the help of a
aealer, Pilatey, it would not be impossible, In his reply to Niestlé,133
Jeanneret made it very clear that beforc he would undertake such an
order, the money for paymeant must already be in a bank account agreed
to by both of them, Not even friends were to be trusted in business.
M. Pilate, as well as being able to supply Jearnerel with 'J€sus'
paper also had supplies of wine bottles and typewriters available for
sale.>134 objects that Jeanneret had apparently dealt with before,
When thanking Pilate for his information, Jeanneret takes the opportunity
to inform him of a new branch that S.E.I.E. was hoping to add to its
organisation, This time it is a service to deal in foodstuffs, the

name of the company -Ravitajllement Frigorifique , in collaboration

with the Dreyfus Group.135 Jeanneret and Reeh, the engineer who had
agsisted with the research for the scheme, were to have been paid with
shares in the new company together with a M, Lapton and M, Bornand vho

136 It would have

had effected the introduction of the Dreyfus group.
appeared that the effort put into the abattoir scheme was at last showing
some return,

In June 1919, Jeanneret offered a right he had to purchase

shares in St de Grands Travaux de Marseille to Sigmund Mza.rcel.137
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Whether this offer was taken up is not yet known but it is the first

mention of Marcel in Jeanneret's affairs, a man who was to bccome an
138

important financial backer for L'Esprit Nouveau,
- During the surmer of 1919, Jeanneret was also concerned with
the disposal of his 250 founder's shares in S.A.B.A. These were to be
purchased by the new management of S.A.B.A,, payment was due at the end
of June, On the streugth of their sale value, Jeanneret used the shares

ag security on a 5,000 franc loan from the Industrial Bank of Chigg,139

the money to purchase C.I,F. from S.A.B.A. to form the foundation for

the latest company'RaviI;‘aillement Frigorifique.IAO A{ that time

the Bank of China was a reasonably stable financial institution by

comparison with the European banks, China was still on the silver

standard, which meant it was not affected too seriously by the European

financial situation.141 )
In Uctober of 1918, Jeanneret had received a brief postcard

from Jean~Pierre Montm-1llin, in an army Camp at La Batie Rolland,

near Montelimar, He writes :

"I no longer know anything. I no longer see

anything. I am no longer attentive to anything

but the front, I have already partly forgotten

what you do in Paris, it is very complicated this

brick merchant and this artist®. 1.2
Montmollin was another of Jeanneret's friends from Du Bois's Swiss group,
who found his numerous activities confusing and difficult to keep account
of.lz"3 When Montmollin left the army he joined a Paris branch of

Credit Commercial and acted as Jeanneret's banker and financial advisor,

a service he carried out until the end of Le Corbusier's life,
During 1920 and 1921, Jeanneret undertook a mumber of business
deals that involved a great deal of financial work, nearly all of which

went through Montmollin at the Credit Commercial}44 Another part of

Montmollin's work, was the banking and sharcholding side of the L'Esprit

Nouveau organisation, together with the frequent need to raise loans

and financial su.pport.l45



The major part of Jeanneret's business deals from this period
involved the buying and selling of war surplus material, in particular
steel reinforcement bars and steel shegt.l46 The amounts were con-~
sideéable, transportation the chief problem.l‘["7 In an attempt to
solve the shortage, S.E.I.E. was instructed to carry out an investigation
into building and equipping barges for the work, Both steel and re-
inforced concrete hulls were cons:ldered.u"8

To obtain permission from the govermmeat to carry out deals
in wa surplus goods, Jeanneret had to sign certificates agreeing to
a 1imit on the profit that he could make on the resale of the stock,
approximately 25 percent of the purchase price.l49

Jeanneret purchased his stocks through an sgent in Bordeaux,

M. Russier of Sté Lyonnaise de Navigationajo Apart from the steel,

there was a wide assortment of goods passing through their hands,

1
(Russier was also to become a financial backer for LfEsprit Nouveau).l5

The steel reinforcement went to a varlety of concerns including
that of M, Cartier, director of S.A.B.A.152 Jeanneret certainly
made a substantial sum of money from these negotiations which went

tovards financing L'IEsprit Nouveau.l53

The only evidence so far that exists for any further business
enterprises outside of publishing and building development, is two

advertisements in L!'Esprit Nouveau for La Société Géndrale de Cartage

d'Assurance a form of insurance company with headquarters that were

based in Jeanneret's office in the rue d'Astorg, telegraphic address

154

BIENASSUR~PARIS rather than JEANNARCH-PARIS. In this case,

Jeanneret was more likely to have been acting as the agent for a large
firn,

NS Jeamneret!s activities in the financial management of L'Esprit
ey supeveeded WR Othey bus V\Lr&a% ,

Nouveau and speculative housing association projeétsihcreased,Y Botp™

of these concerns made use of the experience he had gained in the

earlier companuys
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No doubt, if Jeanneret had persisted through the difficult
post-war years, some of the business ventures would have been developed
and his appetite for success may have been satisfied by organising and

building large-scale industrial projects.
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b. Publishing: Managcment, sales subscribers and advertisers

Management

The contemporary manifestos and theories of the post-war
period had a strong similarity{ there were many small groups of
artists and writers discussing similar problems. Most cnly survived
Just long enough to allos for the crystalisation of a new attitude
before the members went on their own paths or joined new movements.l
Purism was to survive this initial period and to develop more as a
theoretical way of life rather than a school of painting, It did this
because the instigators, Jeanmmeret and Ozenfant, believed ir the need
to publicise their discoveries in a mamner that would clearly demonstrate
their theory in application, not only in art, but all other spheres of
human life, particularly industry and science.2 Their reasons for
this were probably different: Ozenfant was following a natural interest and
recognised activity for a painter but it would appear from this study that,
Jeanneret was fulfilling a destiny in life, one where it was a necessity to
communicate new ideas and discoveries. He was well familiar with the
importance of publicity and showed extraordinary persistence and tenacity in

keeping their journal, L!'Tsprit Nouvezu, in publication for five years,

In 1919 Jeanneret had turned down an offer from 'Maison Payot!,
Paris, to publish his proposed book on Town Planning and another on
Industrial Art.3 Jeanneret did not consider the time was right for that
type of book, but it was more likely that the scripts, written some years
earlier, were not attuned to his new attitude and he would have to do a great
deal more work before he could express his ideas satisfactorily,

The original intention of Ozenfant and Jeamneret had been that their

book Aprés Le Cubisme should be the first edition of a series to be entitled

"Commeniajres" and thai the Galerie Thomas should produce a series

of exhibitions with a bulletin describing each one,4 but they made no

immediate follow up and corcentrated on painting for the first



part of the year, However, the urge to produce a regular jJournal was
/
strong in both of them, though neither felt they had the time or

sufficient knowledge to manage a magazine on the scale on which they
5

wanted to produce, A member of Perret's committee for Art et Libertg,

Fernand Divoire, a literary journalist, told them of Paul Dermée, a poet,
who was proposing to start a journal for the rising generation entitled

Montante, La Revue des Deux Mondes.6 Divoire thought they might

profitably combine, as Dermée had considerable experience in financing

and managing Journals of the type they wanted to produce and, at their

7 Dermée was agreeable to

request, approached him with the suggestion.
the idea, and Jeanneret arranged a meeting for some time at the end of
December.8

Ozenfant and Jeanneret had decided to call their new review

L'Esprit Nouveau, a name inspired by an essay of A pollinairés published

in Mercure de France on December 1lst, 1918, entitled {Esprit Nouvesu ' et

les pd%tes.g

earlier and in the introduction to the programme for 'Parade',

He had also used the phrase in a lecture twenty-two months
10 It was
to become a post-war phrase, and was an excellent chLoice of name for
their journal, symbolising the intentions of its two enthusiastic founders.
In December 1919, Ozenfant travelled to Geneva, Berne, Zurich,
Basle, La Chaux-de-Fonds and Strasbourg in the search for financial
backers for the project and for a sultable printer, as they had been
turned down by the well-established Paris Fine Art publishing house of
Crés, and thought they would have better luck elsewhere.ll Everything
was still in very short supply in Paris, so that even finding good
quality printing paper proved to be difficult.l2
Jeanneret started on the task of raising the necessary capital
from Paris, Montmollin, his Swiss banking friend, had advised that
they should have at least 100,000 francs to start with and be prepared
to lose that amount to ensure the firm establishrent of the review over

Haeevev, | fopvove
the first year. iraising this figure wasia considerable task,1> Ozenfant
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had Lad very little capital since the death of his father and could only
afford 6,000 francs in shares. Jeanneret had amassed 14,000 francs,
from his business deals and loans, sufficient to become the second major
sharéholder, with Dan Niestlé holding 15,000 francs, then the_Swiss businessman
Sigmund Marcel with 10,000 francs, and 5,000 francs each came from
four more members of the Swiss community, Raoul La Roche, Hughes Jequier,
Ernest Spieser and Ernest Gutzweiller, Within one week Jeanneret had
collected 75,000 francs of shares, the rest was amassed over a much longer
period with help from Montmollin coming from 1,000 franc holders drawn
principally, iike the major contributors from Jeanneret's business world.
Paul Dermée had 1,000 francs invested, 12,000 francs had been donated
and there were a few other artists and writers willing to rick their
money.14 A new review in the best of times is never a strong financial
investment. These people were to be commended for their faith in such
a venture, particulerly in such a money-scare post-war period,

As soon as a company had been formed for the production of

L'Esprit Nouveau and associated publications, one quarter of the share--

holders! money could be called in and the remaining quarters when needed,
over the first year of production.l5 At this time, Ozenfant, Dermée
and Jeanneret hoped to issue the first edition in March 1920, but because of
the difficulty in raising the last 25,000 francs of shares this was
deferred wntil October. O

Dermée had been given the responsibility of preparing the
contents of the first edition for publication in April and, for that
purpose, Jeamneret arranged a publication meeting for all of them in

17

January, Though they had not known Paul Dermée before Divoire'!s

introduction, they both must have felt he was somevhat in sympathy with
their ideas as he had already published an article on their painter
friend, Fernand Léger,18 despite his close association with the Dada

artists,’? It was to develop over the year that Moy had wmode an
mconedd  assumptum '
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but in their enthusiasm to start, nelther of them took enough time to
really get to know their new associate, )

During January and February, the three held several meetings
and decided to draw up a secret agreement between themselves which
included some items that were not normally included in company statements.zo
It also provided a partnership agreement until the Limited Company was
formed, In this document, Dermée was put in charge of the production
and editing with an annual allowance of 7,000 francs, paid in monthly
sums, to allow him sufficient time for this task, It was also his
responsibility to represent the magazine and advise on literary matters,
with Jeanneret and Ozenfant on the artistic side.21

One other very important clause, No. 5, covered the individuals!
freedom to take part in vhatever aesthetic activities they wished, the
only restraint being an undertaking not to found or encourage any similar
rival enterprise, Thls document was signed on February 25th 1920,
They all had an equal right in the management and agreed to stand together
in any future company meetings, even to arranging pre-meeting meetings
to ensure that what they intended would take place, At the same time,
they drew up a contract document for Paul Dermée, which quite clearly put
Dermée in the position of Director for a period of ten years, The agree-
ment set out the format of the Limited Liability Company that would be
formed to run an art review and associated productions. The principal
administration was to be by a council consisting of five members, Dermée,
Ozenfant, Jeanneret and two others from the prancipal shareholders, The
council would be responsible for administration, sales and the intellectual '
and moral standards, Dermée would be in charge of production. His
office, for the time being, was to be at No., 40, rue de Seine and No, 13
Quai de Conti, his own office., All of this was to come into full force

when the new company [Editions L'Esprit Nouveau, came into being22 and

was to prove to be a very serious mistake, (The original date in March

for publishing was eventually deferred to October 1920).
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Possibly the earliest sign of any problem was Dermée's proposal

that one of the first books to be published should be an edition of

23 24

poems by Dada writer, C€line Arnould,”” who was living with Dermée,

It was agreed that L'Esprit Nouveau Publications would undertake this

project and Jeammeret was designated to find a backer but was somevhat
slov in setting about his task, to Dermée's polite disapproval.25
This would appear to be the best thal their relationship would ever
achieve, The summer was taken up with the search for capital and
meetings, Jeanneret was kept busy carrying out Dermée's instructions
and answering his queries on the advertising sales which were proving
very difficult, He was also responsible for the organisation of the
registered office at No. 95 rue de Seine which gave rise io another stream
of instructions from Dernéé.26
Jeanneret, at this time, was also very busy in his business life
trying to organise sufficient finance for his share in the company, to
repay long-standing debts and keeping the Alfortvillc blockworks in
business, a task not helped by the protracted dispute of the fees for
the La Chaux-de-~-Fonds projects.

Initially L'Fsprit Nouveau was to cost 5 francs a copy and

55 francs for a year's subscription for twelve copies. This was later
increased to 6 francs and 70 francs for a subscription.27 By July,

they were advertising the journal and chasing subscriptions as well as
shareholders., Full page advertisements were planned for submission to
NeweRevue, N.R. Francais, Mercure, Monsieur, Revuec de Paris, Bibliosraphie

de France and a half page for Feuillets d'art, Burlington Magazine, etc.28

These plans were later trimmed to meet the financial restrictions set by
their lack of ready capital,

At the end of June, Ozenfant sent Dermée a formal letter gently
rebuking him for taking decisions regarding the title typography without
consultation with his partners and recommending him to leave those problems

with Ozenfant, whose responsibility it was. Dermée should have been
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getting on with his own work which was only progressing very slowly
vhichmeanl that, because of the approaching holidays, they would not be
able to issue the first copy until October,?

Towards the end of July, Jeanneret sent Montmollin the draft
for the company articles and an invitation to become a director. It
had been revised on the basis of Montmollin's observations, but before
the company could be formed, 25,000 francs was still required to meet
the capital figure 0f100,000 francs.Bo Jeanneret had had great problems
in raising this last figure, He asked for the bankers help in achieving
it as he was under considerable financial pressure at that time and very
tired of the situation, The capital had to be complete before it was
bossible to claim the second quarter of the agreed four parts of the
investors! share money and this was urgently required for printing the

first edition in October.31

Somehow Montmollin and other supporters
obtained the necessary funds and the company was officially formed in
time, but this was to be a forerunner of the financiil problems that
were to dog the life of the Revue and occupy a great deal of the adminis-
trators? time,

In August the differences between Dermée and the other two
came to a head, Dermée had, throughout the year, been taking an
increasing part in Dada activities. The movement had become well
established during the past year in Paris under Tristan Tzara and Anaré
Breton, Several publications had been produced to which Dermée
contributed, and he even produced one edition of a Dada journal of his
called 'Z' in March 1920,32 which had come to a halt after complaints
from the two purists. It would also appear that he offered a similar
service to some Dada writers to that offered to the two purists, as
his name appears as manager or director on several small Dada reviews

produced in 1920.33

The final straw was the publication, in July,
of Producteur which was another Dermée~inspired journal and not at all
in sympathy with Purist principles.34 This followed a large Dada

happening held on May 26th, at the Salle Gaveau, where the angry sudience
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Joined in the sketches, hurling missiles at the participants in the
form of tomatoes, eggs and meat, Dermée, as a presenter, was one

35

of the recipients of such appreciation. This affair and Dada

activities in general had aroused considerable indignation amongst the

36 Such laughter

Paris middle classes, thereby achieving its intention.

at the expense of any form of recognised standards, did indeed provoke

strong reactions, Not least were those of Jeanneret and Ozenfant, who

were not at all in agreement with the lengths that the Dada followers

took to assault preconceived standards while offering nothing in their

place, They wanted a revolution, but felt they knew what should take

the place of the old ways which they considered disordered, Purism,